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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 (this "Report") contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning
of the securities laws. You should not place undue reliance on these statements. Forward-looking statements include information concerning our liquidity and
our possible or assumed future results of operations, including descriptions of our business strategies. These statements often include words such as "believe,"
"expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "estimate," "seek," "will," "may," or similar expressions. These statements are based on certain assumptions that we
have made in light of our experience in the industry as well as our perceptions of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other
factors we believe are appropriate in these circumstances. As you read and consider this Report, you should understand that these statements are not
guarantees of performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could affect our actual financial results and could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Some important factors include:
•

consumer perception of our products due to adverse scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, national media attention
and other publicity regarding nutritional supplements;

•

potential slow or negative growth in the vitamin, mineral and supplement market;

•

the loss of significant customers;

•

compliance with new and existing federal, state, local or foreign legislation or regulation, or adverse determinations by regulators anywhere in
the world (including the banning of products) and, in particular, Good Manufacturing Practices ("GMPs") in the United States, the Food
Supplements Directive and Traditional Herbal Medicinal Products Directive (the "Herbal Products Directive") in Europe and greater enforcement
by federal, state, local or foreign governmental entities;

•

increases in the cost of borrowings or unavailability of additional debt or equity capital, or both;

•

prolonged economic downturn or recession;

•

instability in financial markets;

•

dependency on retail stores for sales;

•

material product liability claims and product recalls;

•

our inability to obtain or renew insurance, or to manage insurance costs;

•

international market exposure;

•

failure to comply with anti-corruption laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we do business;

•

legal proceedings initiated by regulators in the United States or abroad;

•

unavailability of, or our inability to consummate, advantageous acquisitions in the future, or our inability to integrate acquisitions into the
mainstream of our business;

•

difficulty entering new international markets;

•

loss of executive officers or other key personnel;

•

the availability and pricing of raw materials;
ii
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•

disruptions in manufacturing operations that produce nutritional supplements and loss of manufacturing certifications;

•

increased competition and failure to compete effectively;

•

our inability to respond to changing consumer preferences;

•

interruption of business or negative impact on sales and earnings due to acts of God, acts of war, sabotage, terrorism, bio-terrorism, civil unrest
or disruption of delivery service;

•

work stoppages at our facilities;

•

increased raw material, utility or fuel costs;

•

fluctuations in foreign currencies, including the British pound, the euro, the Canadian dollar and the Chinese yuan;

•

interruptions in information processing systems and management information technology, including system interruptions and security breaches;

•

our inability to protect our intellectual property rights;

•

our exposure to, and the expense of defending and resolving, product liability claims, intellectual property claims and other litigation;

•

adverse tax determinations;

•

other factors disclosed in this Report; and

•

other factors beyond our control.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking statements contained in this Report might not prove accurate. You should not
place undue reliance upon them. All forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by
the foregoing cautionary statements. All such statements speak only as of the date of this Report, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly
any forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new information, future events or for any other reason otherwise.

INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
In this Report, we rely on and refer to information and statistics regarding our industry, products or market share. We obtained some of this information
and statistics from third-party sources, such as independent industry publications, government publications or reports by market research firms. Additionally,
we have supplemented third-party information where necessary with management estimates, based on our review of internal surveys, information from our
customers and suppliers, trade and business organizations and other contacts in the markets in which we operate, and our management's knowledge and
experience. However, these estimates are subject to change and are uncertain due to limits on the availability and reliability of primary sources of information
and the voluntary nature of the data gathering process. Although we believe that these independent sources and our management's estimates are reliable as of
the date of this Report, we have not verified this information independently, and we cannot assure you of its accuracy or completeness. As a result, you should
be aware that market share and industry data included in this Report, and estimates and beliefs based on that data, may not be reliable. We make no
representation as to the accuracy or completeness of the information.
iii
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OTHER DATA
Numerical figures included in this Report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, numerical figures shown as totals in various tables
may not be arithmetic aggregations of the figures that precede them.
References in this Report to our fiscal year refer to the fiscal year ended September 30 in the specified year. For example, references to "fiscal 2011"
refer to our fiscal year ended September 30, 2011.
iv
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

The following description of our business should be read in conjunction with the information included elsewhere in this Report. This description contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking
statements due to the factors set forth in "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Report. References in this Report to "we," "our," "us," or the "Company," refer
to NBTY, Inc. together with its subsidiaries.
Our Company
We are the leading vertically integrated manufacturer, marketer, distributor and retailer of high-quality vitamins, nutritional supplements and related
products in the United States, with operations worldwide. Our products are marketed through four operating segments: Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition, European
Retail, Direct Response/E-Commerce and North American Retail. We currently sell over 25,000 individual stock keeping units ("SKUs") under a portfolio of
well-known brands, with leading category positions across their respective categories, channels and geographies. With our broad range of products, we are
able to offer our wholesale customers a "one-stop" source for a wide assortment of both branded and private label products across the value spectrum.
Additionally, we have a significant presence in virtually every major vitamins, minerals, herbs and supplements ("VMHS") product category and in multiple
key distribution channels. We utilize our direct-to-consumer channels to identify new consumer trends and leverage our flexible manufacturing capabilities
and strong supplier relationships to bring new products to market quickly. Through our world-class manufacturing operations and significant economies of
scale, we believe we are a low-cost manufacturer that offers attractively priced products to retailers and consumers. In addition, we enjoy long-standing
relationships with several domestic retailers, including Wal-Mart, Costco, CVS, Sam's Club, Walgreens, Kroger and Target. We believe our diversified
product, channel and geographic revenue mix, strong key customer relationships and steady demand for VMHS products provide for a diversified, stable and
profitable business with strong cash flows.
NBTY, Inc. was incorporated in New York in 1971 under the name Nature's Bounty, Inc. We changed our state of incorporation to Delaware in 1979 by
merger. In 1995, we changed our name to NBTY, Inc. NBTY's principal executive offices are located at 2100 Smithtown Avenue, Ronkonkoma, New York
11779, our telephone number is (631) 567-9500, and our website is www.nbty.com.
Carlyle Transaction
On October 1, 2010, NBTY consummated a merger (the "Merger") with an affiliate of T.C. Group L.L.C. ("Carlyle"), under which the Carlyle affiliate
acquired 100% of NBTY's equity. As a result of the Merger, our common stock, which previously traded under the symbol "NTY," is no longer listed for
trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). Carlyle financed the Merger with equity financing provided by an investment fund affiliated with
Carlyle, the sale of our 9% senior notes due 2018 (our "notes"), cash on hand at NBTY and senior secured credit facilities initially consisting of (1) senior
secured term loan facilities of $1.75 billion and (2) a senior secured revolving credit facility with commitments of $250 million (our "senior secured credit
facilities") under a credit agreement with Barclays Bank PLC as administrative agent (the "Credit Agreement"). We refinanced our senior secured credit
facilities, term loans and revolving credit facility in March 2011 (the "Refinancing").
See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for additional information.
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Operating Segments
We market our products through a global multi-channel distribution platform, supported by our world-class manufacturing operations and supply chain.
Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition. We are the leading wholesale manufacturer of branded and private label VMHS products in the United States. We sell our
products in virtually all major mass merchandisers, club stores, drug store chains and supermarkets. We also sell our products to independent pharmacies,
health food stores, the military and other retailers. Our key brands include Nature's Bounty®, Osteo Bi-Flex®, Pure Protein®, Body Fortress®, Sundown®,
MET-Rx®, Ester-C® and Flex-A-Min®. We sell directly to health and natural food stores under the Solgar®, SISU® and Good 'N Natural® brands, to health
food wholesalers under our American Health® brand and to healthcare practitioners through our Physiologics® brand. We also have licensing relationships
with Disney Consumer Products, Inc. and Marvel Characters, B.V. to manufacture VMHS products for children using their character images and licensed art
work. In addition to our strong brand positions, we are a leading private label manufacturer in the industry and supply the majority of private label VMHS
products to several of the largest U.S. retailers. Fiscal 2011 branded sales accounted for approximately 60% and private label sales accounted for
approximately 40% of our wholesale sales.
European Retail. We have significant retail operations throughout Europe. We are the leading VMHS specialty retailer in the United Kingdom. As of
September 30, 2011, this segment generated revenue through the retail operations of 660 Holland & Barrett stores (including seven franchised stores in
Singapore, six franchised stores in Cyprus, two franchised stores in Malta and one franchised store in each of South Africa, Hungary and United Arab
Emirates), 217 Julian Graves stores, 49 GNC (UK) stores, 41 Nature's Way stores in Ireland and 101 De Tuinen stores in the Netherlands, including
10 franchised locations. Holland & Barrett, the leading player in the United Kingdom VMHS specialty retail business, sells VMHS products and food
products, such as fruits and nuts, through a broad range of approximately 3,900 SKUs. Our GNC (UK) stores specialize in vitamins, minerals and sports
nutrition products, marketing approximately 1,900 SKUs targeted at the more health-conscious sports enthusiasts and price-sensitive customers, and are a
strong complement to the Holland & Barrett stores. We believe the breadth of our product offering, the superior customer service provided in our stores and
the deep category and product knowledge of our well trained sales associates are key differentiators relative to our competitors. As of September 30, 2011, we
had converted 93 Julian Graves stores to the more productive Holland & Barrett, Nature's Way and GNC(UK) banners.
Direct Response/E-Commerce. Through our internet and mail-order catalogs, we are a leader in the U.S. direct response VMHS industry, offering a
full line of VMHS products and selected personal care items under our Puritan's Pride® brand and other brand names, at prices that are generally at a discount
to similar products sold in retail stores. We also offer products focusing on other brands through websites associated with our retail operations, such as
www.vitaminworld.com, www.hollandandbarrett.com, www.detuinen.nl, www.juliangraves.com and www.gnc.co.uk. Our Puritan's Pride website,
www.puritan.com, has generated an average of one million visits per month since January 2010. As of September 30, 2011, Puritan's Pride operated across
four active websites in three languages. Puritan's Pride is strategically advantaged relative to its competitors, offering high-quality products at low directfrom-manufacturer prices, as well as multi-buy promotions, creating a seamless shopping experience for customers. Our highly automated, state-of-the-art
equipment enables us to process orders quickly, economically and efficiently, with orders typically filled within 24 hours of receipt. Internet sales accounted
for approximately 61% of our total fiscal 2011 Direct Response/E-Commerce sales.
North American Retail. As of September 30, 2011, we operated 443 Vitamin World retail stores throughout the United States, primarily in regional
and outlet malls, and 80 LeNaturiste retail stores throughout Canada. Each store carries a full line of store brand products, as well as products
2
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manufactured by third parties. Vitamin World stores serve as an effective channel to identify early consumer and market trends, as well as to test new product
introductions and ascertain product acceptance. We are able to provide insight into the marketplace to our domestic wholesale customers and can leverage our
vertically integrated model to bring new products to the market quickly. We believe the direct-to-consumer channels also serve a key role in educating
consumers on the VMHS category, including new products and the latest clinical studies and research.
Operating Segment and Geographic Financial Information
For a presentation of financial information for each of our operating segments, including financial information relating to the geographic areas in which
we conduct our business, see Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations," and
Note 23 to the fiscal 2011 Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report.
Our Industry
The VMHS industry is comprised of several distinct product sub-categories:
•

Vitamins. This sub-category includes single and multi-vitamin supplements. Products in the vitamin category include: vitamin C, vitamin E, B
vitamins, vitamin A/beta carotene, niacin, folic acid, and multi-vitamin formulae.

•

Minerals. This sub-category includes single and multi-mineral supplements. Products in the mineral category include: calcium, magnesium,
chromium, zinc, selenium, potassium, iron, manganese, other single minerals and multi-mineral formulae.

•

Herbs & Botanicals. Single herb or multi-herb supplements made primarily from plants or plant components. Products in this category include:
echinacea, garlic, ginseng, and ginkgo biloba.

•

Specialty Supplements. This sub-category includes supplements falling outside other sub-categories, such as glucosamine, melatonin, probiotics,
docasahexanenoic acid (DHA), fish oils and shark cartilage, Co-enzyme Q10 (Co-Q10), amino acids and homeopathic remedies.

•

Sports Nutrition. Sports Nutrition products include tablets, powders, nutrition bars and drinks formulated to enhance physical activity, and
include creatine, amino acids and protein formulae, among others.

•

Meal Replacements. This sub-category includes powders, nutrition bars and liquid nutritional formulae.

Our Strategy
We continuously evaluate strategies to drive revenues and cash flows at each of our operating segments by building on our leading market positions and
strong customer relationships.
Increase Sales from Existing and New Customers
We expect to continue to drive organic growth through incremental shelf space with existing customers, new customer additions and the continued strong
momentum of our branded products. Our ability to supply both branded and private label products across all price points allows retailers to source a majority
of their VMHS products from one supplier, while our private label leadership provides us a foothold to drive increased sales of our branded products.
3
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New Product Introductions
We have been among the first in the industry to introduce innovative products in response to new research and clinical studies, media attention and
consumer preferences. Given our presence in multiple distribution channels, we are well-positioned to identify trends and demand for new products, and we
have the manufacturing scale, expertise and supplier relationships to respond rapidly and bring new products to market. During fiscal 2011, we introduced
over 130 new products.
Further Penetrate International Markets
Our products are currently marketed and sold in approximately 80 countries. However, only $1.1 billion (or 36%) of our sales in fiscal 2011 were sold to
customers outside the United States, of which $672 million was to customers located in the United Kingdom. We plan to capitalize on our world-class
manufacturing and distribution capabilities to drive incremental international sales, particularly in emerging markets such as those in Asia, Central and South
America and Turkey, which are characterized by a rising middle-class, high rates of nutritional deficiencies and a strong demand for high-quality VMHS
products from U.S. based manufacturers. In addition, we plan to concentrate on Western European markets, where there is a demand for VMHS products, by
leveraging our current distribution structure.
Drive Growth and Profitability in Retail Operations
We continue to focus on positioning our retail operations for growth and profitability through various strategies, including a pricing strategy that focuses
on value, optimization of our store base, expansion of our customer loyalty programs, a new store format and focusing on development of our associates. We
continue to strengthen our position as a customer-centric specialty retailer through our associate development initiatives which provide associates at all levels
with resources to enhance customer service and sales skills, to improve product knowledge and to provide a clear path for career growth. Vitamin World store
performance has demonstrated the favorable impact of these initiatives.
We also have implemented several successful initiatives in our European Retail operations. We are focused on maximizing multi-channel business and
driving increased customer traffic by modifying our promotional pricing strategy, increasing our focus on associate training, and developing loyalty and
customer relationship management programs.
Free Cash Flow Generation
We expect our strong and stable cash flows to be driven by continued strong top-line growth and targeted initiatives for ongoing improvement in our
manufacturing and supply chain operations, as well as low maintenance capital expenditures and modest improvements in working capital efficiency.
Enhance Manufacturing Efficiencies
We intend to focus on maximizing free cash flow available for debt reduction. We expect to continue to focus on reducing costs and improving
efficiency in our manufacturing operations and driving supply chain strategies to maintain our leadership in low-cost manufacturing. In May 2010, we
purchased a softgel plant in the People's Republic of China ("China" or "PRC"), which added 1.2 billion softgels to our annual production capacity, to address
international growth opportunities and strengthen our low-cost manufacturing position. Through changes made to this facility, we increased its capacity by
90%.
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Disciplined Acquisition Strategy
Since 1986, we have acquired and successfully integrated more than 30 companies, expanding our brands, geographic presence, distribution channels and
product offerings. In the fragmented, global VMHS industry, there remains a robust pool of acquisition opportunities across channels and geographies. We
expect to opportunistically capitalize on our strong track record of integrating acquisitions and realizing synergies to address complementary business
opportunities.
Employees
As of September 30, 2011, we employed approximately 14,400 persons. In addition, we sell products through commissioned sales representative
organizations. CAW Local 468, Retail Wholesale Canada Division, represents approximately 260 of our associates in Canada under an agreement that expires
in October 2012. We believe we have strong employee and labor relations domestically and internationally and historically have not experienced work
stoppages that materially adversely affected our operations.
Advertising
For fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, we spent approximately $153 million, $138 million and $110 million, respectively, on advertising, promotions and
catalogs, including print, media and cooperative advertising. Our in-house advertising staff creates our advertising materials, which include print, radio,
television and internet advertising. In the United Kingdom and Ireland, Holland & Barrett advertises on television. Holland & Barrett, Julian Graves, GNC
(UK) and Nature's Way advertise in national newspapers and conduct sales promotions. De Tuinen advertises on television and in newspapers and conducts
sales promotions in the Netherlands. In addition, Holland & Barrett, GNC (UK), Julian Graves and De Tuinen each publishes its own magazine with articles
and promotional materials. Solgar and GNC (UK) advertise in trade journals and magazines, operate web sites and conduct sales promotions. In Canada,
SISU advertises in trade journals and magazines and Le Naturiste advertises in magazines, newspapers and direct mail. Vita Health advertises in newspapers,
trade publications and magazines and operates web sites.
Manufacturing, Distribution and Quality Control
At September 30, 2011, we employed approximately 4,700 manufacturing, shipping and packaging associates. We manufacture domestically in Arizona,
California, Florida, New Jersey, New York and North Carolina. In addition, at September 30, 2011, we manufactured internationally in Winnipeg, Manitoba,
Canada, Burton, United Kingdom, and Zhongshan, China. We have technologically advanced, state-of-the-art manufacturing and production facilities, with
total production capacity of approximately 71 billion tablets, capsules and softgels per year.
All our domestic manufacturing operations are subject to GMPs, promulgated by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), and other applicable
regulatory standards. We believe our U.S. manufacturing processes comply with the GMPs for dietary supplements or foods, and our manufacturing and
distribution facilities generally have sufficient capacity to meet our current business requirements and our currently anticipated sales. We place special
emphasis on quality control. We assign lot numbers to all raw materials and, except in rare cases, initially hold them in quarantine while our Quality
Department evaluates them for compliance with established specifications. Once released, we retain samples and process the material according to approved
formulae by blending, mixing and technically processing as necessary. We manufacture products in final delivery form as a capsule, tablet, powder, softgel,
nutrition bar or liquid. After a product is manufactured, our laboratory analysts test its weight, purity, potency, disintegration and dissolution, if applicable.
Except in rare instances, we hold the product in quarantine until we complete the quality evaluation and determine that the product
5
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meets all applicable specifications before packaging. In those instances when we release a product concurrently with testing, we implement a conditional
release process to ensure the product is not distributed before we complete testing. When the manufactured product meets all specifications, our automated
packaging equipment packages the product with at least one tamper-evident safety seal and affixes a label, an indelible lot number and, in most cases, the
expiration or "best by" date. We use sophisticated computer-generated documentation for picking and packing for order fulfillment.
We are subject to regulations and standards of a similar nature in Canada, China and the United Kingdom with respect to our manufacturing activities in
those countries. We maintain mandatory Health Canada GMP Natural Health Products Licenses.
In the United States and Canada, we have received recognition from many prestigious private organizations, including U.S. Pharmacopeia GMP
Certification (as part of their Dietary Supplement Verification Program). Additionally, we have been recognized in the United Kingdom with MHRA
Importation License and Wholesale Dealers License, as well as the SAI Global Food Safety, Quality & Hygiene Certification.
Our manufacturing operations are designed to allow low-cost production of a wide variety of products of different quantities, physical sizes and
packaging formats, while maintaining a high level of customer service and quality. Flexible production line changeover capabilities and reduced cycle times
allow us to respond quickly to changes in manufacturing schedules and customer demands.
We have inventory control systems at our facilities that track each manufacturing and packaging component as we receive it from our supply sources
through manufacturing and shipment of each product to customers. To facilitate this tracking, most products we sell are bar coded. Our inventory control
systems report shipping, sales and, in most cases, individual SKU level inventory information. We manage the retail sales process by monitoring customer
sales and inventory levels by product category. We believe our distribution capabilities increase our flexibility in responding to our customers' delivery
requirements. Our purchasing and merchandising staff regularly reviews and analyzes information from our U.S. point-of-sale computer system and makes
merchandise allocation and markdown decisions based on this information. We use an automated reorder system in the United States to maintain in-stock
positions on key items. These systems give us the information we need to determine the proper timing and quantity of reorders.
Our financial reporting systems provide us with detailed financial reporting to support our operating decisions and cost control efforts. These systems
provide functions such as payment scheduling, application of payment receipts, general ledger interface, vendor tracking and flexible reporting options.

Research and Development
We did not expend material amounts for research and development of new products during the last three fiscal years.

Competition; Customers
The market for nutritional supplement products is highly competitive. Our direct competition consists of publicly and privately owned companies, which
tend to be highly fragmented in terms of both geographic market coverage and product categories. Competition is based primarily on quality and assortment
of products, customer service (including timely deliveries), marketing support, availability of new products and price. Given our significant scale and broad
scope relative to our competition, strong innovation capabilities, high-quality manufacturing and vertical integration, we believe that we are well positioned to
capitalize on the industry's favorable long term secular trends and gain share.
6
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There are numerous companies in the vitamin and nutritional supplement industry with which we compete that sell products to retailers, including mass
merchandisers, convenience stores, drug store chains, club stores, independent drug stores, supermarkets and health food stores.
During fiscal 2011, Wal-Mart, individually, accounted for 25% of our Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment's net sales and 15% of our consolidated net
sales. We sell products to Wal-Mart under individual purchase orders placed by Wal-Mart under Wal-Mart's standard terms and conditions of sale. These
terms and conditions include insurance requirements; representations by us with respect to the quality of our products and our manufacturing process; our
obligations to comply with law; and indemnifications by us if we breach our representations or obligations. Wal-Mart has not committed to purchase from us,
and we have not committed to sell to Wal-Mart, any minimum amount of product. The loss of Wal-Mart, or any other major customer, would have a material
adverse effect on us if we were unable to replace that customer. See "Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business—One of our customers accounted for
15% of our consolidated net sales during fiscal 2011, and the loss of this customer, or any of our other major customers, could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations."

Government Regulation
United States
The processing, formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, advertising, distribution and sale of our products are subject to regulation by federal
agencies, including the FDA, the United States Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), the U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP"), the U.S. Postal Service
("USPS"), the Consumer Product Safety Commission ("CPSC"), the Department of Agriculture, U.S. Department of Labor's Occupational Safety & Health
Administration ("OSHA") and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"). These activities also are subject to regulation by various agencies of the
states, localities and foreign countries in which we sell our products. In particular, the FDA, under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the "FDCA"),
regulates the registration, formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, distribution and sale of foods, including dietary supplements, vitamins, minerals
and herbs and cosmetics. The FTC regulates the advertising of these products, and the USPS regulates advertising claims with respect to such products sold
by mail order. The National Advertising Division ("NAD") of the Council of Better Business Bureaus oversees an industry-sponsored self-regulatory system
that permits competitors to resolve disputes over advertising claims. The NAD may refer matters that the NAD views as violating FTC guides or rules to the
FTC for further action.
The FDCA has been amended several times with respect to dietary supplements, in particular by the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of
1994 ("DSHEA"). DSHEA establishes a framework governing the composition and labeling of dietary supplements. With respect to composition, DSHEA
defines "dietary supplements" as vitamins, minerals, herbs, other botanicals, amino acids and other dietary substances for human use to supplement the diet, as
well as concentrates, constituents, extracts or combinations of such dietary ingredients. Generally, under DSHEA, dietary ingredients that were marketed in
the United States before October 15, 1994 may be used in dietary supplements without notifying the FDA. However, a "new" dietary ingredient (a dietary
ingredient that was not marketed in the United States before October 15, 1994) must be the subject of a new dietary ingredient notification submitted to the
FDA unless the ingredient has been "present in the food supply as an article used for food" without being "chemically altered." A new dietary ingredient
notification must provide the FDA with evidence of a "history of use or other evidence of safety" establishing that use of the dietary ingredient "will
reasonably be expected to be safe." A new dietary ingredient notification must be submitted to the FDA at least 75 days before the initial marketing of the new
dietary ingredient. There can be no assurance that the FDA will accept the evidence of safety for any new dietary ingredients that we may want to market, and
the FDA's refusal
7
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to accept such evidence could prevent the marketing of such dietary ingredients. The FDA has recently published guidance for the industry to attempt to
clarify the FDA's interpretation of the new dietary ingredient notification requirements, and this guidance raises new challenges to the development of new
dietary ingredients. In addition, increased FDA enforcement could lead the FDA to challenge dietary ingredients already on the market as "illegal" under the
FDCA because of the failure to submit a new dietary ingredient notification.
The FDA generally prohibits the use in labeling for a dietary supplement of any "health claim," correlating use of the product with a decreased risk of
disease, unless the claim is specifically pre-approved or authorized by the FDA. DSHEA permits "statements of nutritional support" to be included in labeling
for dietary supplements without FDA pre-approval. Such statements may describe how a particular dietary ingredient affects the structure, function or general
well-being of the body, or the mechanism of action by which a dietary ingredient may affect body structure, function or well-being (but may not state that a
dietary supplement will diagnose, cure, mitigate, treat, or prevent a disease). FDA deems internet materials as labeling in most cases, so our internet materials
must comply with FDA requirements and could be the subject of regulatory action if the FDA, or the FTC reviewing the materials as advertising, considers
the materials false or misleading. A company that uses a statement of nutritional support in labeling must possess evidence substantiating that the statement is
truthful and not misleading. When such a claim is made on labels, we must disclose on the label that the FDA has not "evaluated" the statement, disclose that
the product is not intended for use for a disease, and notify the FDA about our use of the statement within 30 days of marketing the product. However, there
can be no assurance that the FDA will not determine that a particular statement of nutritional support that we want to use is an "unauthorized health or disease
claim" or an unauthorized version of a "health claim." Such a determination might prevent us from using the claim.
In addition, DSHEA provides that certain so-called "third-party literature," such as a reprint of a peer-reviewed scientific publication linking a particular
dietary ingredient with health benefits, may be used "in connection with the sale of a dietary supplement to consumers" without the literature being subject to
regulation as labeling. Such literature must not be, among other things, false or misleading; the literature may not promote a particular manufacturer or brand
of dietary supplement; and the literature must present a balanced view of the available scientific information on the subject matter. There can be no assurance,
however, that all third-party literature that we would like to disseminate in connection with our products will satisfy these requirements, and failure to satisfy
all requirements could prevent use of the literature or subject the product involved to regulation as an unapproved drug.
As authorized by DSHEA, the FDA adopted GMPs specifically for dietary supplements, which became effective in June 2008. These GMP regulations
are more detailed than the GMPs that previously applied to dietary supplements and require, among other things, dietary supplements to be prepared,
packaged and held in compliance with specific rules, and require quality control provisions similar to those in the GMP regulations for drugs. We believe our
manufacturing and distribution practices comply with these new rules.
We also must comply with the Dietary Supplement and Nonprescription Drug Consumer Protection Act (the "AER Act"), which became effective in
December 2007. The AER Act amended the FDCA to require that manufacturers, packers, and distributors of dietary supplements report serious adverse
events (as defined in the AER Act) to the FDA within specific time periods. We believe we are in compliance with the AER Act.
The FDA has broad authority to enforce the provisions of the FDCA applicable to foods, dietary supplements and cosmetics, including powers to issue a
public "warning letter" to a company, to publicize information about illegal products, to request a voluntary recall of illegal products from the market, and to
request the Department of Justice to initiate a seizure action, an injunction action, or a criminal prosecution in the U.S. courts. The FTC exercises jurisdiction
over the advertising of foods,
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dietary supplements and cosmetics. In recent years, the FTC has instituted numerous enforcement actions against dietary supplement companies for failure to
adequately substantiate claims made in advertising, or for the use of false or misleading advertising claims. These enforcement actions have often resulted in
consent decrees and the payment of civil penalties, restitution, or both, by the companies involved. We currently are subject to FTC consent decrees resulting
from past advertising claims for certain of our products. As a result, we are required to maintain compliance with these decrees and are subject to an
injunction and substantial civil monetary penalties if we should fail to comply. We also are subject to consent judgments under the Safe Drinking Water and
Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986 ("Proposition 65"). Further, the USPS has issued cease and desist orders against certain mail order advertising claims made
by dietary supplement manufacturers, including us, and we are required to maintain compliance with the orders applicable to us, subject to civil monetary
penalties for any noncompliance. Violations of these orders could result in substantial monetary penalties. These civil penalty actions could have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In October 2009, the FTC issued new Guides Concerning the Use of Endorsements and Testimonials in Advertising ("Endorsement Guides"). These
Endorsement Guides significantly extend the scope of potential liability associated with the use of testimonials, endorsements, and new media methods, such
as blogging, in advertising. As of December 1, 2009, the effective date of the Endorsement Guides, advertisers were required either to substantiate that the
experiences conveyed by testimonials or endorsements represent typical consumer experiences with the advertised product or clearly and conspicuously
disclose the typical consumer experience with the advertised product. In many instances, this will require advertisers to possess "competent and reliable
scientific evidence" to substantiate the consumer or endorser representations. Under the Endorsement Guides, advertisers also may be liable for statements
made by consumers in the context of "new media," including blogs, depending on the relationship between the consumer and the advertiser. Although an
advertiser's control over the consumer's comments will be relevant to a determination regarding liability for false or misleading statements, it will not
necessarily be dispositive.
In October 2010, the FTC announced proposed revisions to its Guides For The Use Of Environmental Marketing Claims ("Green Guides"). These Green
Guides are intended to assist advertisers in avoiding the dissemination of false or deceptive environmental claims for their products. The latest proposed
revisions to the Green Guides include new guidance regarding advertisers' use of product certifications and seals of approval, "renewable energy" claims,
"renewable materials" claims, and "carbon offset" claims. Many of these provisions instruct advertisers to specify and qualify environmental claims even
more extensively than previously required. The FTC simultaneously has reminded advertisers that environmental claims inconsistent with the Green Guides
may trigger FTC challenge. In addition, although these Green Guides do not themselves have the force of law and are not independently enforceable,
violations of them might give rise not only to FTC scrutiny but also to actions under state consumer fraud statutes.
We also are subject to regulation under various state and local laws that include provisions governing, among other things, the registration, formulation,
manufacturing, packaging, labeling, advertising and distribution of foods, dietary supplements and cosmetics.
In addition, from time to time in the future, we may become subject to additional laws or regulations administered by the FDA or by other federal, state,
local or foreign regulatory authorities, to the repeal of laws or regulations that we consider favorable, such as DSHEA, or to more stringent interpretations of
current laws or regulations. We believe that the dietary supplement industry is likely to face a more aggressive enforcement environment in the future even in
the absence of new regulation. We cannot predict the nature of future laws, regulations, repeals or interpretations, and we cannot predict what effect additional
governmental regulation, when and if it occurs, would have on our business in the future. Such developments, however, could require reformulation of certain
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products to meet new standards, recalls or discontinuance of certain products not able to be reformulated, additional record-keeping requirements, increased
documentation of the properties of certain products, additional or different labeling, additional scientific substantiation, additional personnel, or other new
requirements. Any such development could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
European Union
In the European Union ("EU"), the EU Commission is responsible for developing legislation to regulate foodstuffs and medicines. Although the
government of each member state may implement legislation governing these products, national legislation must be compatible with, and cannot be more
restrictive than, European requirements. Each member state is responsible for its enforcement of the provisions of European and national legislation.
In July 2002, the EU published in its Official Journal the final text of a Supplements Directive, which became effective in the EU at that time and which
sets out a process and timetable by which the member states must bring their domestic legislation in line with its provisions. The Supplements Directive seeks
to harmonize the regulation of the composition, labeling and marketing of food supplements (at this stage only vitamins and minerals) throughout the EU. It
does this by specifying what nutrients and nutrient sources may be used (and by interpretation the rest which may not), and the labeling and other information
which must be provided on packaging. In addition, the Supplements Directive is intended to regulate the levels at which these nutrients may be present in a
supplement. These maximum permitted levels are still to be announced.
By harmonizing member state legislation, the Supplements Directive should provide opportunities for businesses to market one product or a range of
products to a larger number of potential customers without having to reformulate or repackage it. This development may lead to some liberalizing of the more
restrictive regimes in Europe, providing new business opportunities. Conversely, however, it may limit the range of nutrients and nutrient sources
substantially, and eventually the potencies at which some nutrients may be marketed by us in the more liberal countries in Europe, such as the United
Kingdom, which may lead to some reformulation costs and loss of some specialty products.
In April 2004, the EU published the Herbal Products Directive which requires traditional herbal medicines to be registered in each member state in which
they are intended to be marketed. A registration requires a product be manufactured to pharmaceutical GMP standards; however, generally, there is no need to
demonstrate efficacy, provided that the product is safe, is manufactured to high standards, and has a history of supply on the market for 30 years, 15 years of
which must be in the EU. The Herbal Products Directive is intended to provide a safe harbor in EU law for a number of categories of herbal remedies, which
may otherwise be found to fall outside EU law. However, it does not provide a mechanism for new product development, and would entail some compliance
costs in registering the many herbal products already on the market. Full compliance was required by April 2011.
In December 2006, the EU published the Nutrition and Health Claim Regulation to apply from July 1, 2007. This regulation controls nutrition and health
claims by means of lists of authorized claims that can be made in advertising, labeling and presentation of all foods, including food supplements, together with
the criteria a product must meet to use them. Claims already in use before January 1, 2006, and complying with existing national legislation, can continue to
be made under transitional arrangements. The European Food Safety Authority has produced lists of acceptable claims for approval by the European
Commission in 2012, except in respect of botanical products which will be considered separately.
Additional European legislation is being developed to regulate sports nutrition products, including the composition of such products. In particular, such
legislation could restrict the type of nutrients we
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may use in our products. Legislation introducing maximum permitted levels for nutrients in fortified foods is also under discussion together with legislation
introducing a positive list for enzymes. These proposals, if implemented, could require us to reformulate our existing products. Also, proposals to amend
medicine legislation will impact traditional herbal medicines and introduce new requirements, such as Braille labeling, which may lead to higher associated
costs.
United Kingdom
In the United Kingdom, the two main pieces of legislation that affect the operations of Holland & Barrett, Julian Graves, and GNC (UK) are the
Medicines Act 1968, which regulates the licensing and sale of medicines, and the Food Safety Act 1990, which provides for the safety of food products. A
large volume of secondary legislation in the form of Statutory Instruments adds detail to the main provisions of these Acts, governing composition, packaging,
labeling and advertising of products.
In the United Kingdom regulatory system, a product intended to be taken orally will fall within either the category of food or the category of medicine.
There is currently no special category of dietary supplement as provided for in the United States by DSHEA. Some products which are intended to be applied
externally, for example creams and ointments, may be classified as medicines and others as cosmetics.
The Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency ("MHRA"), an executive agency of the Department of Health, has responsibility for the
implementation and enforcement of the Medicines Act 1968 and the Herbal Products Directive, and is the licensing authority for medicinal products. The
MHRA directly employs enforcement officers from a wide range of backgrounds, including the police, and with a wide range of skills, including information
technology. However, the MHRA still relies heavily on competitor complaints to identify non-compliant products. The MHRA decides whether a product is a
medicine or not and, if so, considers whether it can be licensed. It determines the status of a product by considering whether it is medicinal by "presentation"
or by "function."
The FSA deals with legislation, policy and oversight of food products, with enforcement action in most situations being handled by local authority
Trading Standards Officers. The large number of local authorities in the United Kingdom can lead to an inconsistent approach to enforcement. Unlike the
MHRA, local authorities regularly purchase products and analyze them to identify issues of non-compliance. Most vitamin and mineral supplements, and
some products with herbal ingredients, are considered to be food supplements and fall under general food law which requires them to be safe. Despite the
differences in approaches in identifying non-compliant products, both the MHRA and local authorities can, and do, prosecute where issues of non-compliance
are identified.
Ireland
The legislative and regulatory situation in the Republic of Ireland is similar, but not identical, to that in the United Kingdom. The Irish Medicines Board
has a similar role to that of the U.K.'s MHRA and the Food Safety Authority of Ireland is analogous to the U.K.'s FSA. Ireland has brought its domestic
legislation into line with the provisions of the Supplements Directive and the Herbal Products Directive. Thus, the market prospects for Ireland, in general, are
similar to those outlined in the United Kingdom.
Netherlands
The regulatory environment in the Netherlands is similar to the United Kingdom in terms of availability of products. The Netherlands currently has the
same liberal market, with no restrictions on potency of nutrients. Licensed herbal medicines are available. However, some herbal medicines are sold freely as
in the United Kingdom without the need to be licensed, based on the claims made for them. The Netherlands also is more liberal regarding certain substances,
for which unlicensed sales are
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allowed. The government department dealing with this sector is the Ministry for Health, Welfare and Sport.
Responsibility for food safety falls to the Voedsel en Warenautoriteit (Inspectorate for Health Protection and Veterinary Public Health), which deals with
all nutritional products. The Medicines Evaluation Board, which is the equivalent of the U.K.'s MHRA, is charged with responsibility for the safety of
medicines which are regulated under the Supply of Medicines Act.
The overall market prospects for the Netherlands, in general, are similar to those outlined for the United Kingdom above. Traditional herbal medicinal
products that are currently on sale in the Netherlands fall within the scope of the Herbal Products Directive.
Canada
The product safety, quality, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, storage, importation, advertising, distribution, sale and clinical trials of natural health
products ("NHPs"), prescription and non-prescription drugs, food and cosmetics are subject to regulation primarily under the federal Food and Drugs Act
(Canada) (the "Canadian FDA") and associated regulations, including the Food and Drug Regulations and the Natural Health Products Regulations, and
related Health Canada guidance documents and policies (collectively, the "Canadian Regulations"). In addition, NHPs and drugs are regulated under the
federal Controlled Drugs and Substances Act if the product is considered a "controlled substance" or a "precursor," as defined in that statute or in related
regulatory provisions.
Health Canada is primarily responsible for administering the Canadian FDA and the Canadian Regulations.
The Canadian FDA and Canadian Regulations also set out requirements for establishment licenses, market authorization for drugs and NHP licenses.
Subject to certain exceptions, establishment licenses are required by manufacturers, packagers/labelers, distributors, importers and wholesalers of drugs. With
regard to market authorization, the exact requirements and time frame for obtaining market authorization vary depending on the drug product. Effective
January 2004, each NHP must have a product license issued by Health Canada before it can be sold in Canada, subject to certain transition periods. NHPs that
had a drug identification number ("DIN") under the prior regulations could continue to be sold without a license until December 31, 2009. Health Canada
assigns a natural health product number ("NPN") to each NHP once Health Canada issues the license for that NHP. The Canadian Regulations require that all
drugs and NHPs be manufactured, packaged, labeled, imported, distributed and stored under Canadian GMPs or the equivalent thereto, and that all premises
used for manufacturing, packaging, labeling and importing drugs and NHPs have a site license, which requires GMP compliance. The Canadian Regulations
also set out requirements for labeling, packaging, clinical trials and adverse reaction reporting.
Health Canada approval for marketing authorizations and NHP licenses can take time. The approval time for NHPs and drugs can vary depending on the
product and the application or submission. For NHPs, the Canadian Regulations indicate that certain product licenses should be processed within 60 days.
However, the regulations also include provisions to extend this time frame if, for example, more information is required. There can be significant delays.
Health Canada has publicly acknowledged that there has been a delay in processing NHP licenses, and until August 3, 2010 the Health Canada "Compliance
Policy for Natural Health Products" provided that Health Canada would focus compliance actions against those NHPs that do not have a product license
submission number and that Health Canada believes pose a health risk. The policy was not to be construed as authorization to sell any NHP that does not have
a product license, and Health Canada could exercise its authority to stop the sale of unlicensed NHPs, or NHP sales that otherwise fail to comply with
Canadian Regulations at any time. Effective August 3, 2010, regulations to the Canadian FDA came into force which provide that each application for an
NPN that is in process, that has not been
12

Table of Contents

disallowed and is for a product that is neither a specified restricted product nor a product that contains an ingredient that is likely to result in injury to the
health of a consumer, is to be issued an exemption number. Upon the completion of certain formalities, a product license is deemed to have been issued for a
product with an exemption number and such license remains in effect until the associated application is processed. These regulations will automatically be
repealed 30 months after they came into force. If Health Canada refuses to issue a product license, the NHP can no longer be sold in Canada until Health
Canada issues such a license. We have adopted a compliance strategy to adhere to these new regulations and to Health Canada's policies.
The Canadian FDA and Canadian Regulations, among other things, govern the manufacture, formulation, packaging, labeling, advertising and sale of
NHPs and drugs, and regulate what may be represented on labels and in promotional materials regarding the claimed properties of products. The Canadian
Regulations also require NHPs and drugs sold in Canada to affix a label showing specified information, such as the proper and common name of the
medicinal and non-medicinal ingredients and their source, the name and address of the manufacturer/product license holder, its lot number, adequate
directions for use, a quantitative list of its medical ingredients and its expiration date. In addition, the Canadian Regulations require labeling to bear evidence
of the marketing authorization as evidenced by the designation DIN, drug identification number-homeopathic medicine ("DIN-HM") or NPN, followed by an
eight-digit number assigned to the product and issued by Health Canada.
Health Canada can perform routine and unannounced inspections of companies in the industry to ensure compliance with the Canadian Regulations. The
overall risk factors and market prospects for Canada, in general, are similar to those in the United States, as outlined above. Health Canada can suspend or
revoke licenses for lack of compliance. In addition, if Health Canada perceives a product to present an unacceptable level of risk, it can also impose fines and
jail terms.
The advertising of drugs and NHPs in Canada also is regulated under the misleading advertising and deceptive marketing practices of the Competition
Act (Canada), a federal statute. The labeling of products also may be regulated under the federal Consumer Packaging and Labelling Act (Canada) and also
under certain provincial statutes. Both the Competition Act and the Consumer Packaging and Labelling Act (except in respect of food products) are
administered by the federal Competition Bureau. See "Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business—Complying with new and existing government
regulation, both in the United States and abroad, could increase our costs significantly, reduce our growth prospects and adversely affect our financial results,"
for additional information.
China
In China, the packaging, labeling, importation, advertising, distribution and sale of our products are primarily subject to the Food Safety Law, the
Imported and Exported Goods Inspection Law, the Product Quality Law, the Law on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests and the Advertising
Law, as well as various administrative regulations, rules, orders and policies issued by the national and local government agencies regarding food regulation
including the Regulations on Implementation of Food Safety Law, Regulatory Measures on Labeling of Imported & Exported Foods, General Standards for
the Labeling of Prepackaged Foods For Special Dietary Uses, Guidelines for Labeling Inspection of Imported & Exported Foods, Regulations on Food
Advertising, Health Food Regulations, Health Food Registration Regulations, Regulatory Measures on Health Food Advertising (collectively "PRC Food
Regulations").
Currently, the Ministry of Health ("MOH"), the General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine ("AQSIQ"), the Safe Food
and Drug Administration ("SFDA"), the State Administration for Industry and Commerce ("SAIC") and their local counterparts have the power and
responsibility for the implementation and enforcement of the PRC Food Regulations. In particular, the MOH is responsible for enacting food safety standards,
publishing food safety information and
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coordinating with other agencies to handle major food safety accidents. The AQSIQ (mostly through its local counterparts) is responsible for inspection and
regulation of the imported food as well as quality inspection and control. The SAIC (mostly through its local counterparts) is responsible for regulating the
advertising of food. The SFDA (together with its local counterparts) is responsible for examination and approval of the registration, labeling, advertising and
supervision of health food (including imported health food).
The PRC Food Regulations require that imported food conform to the national food safety standards and be subject to inspection by the AQSIQ and its
local counterparts. After passing the inspection and obtaining a sanitation registration certificate issued by the AQSIQ or its local counterparts, food products
can be imported into China and then distributed in the China market.
The PRC Food Regulations also require packaging for food imported into China to have labels and instructions in Chinese showing specific information,
such as the name, list of ingredients and quantitative labeling of ingredients, energy and nutrients, place of origin, name and address of the domestic importer
or distributor, production date, date of minimum durability, storage instructions, instructions for use and target population group, but any claims as to
prevention, alleviation, treatment or cure of a disease or use of a drug's name implying the treatment and functional effects must not appear in the labeling.
China currently is implementing a stricter inspection system for health food. To the extent that some of our products may be deemed as health food, we
may have to comply with the special regulations and rules applicable to health food. For example, in addition to AQSIQ's inspection and labeling requirement,
the PRC Food Regulations could require us to apply for registration of health foods with the SFDA and obtain a Health Food Import Approval Certificate.
Furthermore, advertisement about any health food will be reviewed and approved by the SFDA before placement or publication.
The AQSIQ, the SAIC, the SFDA, the Ministry of Commerce ("MOC") and their local counterparts can perform routine and unannounced inspections of
importers and distributors in the food industry to ensure compliance with the PRC Food Regulations. In recent years, these government agencies have jointly
taken numerous inspection and enforcement actions to deal with illegal practices in the food market and promote sound development of food industry in
China. The enforcement actions have often resulted in correction orders, monetary penalties, revocation of business licenses or approval certificates, or
suspension of import decision imposed by such agencies for non-compliance.
The regulatory environment in China is becoming more stringent. We believe that the food industry is likely to face a more aggressive enforcement
environment in the future, which could result in additional product testing and approval requirements, additional record-keeping requirements, additional or
different labeling standards, recalls or discontinuance of certain products, and other new standards and requirements, which could negatively affect our
consolidated financial position, results of operation and cash flows.

Environmental Regulation
Our facilities and operations, in common with those of similar industries making similar products, are subject to many federal, state, provincial and local
requirements, rules and regulations relating to the protection of the environment and of human health and safety, including regulating the discharge of
materials into the environment. We continually examine ways to reduce our emissions and minimize waste and limit our exposure to any liabilities, as well as
decrease costs related to environmental compliance. Costs to comply with current and anticipated environmental requirements, rules and regulations and any
estimated capital expenditures for environmental control facilities are not anticipated to be material when compared with overall costs and capital
expenditures. Accordingly, we
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do not anticipate that such costs will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows or competitive position.

International Operations
We market nutritional supplement products through subsidiaries, distributors, retailers and direct mail in approximately 80 countries throughout Europe,
the Middle East, Africa, Central America, North America, South America, Asia, the Caribbean islands and the Pacific Rim countries.
We conduct our international operations to conform to local variations, economic realities, market customs, consumer habits and regulatory
environments. We modify our products (including labeling of such products) and our distribution and marketing programs in response to local and foreign
legal requirements and customer preferences.
Our international operations are subject to many of the same risks our domestic operations face. These include competition and the strength of the
relevant economy. In addition, international operations are subject to certain risks inherent in conducting business abroad, including foreign regulatory
restrictions, fluctuations in monetary exchange rates, import-export controls and the economic and political policies of foreign governments. Government
regulations in foreign countries may prevent or delay the introduction, or require the reformulation, of certain of our products. Compliance with such foreign
governmental regulations is generally the responsibility of our distributors in those countries. These distributors are independent contractors whom we do not
control. The importance of these risks increases as our international operations grow and expand. Foreign currency fluctuations, and, more particularly,
changes in the value of the British pound, the euro, the Canadian dollar and the Chinese yuan as compared to the U.S. dollar, affect virtually all our
international operations.
See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," for additional information regarding the
geographic areas in which we conduct our business and the effect of foreign currency exchange rates on our operations.

Trademarks and Patents
General
We own trademarks registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (the "PTO") and many foreign jurisdictions for our Nature's Bounty®, Body
Fortress®, Pure Protein®, Ester-C®, Solgar®, MET-Rx®, American Health®, Osteo Bi-Flex®, Flex-A-Min®, Sundown®, Worldwide Sport Nutrition®,
Puritan's Pride®, Holland & Barrett®, Vitamin World® and Leiner® trademarks, among others, and with the appropriate United Kingdom, EU, Benelux or
Canadian authorities for our Holland & Barrett®, Le Naturiste®, SISU®, De Tuinen® and Julian Graves® trademarks, among others. We have an exclusive
license to use the GNC mark in the United Kingdom. Our policy is to pursue registrations for all trademarks associated with our key products. U.S. registered
trademarks have a perpetual life, as do trademarks in most other jurisdictions, as long as they are renewed on a timely basis and used properly as trademarks,
subject to the rights of third parties to seek cancellation of the trademarks if they claim priority or confusion of usage. We regard our trademarks and other
proprietary rights as valuable assets and believe they have significant value in marketing our products. We hold U.S. and foreign patents on inventions
embodied in certain products, including Ester-C® and Co-Q10 products.
We have developed many brand names, trademarks and other intellectual property for products in all areas. We consider the overall protection of our
patent, trademark, license and other intellectual property rights to be paramount. As such, we vigorously protect these rights from infringement. We have
approximately 2,500 trademark registrations and applications with the PTO or foreign trademark offices.
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We hold approximately 50 patents and patent applications, in the United States and in certain other countries, most of which relate to Ester-C® and three
of which relate to our Co-Q10 products. We also are prosecuting patent applications on Ester-C® compositions in various countries. U.S. patents for EsterC® expire between February 2019 and June 2021. Most foreign patents for Ester-C® products expire between February 2019 and June 2021, with a large
number of foreign patents expiring in 2019.
Canada
Each of our Solgar, Le Naturiste, Vita Health, Nature's Bounty, MET-Rx and SISU subsidiaries owns the trademarks registered in Canada for its
respective brand.
United Kingdom/Ireland
Our Holland & Barrett subsidiary owns trademarks registered in the United Kingdom and in the EU for its Holland & Barrett® trademark, and has rights
to use other names essential to its business. NBTY Europe Limited is the exclusive licensee of the trademarks essential to the GNC (UK) business in the
United Kingdom. Our Nature's Way subsidiary owns the Nature's Way® trademarks in Ireland. One of our Solgar subsidiaries owns trademarks in the United
Kingdom and in the EU, and our Julian Graves subsidiary owns the Community Trademarks for its trade name and logo.
Netherlands
Our De Tuinen subsidiary owns trademarks registered in the Benelux Office for Intellectual Property, and Community Trademarks, which are in force
throughout the EU, for its De Tuinen® trademarks.
China
We own trademark applications and registrations for most of our material trademarks, which are filed with the Chinese Trademark Office. We also own
patents for Ester-C® compositions, issued by the Chinese Patent Office.

Raw Materials
In fiscal 2011, we spent approximately $700 million on raw materials (approximately $600 million domestically), excluding packaging and similar
product materials. The principal raw materials required in our operations are vitamins, minerals, herbs and gelatin. We purchased the majority of our vitamins,
minerals and herbs from raw material manufacturers and distributors in Asia, Europe, North America and South America. We believe that there are adequate
sources of supply for all our principal raw materials, and in general we maintain two to three suppliers for many of our raw materials. From time to time,
weather or unpredictable fluctuations in the supply and demand may affect price, quantity, availability or selection of raw materials. We believe that our
strong relationships with our suppliers yield high quality, competitive pricing and overall good service to our customers. Although we cannot be sure that our
sources of supply for our principal raw materials will be adequate in all circumstances, we believe that we can develop alternate sources in a timely and cost
effective manner if our current sources become inadequate. During fiscal 2011, no one supplier accounted for more than 5% of our raw material purchases.
Due to the availability of numerous alternative suppliers, we do not believe that the loss of any single supplier would have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
For a description of the impact of seasonality on our financial performance, please see Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Seasonality."
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors

Please carefully consider the following risk factors, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and cash
flows. The risk factors described below are not the only ones we face. Risks and uncertainties not known to us currently, or that may appear immaterial, also
may have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Unfavorable publicity or consumer perception of our products and any similar products distributed by other companies could have a material adverse
effect on our business.
We believe the nutritional supplement market is highly dependent upon consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of nutritional
supplements generally, as well as of products distributed specifically by us. Consumer perception of our products can be significantly influenced by scientific
research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, national media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of nutritional supplements.
There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity
will be favorable to the nutritional supplement market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings,
regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports,
findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for our products and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows. Our dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention
or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on us, the demand for our products, and our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of
nutritional supplements in general, or our products specifically, or associating the consumption of nutritional supplements with illness, could have such a
material adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products resulted
from consumers' failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed.
Our success is linked to the size and growth rate of the vitamin, mineral and supplement market and an adverse change in the size or growth rate of that
market could have a material adverse effect on us.
An adverse change in size or growth rate of the vitamin, mineral and supplement market could have a material adverse effect on us. Underlying market
conditions are subject to change based on economic conditions, consumer preferences and other factors that are beyond our control, including media attention
and scientific research, which may be positive or negative.
Instability in financial markets could adversely affect our ability to access the credit markets.
In 2009, worldwide financial markets exhibited dramatic instability and the availability of credit became precarious. Markets stabilized somewhat in
2010, but worldwide economic conditions remained unsettled in fiscal 2011. If these conditions persist or worsen, they could affect our ability to access the
credit markets. Any restriction on our ability to access credit markets could limit our ability to pursue acquisitions or to expand otherwise, and could affect our
financial condition or results of operations negatively.
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A prolonged economic downturn or recession could adversely affect the retail and nutritional supplement industries and restrict our future growth.
In fiscal 2011, general worldwide economic conditions, including concerns relating to debt markets, continued to decline in many countries. These
conditions could affect our sales negatively because many consumers consider the purchase of our products discretionary. We cannot predict the timing or
duration of any economic downturn or recession, or the timing or strength of a subsequent recovery, or the worldwide locations that may continue to be
impacted by these general economic conditions. If the markets for our products significantly deteriorate due to these economic effects, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will likely be materially and adversely affected.
Because a substantial majority of our sales are to or through retail stores, we are dependent to a large degree upon the success of this channel as well as
the success of specific retailers in the channel.
Approximately 64% of our sales for fiscal 2011 were in the United States. In this market, we sell our products primarily to or through our and third-party
retail stores. Because of this, we are dependent to a large degree upon the growth and success of that channel as well as the growth and success of specific
retailers in the channel, which are outside our control. There can be no assurance that the retail channel will be able to grow as it faces price and service
pressure from other channels.
One of our customers accounted for 15% of our consolidated net sales during fiscal 2011 and the loss of this customer, or any of our other major
customers, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
During fiscal 2011, Wal-Mart, individually, accounted for 25% of our Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment's net sales and 15% of our consolidated net
sales. As of the end of our fiscal 2011, Wal-Mart, individually, accounted for 18% of our Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment's total gross accounts receivable.
Additionally, for fiscal 2011, our other top three wholesale customers collectively accounted for approximately 26%, of our Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition
segment's net sales and 15% of our consolidated net sales. We do not have a long-term contract with Wal-Mart or any other major customer, and the loss of
this customer or any other major customer could have a material adverse affect on our results of operations. In addition, our results of operations and ability to
service our debt obligations would be impacted negatively to the extent Wal-Mart is unable to make payments to us, or does not make timely payments on
outstanding accounts receivables.
Complying with new and existing government regulation, both in the United States and abroad, could increase our costs significantly, reduce our growth
prospects and adversely affect our financial results.
The processing, formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, advertising, distribution and sale of our products are subject to regulation by several
U.S. federal agencies, including the FDA, the FTC, the CBP, the USPS, the CPSC, the Department of Agriculture, OSHA and the EPA, as well as various
state, local and international laws and agencies of the localities in which our products are sold, including Health Canada and the Competition Bureau in
Canada, the Food Standards Agency ("FSA") and the Department of Health in the United Kingdom and similar regulators in Ireland, the Netherlands, the EU
and China. Government regulations may prevent or delay the introduction, or require the reformulation or relabeling, of our products. Some agencies, such as
the FDA, could require us to remove a particular product from the market, delay or prevent the import of raw materials for the manufacture of our products, or
otherwise disrupt the marketing of our products. Any such government actions would result in additional costs to us, including lost revenues from any
additional products that we are required to remove from the market, which could be material. Any such government actions also could lead to liability,
substantial costs and reduced growth prospects. In addition, complying with the AER Act, GMPs and other legislation may impose additional costs on us,
which could become significant. Moreover, there can be no assurance that new laws or regulations
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imposing more stringent regulatory requirements on the dietary supplement industry will not be enacted or issued or that certain agencies will not enforce the
existing laws or regulations more strictly. We currently are subject to FTC consent decrees and a USPS consent order, prohibiting certain advertising claims
for certain of our products. We also are subject to consent judgments under Proposition 65. A determination that we have violated these obligations could
result in substantial monetary penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Additional or more stringent regulations and enforcement of dietary supplements and other products have been considered from time to time in the
United States and globally. These developments could require reformulation of certain products to meet new standards, recalls or discontinuance of certain
products not able to be reformulated, additional record-keeping requirements, increased documentation of the properties of certain products, additional or
different labeling, additional scientific substantiation, adverse event reporting or other new requirements. These developments also could increase our costs
significantly.
In Europe, we anticipate the enactment of legislation that could significantly impact the formulation and marketing of our products. For example, in
accordance with the Supplements Directive, maximum permitted content levels for vitamin and mineral supplements are expected to be enacted but have not
yet been announced. European legislation regulating food supplements other than vitamins and minerals also is expected to be introduced. The introduction of
this anticipated legislation could require us to reformulate our existing products to meet the new standards and, in some cases, may lead to some products
being discontinued.
The Nutrition and Health Claims Regulation implemented in July 2007 controls the types of claims that can be made for foodstuffs (including
supplements) in Europe, and the criteria a product must meet for the claims to be made. We anticipate that this regulation will be implemented in 2012 and
will impact the claims that can be made for our products, and may impact our sales in Europe. In addition, we anticipate that it will entail some products being
relabeled at an additional cost to meet the implementation date.
In addition, the General Product Safety Directive governing product safety came into force in Europe at the beginning of 2004. This legislation requires
manufacturers to notify regulators as soon as they know that a product is unsafe and gives regulators in each EU member state the power to order a product
recall and, if necessary, instigate the product recall themselves. A recall of any of our products in Europe could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
In Canada the federal government has undertaken an initiative to develop a new framework for drug licensing. The current system of drug regulation in
Canada focuses on pre-market activities and licensing is point-in-time, not continuous, subject to the licensee performing its obligations with respect to
advertising restrictions, quality of product and adverse reaction reporting. A progressive licensing regime would entail a life-cycle approach to the regulation
of drugs and could involve earlier consultation with industry before drug submissions, the requirement for licensees to provide and for Health Canada to
review pharmacovigilance (adverse reaction reporting) and risk management plans, and re-evaluation by Health Canada of drug information after a period of
initial marketing. Health Canada has completed the consultation process with external stakeholders and is moving towards the development of a progressive
licensing framework document. The implementation of a new regulatory framework could have a significant impact on our Canadian operations. There is no
indication of when, or if, such new regulatory regime will be implemented.
In China, the Food Safety Law, which replaced prior regulations, came into force on June 1, 2009. This legislation requires all imported food to comply
with applicable national food safety standards and subjects it to inspection by AQSIQ. Where there are no national food safety standards for some
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imported food, the MOH approval must be obtained before applying for the inspection; otherwise the food in question cannot be imported into China. The
revision of the national food safety standards by the MOH is in progress and some new or updated standards are expected to be introduced in late 2011. The
introduction of these new food safety standards may require us to reformulate our existing products to meet the new standards and in some cases, may lead to
some products being discontinued.
The Food Safety Law also requires overseas food manufacturers to register with AQSIQ or its local counterparts, which must establish records of the
credit standing of importers, exporters and manufacturers of imported goods. The imported foods, importers, exporters or manufacturers with unsatisfactory
records are subject to stricter inspection or even suspension of their import business. Any restriction or suspension of import of any of our products into China
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
The Food Safety Law provides for strict regulation and supervision over food claimed to have particular effects on human health, namely "health food,"
which is mainly subject to the regulation by the SFDA. To the extent AQSIQ or SFDA determines some of our products fall into this category, the
manufacture, exportation, importation and sale of such products could be subject to the more complicated registration and licensing requirements, and stricter
inspection by SFDA and AQSIQ.
AQSIQ promulgated the Imported and Exported Food Safety Regulatory Measures on July 22, 2011, which provides for detailed safety and inspection
requirements applicable to imported and exported food. These regulations become effective on March 1, 2012 and require us to go through complicated
procedures for importing and exporting our products into and from China. In compliance with these regulations, we are in the process of applying for
registration of certain of our products as "health food" to meet applicable requirements for manufacture and export of such products. If we fail to obtain
required registration on time, our ability to continue exporting these products from China could be adversely affected, which in turn could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
See "Business—Government Regulation" for more information about the regulatory environment in which we conduct our business.
We may incur material product liability claims, which could increase our costs and adversely affect our reputation, revenues and operating income.
As a retailer, marketer and manufacturer of products designed for human and animal consumption, we are subject to product liability claims if the use of
our products is alleged to have resulted in injury. Our products consist of vitamins, minerals, herbs and other ingredients that are classified as foods, dietary
supplements, or NHPs, and, in most cases, are not necessarily subject to pre-market regulatory approval in the United States. One of our Canadian subsidiaries
also manufactures and sells non-prescription medications such as headache and cold remedies and contract manufactures some prescription medications.
Some of our products contain innovative ingredients that do not have long histories of human consumption. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting
from human consumption of these ingredients could occur. In addition, some of the products we sell are produced by third-party manufacturers. As a marketer
of products manufactured by third parties, we also may be liable for various product liability claims for products we do not manufacture. We have been in the
past, and may be in the future, subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that our products include inadequate instructions for use or
inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects and interactions with other substances. A product liability claim against us could result in increased
costs and could adversely affect our reputation with our customers, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," for additional information.
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If we experience product recalls, we may incur significant and unexpected costs, and our business reputation could be adversely affected.
We may be exposed to product recalls and adverse public relations if our products are alleged to cause injury or illness, or if we are alleged to have
violated governmental regulations. A product recall could result in substantial and unexpected expenditures, which would reduce operating profit and cash
flow. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Product recalls may hurt the value of our brands and lead to decreased
demand for our products. Product recalls also may lead to increased scrutiny by federal, state or international regulatory agencies of our operations and
increased litigation and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. See "—Complying with
new and existing government regulation, both in the United States and abroad, could increase our costs significantly, reduce our growth prospects and
adversely affect our financial results" and other risks summarized in this Report.
Insurance coverage, even where available, may not be sufficient to cover losses we may incur.
Our business exposes us to the risk of liabilities arising from our operations. For example, we may be liable for claims brought by users of our products
or by employees, customers or other third parties for personal injury or property damage occurring in the course of our operations. We seek to minimize these
risks through various insurance contracts from third-party insurance carriers. However, our insurance coverage is subject to large individual claim deductibles,
individual claim and aggregate policy limits, and other terms and conditions. We retain an insurance risk for the deductible portion of each claim and for any
gaps in insurance coverage. We do not view insurance, by itself, as a material mitigant to these business risks.
We cannot assure you that our insurance will be sufficient to cover our losses. Any losses that insurance does not substantially cover could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
The insurance industry has become more selective in offering some types of coverage and we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage in the future.
The insurance industry has become more selective in offering some types of insurance, such as product liability, product recall, property and directors'
and officers' liability insurance. Our current insurance program is consistent with both our past level of coverage and our risk management policies. However,
we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain comparable insurance coverage on favorable terms, or at all, in the future.
International markets expose us to certain risks.
As of September 30, 2011, we operated over 1,140 retail stores outside of the United States. In addition, we had significant wholesale sales outside of the
United States. For fiscal 2011, international sales represented approximately 36% of our net sales. These international operations expose us to certain risks,
including:
•

local economic conditions;

•

inflation;

•

changes in or interpretations of foreign regulations that may limit our ability to sell certain products or repatriate profits or capital to the United
States;

•

exposure to currency fluctuations;

•

potential imposition of trade or foreign exchange restrictions or increased tariffs;
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•

changes and limits in export and import controls;

•

difficulty in collecting international accounts receivable;

•

difficulty in staffing, developing and managing foreign operations;

•

potentially longer payment cycles;

•

difficulties in enforcement of contractual obligations and intellectual property rights;

•

renegotiation or modification of various agreements;

•

national and regional labor strikes;

•

increased costs in maintaining international manufacturing and marketing efforts;

•

quarantines for products or ingredients, or restricted mobility of key personnel due to disease outbreaks;

•

government regulations and laws;

•

geographic time zone, language and cultural differences between personnel in different areas of the world;

•

political instability;

•

trademarks availability and registration issues;

•

changes in exchange rates;

•

changes in taxation; and

•

wars and other hostilities.

As we continue to expand our international operations, these and other risks associated with international operations are likely to increase. These risks, if they
occur, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Our international operations require us to comply with anti-corruption laws and regulations of the U.S. government and various international
jurisdictions in which we do business.
Doing business on a worldwide basis requires us and our subsidiaries to comply with the laws and regulations of the U.S. government and various
international jurisdictions, and our failure to successfully comply with these rules and regulations may expose us to liabilities. These laws and regulations
apply to companies, individual directors, officers, employees and agents, and may restrict our operations, trade practices, investment decisions and partnering
activities. In particular, our international operations are subject to U.S. and foreign anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act ("FCPA") and the U.K. Bribery Act ("UKBA"). The FCPA prohibits us from providing anything of value to foreign officials for the purposes of
influencing official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment, and requires us to maintain adequate recordkeeping and internal accounting practices to accurately reflect our transactions. As part of our business, we may deal with state-owned business enterprises,
the employees and representatives of which may be considered foreign officials for purposes of the FCPA and UKBA. In addition, some of the international
locations in which we operate lack a developed legal system and have elevated levels of corruption. As a result of the above activities, we are exposed to the
risk of violating anti-corruption laws. Violations of these legal requirements are punishable by criminal fines and imprisonment, civil penalties, disgorgement
of profits, injunctions, debarment from government contracts as well as other remedial measures. We have established policies and procedures designed to
assist us and our personnel in complying with applicable U.S. and international laws and regulations.
22

Table of Contents

However, there can be no assurance that our policies and procedures will effectively prevent us from violating these regulations in every transaction in which
we may engage, and such a violation could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may not be successful in expanding globally.
We may experience difficulty entering new international markets due to regulatory barriers, the necessity of adapting to new regulatory systems, and
problems related to entering new markets with different cultural bases and political systems. These difficulties may prevent, or significantly increase the cost
of, our international expansion.
We may be exposed to legal proceedings initiated by regulators in the United States or abroad that could increase our costs and adversely affect our
reputation, revenues and operating income.
In all jurisdictions in which we operate, non-compliance with relevant legislation can result in regulators bringing administrative, or, in some cases,
criminal proceedings. In the United States, the FTC has considered bringing actions against the Company in the past. In the United Kingdom, it is common for
regulators to prosecute retailers and manufacturers for non-compliance with legislation governing foodstuffs and medicines. Our failure to comply with
applicable legislation could occur from time to time, and prosecution for any such violations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. See "Business—Government Regulation" for additional information.
We may not be successful in our future acquisition endeavors, if any, which may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Historically, we have engaged in substantial acquisition activity. We may be unable to identify suitable targets, opportunistic or otherwise, for acquisition
in the future. If we identify a suitable acquisition candidate, our ability to successfully implement the acquisition will depend on a variety of factors, including
our ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms and to comply with the restrictions contained in our debt agreements. Historical instability in the financial
markets indicates that obtaining future financing to fund acquisitions may present significant challenges. If we need to obtain our lenders' consent to an
acquisition, they may condition their consent on our compliance with additional restrictive covenants that may limit our operating flexibility. Acquisitions
involve risks, including:
•

significant expenditures of cash;

•

the risk that acquired businesses may not perform in accordance with expectations;

•

risks associated with integrating the operations, financial reporting, disparate technologies and personnel of acquired companies;

•

managing geographically dispersed operations;

•

diversion of management's attention from other business concerns;

•

the inherent risks in entering markets or lines of business in which we have either limited or no direct experience;

•

the potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic partners of acquired companies;

•

incurrence of liabilities and claims arising out of acquired businesses;

•

inability to obtain financing; and

•

incurrence of indebtedness or issuance of additional stock.
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We may not integrate any businesses or technologies we acquire in the future successfully and may not achieve anticipated operating efficiencies and
effective coordination of sales and marketing as well as revenue and cost benefits. Acquisitions may be expensive, time consuming and may strain our
resources. Acquisitions may impact our results of operations negatively as a result of, among other things, the incurrence of debt.
We are dependent on our executive officers and other key personnel, and we may not be able to pursue our current business strategy effectively if we lose
them.
Our continued success will depend largely on the efforts and abilities of our executive officers and certain other key employees. For additional
information about these individuals, see Item 10, "Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance" elsewhere in this Report. Our ability to manage
our operations and meet our business objectives could be affected adversely if, for any reason, we are unable to recruit and retain executive talent.
We are dependent on certain third-party suppliers.
We purchase from third-party suppliers certain important ingredients and raw materials. The principal raw materials required in our operations are
vitamins, minerals, herbs, gelatin and packaging components. We purchase the majority of our vitamins, minerals and herbal raw materials from
manufacturers and distributors in Asia, Europe, North America and South America. Real or perceived quality control problems with raw materials outsourced
from certain regions could negatively impact consumer confidence in our products, or expose us to liability. In addition, although raw materials are available
from numerous sources, an unexpected interruption of supply or material increases in the price of raw materials, for any reason, such as changes in economic
and political conditions, tariffs, trade disputes, regulatory requirements, import restrictions, loss of certifications, power interruptions, fires, hurricanes,
drought or other climate-related events, war or other events, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows. Also, currency fluctuations, including the decline in the value of the U.S. dollar, could result in higher costs for raw materials purchased abroad.
In addition, we rely on outside printing services and availability of paper stock in our printed catalog operations.
We rely on our manufacturing operations to produce the vast majority of the nutritional supplements that we sell, and disruptions in our manufacturing
system or losses of manufacturing certifications could affect our results of operations adversely.
During fiscal 2011, we manufactured approximately 90% of the nutritional supplements that we sold. We currently have manufacturing facilities in
Arizona, California, Florida, New Jersey, New York and North Carolina in the United States, and in Canada, the United Kingdom and China. All our
domestic manufacturing operations are subject to GMPs promulgated by the FDA and other applicable regulatory standards, including in the areas of
environmental protection and worker health and safety. We are subject to similar regulations and standards in Canada, the United Kingdom and China. Any
significant disruption in our operations at any of these facilities, including any disruption due to any regulatory requirement, could affect our ability to respond
quickly to changes in consumer demand and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Additionally, we may be exposed to risks relating to the transfer of work between facilities or risks associated with opening new facilities that may cause a
disruption in our operations. We purchased a softgel plant in China in May 2010. There have been a number of well publicized incidents of tainted food and
drugs manufactured in China in the past few years. Although we are seeking to implement GMPs in our China plant, there can be no assurance that products
manufactured in China, or in our other plants around the world, will not be contaminated or otherwise fail to meet our quality standards. Any such
contamination or other quality failures could result in costly recalls, litigation,
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regulatory actions or damage to our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.
We operate in a highly competitive industry, and our failure to compete effectively could affect our market share, financial condition and growth
prospects adversely.
The VMHS industry is a large and growing industry and is highly fragmented in terms of both geographical market coverage and product categories. The
market for vitamins and other nutritional supplements is highly competitive in all our channels of distribution. We compete with companies that may have
broader product lines or larger sales volumes, or both, than we do, and our products compete with nationally advertised brand name products. Several of the
national brand companies have resources greater than ours. Numerous companies compete with us in the development, manufacture and marketing of
vitamins and nutritional supplements worldwide. In addition, our North American and European retail stores compete with specialty vitamin stores, health
food stores and other retail stores worldwide. With respect to mail order sales, we compete with a large number of smaller mail order and internet companies,
some of which manufacture their own products and some of which sell products manufactured by others. The market is highly sensitive to the introduction of
new products, which may rapidly capture a significant share of the market. We also may face competition from low-cost entrants to the industry, including
from international markets. Increased competition from companies that distribute through the wholesale channel, especially the private label market, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows as these competitors may have greater financial and
other resources available to them and possess extensive manufacturing, distribution and marketing capabilities far greater than ours.
We may not be able to compete effectively in some or all our markets, and our attempt to do so may require us to reduce our prices, which may result in
lower margins. Failure to compete effectively could have a material adverse effect on our market share, business, results of operations, financial condition,
cash flows and growth prospects. See "Business—Competition; Customers."
Our failure to appropriately respond to changing consumer preferences and demand for new products and services could harm our customer
relationships and product sales significantly.
The nutritional supplement industry is characterized by rapid and frequent changes in demand for products and new product introductions. Our failure to
accurately predict these trends could negatively impact consumer opinion of us as a source for the latest products, which, in turn, could harm our customer
relationships and cause decreases in our net sales. The success of our new product offerings depends upon a number of factors, including our ability to:
•

accurately anticipate customer needs;

•

innovate and develop new products;

•

successfully commercialize new products in a timely manner;

•

price our products competitively;

•

manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient volumes and in a timely manner; and

•

differentiate our product offerings from those of our competitors.

In addition, we are subject to the risk of a potential shift in customer demand towards more private label products, which could have an adverse effect on
our profitability. If any new products fail to gain market acceptance, are restricted by regulatory requirements or have quality problems, this would harm our
results of operations. If we do not introduce new products or make enhancements to meet the changing needs of our customers in a timely manner, some of
our products could be rendered
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obsolete, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
We are subject to acts of God, war, sabotage and terrorism risk.
Acts of God, war, sabotage and terrorist attacks or any similar risk may affect our operations in unpredictable ways, including disruptions of the
shopping and commercial behavior of our customers, changes in the insurance markets and disruptions of fuel supplies and markets.
We may be subject to work stoppages at our facilities, which could negatively impact the profitability of our business.
As of September 30, 2011, we had approximately 14,400 employees, with a collective bargaining agreement at our Vita Health Canadian business
representing approximately 260 of our employees. If our employees were to engage in a strike, work stoppage or other slowdown in the future, we could
experience a significant disruption of our operations, which could interfere with our ability to deliver products on a timely basis and could have other negative
effects, such as decreased productivity and increased labor costs. Any interruption in the delivery of our products could reduce demand for our products and
could have a material adverse effect on us.
We may be affected adversely by increased raw material, utility and fuel costs.
Inflation and other factors affect the cost of raw materials, goods and services we use. Increased raw material and other costs may adversely affect our
results of operations to the extent we are unable to pass these costs through to our customers or to benefit from offsetting cost reductions in the manufacture
and distribution of our products. Furthermore, increasing fuel costs may affect our results of operations adversely in that consumer traffic to our retail
locations may be reduced and the costs of our sales may increase as we incur fuel costs in connection with our manufacturing operations and the
transportation of goods from our warehouse and distribution facilities to stores or Direct Response/E-Commerce customers. Also, high oil costs can affect the
cost of our raw materials and components and the competitive environment in which we operate may limit our ability to recover higher costs resulting from
rising fuel prices.
Our profits may be affected negatively by currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Our assets, earnings and cash flows are influenced by currency fluctuations due to the geographic diversity of our sales and the countries in which we
operate. These fluctuations may have a significant impact on our financial results. For fiscal 2011, 32% of our sales were denominated in a currency other
than the U.S. dollar, and as of fiscal 2011, 24% of our assets and 4% of our total liabilities were denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. In
December 2010, we entered into various cross currency swap transactions. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."
Our success is dependent on the accuracy, reliability, and proper use of sophisticated and dependable information processing systems and management
information technology and any interruption in these systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
Our success is dependent on the accuracy, reliability, and proper use of sophisticated and dependable information processing systems and management
information technology. Our information technology systems are designed and selected to facilitate order entry and customer billing, maintain customer
records, accurately track purchases and incentive payments, manage accounting, finance and manufacturing operations, generate reports, and provide
customer service and technical support. Any interruption in these systems or any interruption associated with the transition of these systems to a
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new information technology platform could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
System interruptions or security breaches may affect sales.
Customer access to, and ability to use, our websites affect our Direct Response/E-Commerce sales. If we are unable to maintain and continually enhance
the efficiency of our systems, we could experience system interruptions or delays that could affect our operating results negatively. In addition, we could be
liable for breaches of security on our websites, loss or misuse of our customers' personal information or payment data. Although we have developed systems
and processes that are designed to protect consumer information and prevent fraudulent credit card transactions and other security breaches, failure to prevent
or mitigate such fraud or breaches may affect our operating results negatively.
Our inability to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business.
Despite our efforts, we may not be able to determine the extent of unauthorized use of our trademarks and patents. In any case, such efforts are difficult,
expensive, and time-consuming, and there can be no assurance that infringing goods could not be manufactured without our knowledge and consent. Many of
our products are not subject to patent protection, and thus they can be legally reverse-engineered by competitors. Moreover, even with respect to some of our
products that are covered by patents, such as Ester-C® products, there are numerous similar yet non-infringing supplement products in the marketplace, and
this negatively affects sales we might otherwise make. Our patents, or certain claims made in such patents, could be found to be invalid or unenforceable.
From time to time we face opposition to our applications to register trademarks, and we may not ultimately be successful in our attempts to register certain
trademarks. Further, there can be no assurance that in those foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business the trademark and patent protection available
to us will be as extensive as the protection available to us in the United States.
Intellectual property litigation and infringement claims against us could cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us from manufacturing, selling
or marketing our products, which could adversely affect our revenues and market share.
We may be subject to intellectual property litigation and infringement claims, which could cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us from
manufacturing, selling or marketing our products. Claims of intellectual property infringement also may require us to enter into costly royalty or license
agreements. However, we may be unable to obtain royalty or license agreements on terms acceptable to us or at all. Claims that our technology or products
infringe on intellectual property rights of others could be costly to defend or settle, could cause reputational injury and would divert the attention of
management and key personnel, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
We are party to a number of lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course of business and may become party to others in the future.
We are party to a number of lawsuits (including product liability, false advertising, intellectual property and Proposition 65 claims) that arise in the
ordinary course of business and may become party to others in the future. The possibility of such litigation, and its timing, is in large part outside our control.
While none of the current lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business in which we are involved are reasonably estimable to be material as of the date
hereof, it is possible that future litigation could arise, or developments could occur in existing litigation, that could have material adverse effects on us.
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Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports,
our business and operating results could be harmed. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as related rules and regulations implemented by the SEC, have
required changes in the corporate governance practices and financial reporting standards for public companies. These laws, rules and regulations, including
compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, have increased our legal and financial compliance costs and made many activities more
time-consuming and more burdensome. The costs of compliance with these laws, rules and regulations may adversely affect our financial results. Moreover,
we run the risk of non-compliance, which could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.
In the past we have discovered, and in the future we may discover, areas of our internal control over financial reporting that need improvement. We have
devoted significant resources to remediate any deficiencies we discovered and to improve our internal control over financial reporting. Based upon
management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2011, management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of that date. We cannot be certain that these measures will ensure that we implement and maintain
adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties
encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective internal control over
financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information.

Risk Factors Relating to Ownership of our 9% Senior Notes due 2018
The noteholders' right to receive payments on the notes is effectively subordinated to the rights of our existing and future secured creditors. Further, the
guarantees of these notes are effectively subordinated to all our guarantors' existing and future secured indebtedness.
Holders of our secured indebtedness and the secured indebtedness of the guarantors have claims that are prior to the claims of our noteholders to the
extent of the value of the assets securing that other indebtedness. Notably, NBTY, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, including the guarantors, are parties to
the senior secured credit facilities, which are secured by liens on substantially all our assets and the guarantors' assets. The notes are effectively subordinated
to all our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing that indebtedness. In the event of any distribution or payment of our assets in
any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding, holders of secured indebtedness will have a prior claim
to those of our assets that constitute their collateral. Holders of the notes participate ratably with all holders of our unsecured indebtedness that is deemed to be
of the same class as the notes, and potentially with all our other general creditors, based upon the respective amounts owed to each holder or creditor, in our
remaining assets. In any of the foregoing events, we cannot assure noteholders that there will be sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the notes. As a result,
noteholders may receive less, ratably, than holders of secured indebtedness.
As of September 30, 2011, the aggregate amount of our secured indebtedness was approximately $1,737 million. We have $200 million of unused
commitments available for additional borrowing under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facilities, as amended. We are permitted to incur
substantial additional indebtedness, including secured debt, in the future under the terms of the indenture governing the notes.
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Claims of noteholders will be effectively subordinated to claims of creditors of all our non-guarantor subsidiaries.
The notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by our current and future domestic subsidiaries that are guarantors of our senior secured credit facilities.
However, the historical consolidated financial statements included in this Report include all our domestic and foreign subsidiaries. Our foreign subsidiaries,
which do not guarantee the notes, held approximately $1,246 million, or 24%, of our total assets and $131 million, or 4%, of our total liabilities as of
September 30, 2011 and accounted for approximately $938 million, or 32%, of our net sales, for fiscal 2011 (all amounts presented exclude intercompany
balances). In addition, we have the ability to designate certain of our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries under the terms of the indenture, and any
subsidiary so designated will not be a guarantor of the notes.
Our non-guarantor subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay any amounts due under the
notes, or to make any funds available therefor, whether by dividends, loans, distributions or other payments. Any right that we or the subsidiary guarantors
have to receive any assets of any of the non-guarantor subsidiaries upon the liquidation or reorganization of those subsidiaries, and the consequent rights of
noteholders to realize proceeds from the sale of any of those subsidiaries' assets, will be effectively subordinated to the claims of those subsidiaries' creditors,
including trade creditors and holders of debt of that subsidiary.
The trading price of the notes may be volatile and can be affected by many factors, including our credit rating.
The trading price of the notes could be subject to significant fluctuation in response to, among other factors, changes in our operating results, interest
rates, the market for non-investment grade securities, general economic conditions and securities analysts' recommendations, if any, regarding our securities.
Credit rating agencies continually revise their ratings for companies they follow, including us. Any ratings downgrade could adversely affect the trading
price of the notes, or the trading market for the notes, to the extent a trading market for the notes develops. The condition of the financial and credit markets
and prevailing interest rates have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future and any fluctuation may impact the trading price of the notes.
We are a holding company with no operations and may not have access to sufficient cash to make payments on our credit obligations.
We are a holding company and have limited direct operations. Our most significant assets are the equity interests we hold in our subsidiaries. As a result,
we are dependent upon dividends and other payments from our subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to meet our outstanding debt service and other
obligations and such dividends may be restricted by law or the instruments governing our indebtedness, including the indenture governing the notes, the
agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities or other agreements of our subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries may not generate sufficient cash from
operations to enable us to make principal and interest payments on our indebtedness, including the notes. In addition, our subsidiaries are separate and distinct
legal entities and, except for our existing and future subsidiaries that will be the guarantors of the notes, any payments on dividends, distributions, loans or
advances to us by our subsidiaries could be subject to legal and contractual restrictions on dividends. In addition, payments to us by our subsidiaries will be
contingent upon our subsidiaries' earnings. Additionally, we may be limited in our ability to cause our existing and any future joint ventures to distribute their
earnings to us. Subject to certain qualifications, our subsidiaries are permitted under the terms of our indebtedness, including the indenture governing the
notes, to incur additional indebtedness that may restrict payments from those subsidiaries to us. We can give no assurance that agreements governing the
current and future indebtedness of our subsidiaries will permit those subsidiaries to provide us with sufficient cash to fund payments of principal premiums, if
any, and
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interest on the notes when due. In addition, any guarantee of the notes will be subordinated to any senior secured indebtedness of a subsidiary guarantor to the
extent of the assets securing such indebtedness.
Federal and state statutes may allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void the guarantees and require noteholders to return payments received
from guarantors.
Under federal bankruptcy law and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer laws, a guarantee could be deemed a fraudulent transfer if the
guarantor received less than a reasonably equivalent value in exchange for giving the guarantee and:
•

was insolvent on the date that it gave the guarantee or became insolvent as a result of giving the guarantee; or

•

was engaged in business or a transaction, or was about to engage in business or a transaction, for which property remaining with the guarantor
was an unreasonably small capital; or

•

intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts that would be beyond the guarantor's ability to pay as those debts matured.

A guarantee could also be deemed a fraudulent transfer if it was given with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud any entity to which the guarantor was
or became, on or after the date the guarantee was given, indebted.
The measures of insolvency for purposes of the foregoing considerations will vary depending upon the law applied in any proceeding with respect to the
foregoing. Generally, however, a guarantor would be considered insolvent if:
•

the sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, is greater than all its assets, at a fair valuation; or

•

the present fair saleable value of its assets is less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts,
including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or

•

it could not pay its debts as they become due.

We cannot predict:
•

what standard a court would apply to determine whether a guarantor was insolvent as of the date it issued the guarantee or whether, regardless of
the method of valuation, a court would determine that the guarantor was insolvent on that date; or

•

whether a court would determine that the payments under the guarantee constituted fraudulent transfers or conveyances on other grounds.

The indenture contains a "savings clause" intended to limit each subsidiary guarantor's liability under its guarantee to the maximum amount that it could
incur without causing the guarantee to be a fraudulent transfer under applicable law. There can be no assurance that this provision will be upheld as intended.
In a recent case, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of Florida found this kind of provision in that case to be ineffective, and held the
subsidiary guarantees to be fraudulent transfers and voided them in their entirety. Although this ruling was reversed, there can be no assurance that other
courts will not reach the same conclusion as the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of Florida.
If a guarantee is deemed to be a fraudulent transfer, it could be voided altogether, or it could be subordinated to all other debts of the guarantor. In that
case, any payment by the guarantor under its guarantee could be required to be returned to the guarantor or to a fund for the benefit of the creditors of the
guarantor. If a guarantee is voided or held unenforceable for any other reason, noteholders would cease to have a claim against the subsidiary based on the
guarantee and would be
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creditors only of NBTY, Inc. and any guarantor whose guarantee was not similarly voided or otherwise held unenforceable.
The lenders under our senior secured credit facilities have the discretion to release the guarantors under our senior secured credit facilities in a variety of
circumstances, which will cause those guarantors to be released from their guarantees of the notes.
While any obligations under our senior secured credit facilities remain outstanding, any guarantee of the notes may be released without action by, or
consent of, any holder of the notes or the trustee under the indenture governing the notes, at the discretion of lenders under our senior secured credit facilities,
if such guarantor is no longer a guarantor of obligations under our senior secured credit facilities or any other indebtedness. The lenders under our senior
secured credit facilities will have the discretion to release the guarantees under our senior secured credit facilities in a variety of circumstances. A noteholder
will not have a claim as a creditor against any subsidiary that is no longer a guarantor of the notes, and the indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade
payables, whether secured or unsecured, of those subsidiaries will effectively be senior to claims of noteholders.
We may not be able to satisfy our obligations to holders of the notes upon a change of control.
Upon the occurrence of a "change of control," as defined in the indenture, each noteholder will have the right to require us to purchase the notes at a price
equal to 101% of the principal amount, together with any accrued and unpaid interest. Our failure to purchase, or give notice of purchase of, the notes would
be a default under the indenture, which would in turn be a default under our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes. In addition,
a change of control may constitute an event of default under our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes. A default under our
senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes would result in an event of default under the indenture if the lenders accelerate the debt
under our senior secured credit facilities or the holders accelerate the debt under the indenture governing the notes.
If a change of control occurs, we may not have enough assets to satisfy all obligations under the indenture related to the notes. Upon the occurrence of a
change of control we could seek to refinance the indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes or obtain a
waiver from the lenders and noteholders. We can give no assurance, however, that we would be able to obtain a waiver or refinance our indebtedness on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. No assurances can be given that any court would enforce the change of control provisions in the indenture governing
the notes as written for the benefit of the holders, or as to how these change of control provisions would be impacted were we to become a debtor in a
bankruptcy case.
Certain private equity investment funds affiliated with Carlyle own substantially all the equity of Alphabet Holding Company, Inc. ("Holdings"), our sole
shareholder, and their interests may not be aligned with those of our noteholders.
Carlyle owns substantially all the fully diluted equity of Holdings, our sole shareholder, and, therefore, has the power to control our affairs and policies.
Carlyle also controls the election of directors, the appointment of management, the entry into mergers, sales of substantially all our assets and other
extraordinary transactions. The directors so elected have authority, subject to the terms of our debt, to issue additional stock, implement stock repurchase
programs, declare dividends and make other decisions. Carlyle's interest could conflict with the interests of our noteholders. For example, if we encounter
financial difficulties or are unable to pay our debts as they mature, the interests of Carlyle and certain of its affiliates and co-investors, as equity holders, might
conflict with the interests of our noteholders. Carlyle also may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures, financings or other transactions that, in
their judgment, could enhance their equity investments, even though such transactions might involve risks to our noteholders. Additionally, Carlyle is in the
business of making investments in companies, and from time to time in the future may acquire interests in businesses that
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directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business, or are suppliers or customers of ours.

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness
Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations, limit our ability to react to changes in the
economy or our industry, expose us to interest rate risk to the extent of our variable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our obligations under the
notes.
As a result of the Merger, we have a significant amount of indebtedness. At September 30, 2011, we had $2.4 billion of indebtedness on a consolidated
basis, of which $1.7 billion was secured indebtedness. We also have an additional $200 million of unused commitments under the revolving portion of our
senior secured credit facilities, as amended. Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, it could:
•

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to the notes;

•

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of
our cash flow to fund acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures, research and development efforts and other general corporate purposes;

•

increase our vulnerability to and limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we
operate;

•

restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or cause us to make non-strategic divestitures;

•

expose us to the risk of increased interest rates as borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities will be subject to variable rates of interest;

•

expose us to additional risks related to currency exchange rates and repatriation of funds;

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

•

limit our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing for working capital, capital expenditures, business development, debt service
requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes.

Restrictive covenants in the indenture governing the notes and the agreements governing the senior secured credit facilities may restrict our ability to
pursue our business strategies.
The indenture governing the notes and the agreement governing the senior secured credit facilities limit our ability, and the terms of any future
indebtedness may limit our ability, among other things, to:
•

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

•

make certain investments;

•

pay dividends or make distributions on our capital stock;

•

sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;

•

agree to payment restrictions affecting our restricted subsidiaries;

•

consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all our assets;

•

enter into transactions with our affiliates;

•

incur liens; and

•

designate any of our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

The restrictions contained in the indenture governing the notes and the agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities also could limit our
ability to plan for, or react to, market conditions, meet capital needs or make acquisitions or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans.
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A breach of any of these restrictive covenants (to the extent applicable at such time), or our inability to comply with the required financial ratios, could
result in a default under the agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities. If a default occurs, the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities
may elect to:
•

declare all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable; or

•

prevent us from making unscheduled prepayments or payments on the notes,

either of which would result in an event of default under the indenture governing the notes. The lenders also have the right in these circumstances to terminate
any commitments they have to provide further borrowings. If we are unable to repay outstanding borrowings when due, the lenders under our senior secured
credit facilities also have the right to proceed against the collateral, including our available cash, granted to them to secure the indebtedness. If the
indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities and the notes were to be accelerated, we can give no assurance that our assets would be sufficient to
repay in full that indebtedness and our other indebtedness, including the notes.
Despite current indebtedness levels and restrictive covenants, we and our subsidiaries may incur additional indebtedness in the future. This could further
exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial financial leverage.
The indenture governing the notes and the senior secured credit facilities permit us to incur a substantial amount of additional debt, including secured
debt. Any additional borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities, and any other secured debt, would be effectively senior to the notes and any
guarantees thereof to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. If new debt is added to current debt levels, the risks that we now face as
a result of our leverage would intensify.
To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash and our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control.
Our ability to make cash payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, including the notes, and to fund planned capital expenditures, will depend on
our ability to generate significant operating cash flow in the future. This, to a significant extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive,
legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.
Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings may not be available under our senior secured credit facilities
in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness, including the notes, or to fund our other liquidity needs. In such circumstances, we may need to
refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. If we cannot service our indebtedness, we may need to take actions such as selling assets, seeking additional equity or reducing or delaying
capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments and alliances. Such actions, if necessary, may not be effected on commercially reasonable terms or at
all. The indenture governing the notes and our senior secured credit facilities restrict our ability to sell assets and use the proceeds from such sales.
If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or are otherwise unable to obtain funds necessary to meet required payments of principal, premium, if
any, and interest on our indebtedness, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the various covenants in the instruments governing our indebtedness (including
covenants in our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes), we could be in default under the terms of the agreements governing
such indebtedness. In the event of such default, the holders of such indebtedness could elect to declare all the funds borrowed thereunder to be due and
payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities could elect to terminate their commitments
thereunder, cease making further loans and institute foreclosure proceedings against our assets, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or
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liquidation. If our operating performance declines, we may need to obtain waivers in the future from the required lenders under our senior secured credit
facilities to avoid being in default. If we breach our covenants under our senior secured credit facilities and seek a waiver, we may not be able to obtain a
waiver from the required lenders. If this occurs, we would be in default under our senior secured credit facilities, the lenders could exercise their rights, as
described above, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
We are dependent upon our lenders for financing to execute our business strategy and meet our liquidity needs. If our lenders are unable to fund
borrowings under their credit commitments or we are unable to borrow, it could negatively impact our business.
In the current volatile credit market, there is risk that any lenders, even those with strong balance sheets and sound lending practices, could fail or refuse
to honor their legal commitments and obligations under existing credit commitments, including extending credit up to the maximum permitted by our senior
secured credit facilities and otherwise accessing capital or honoring loan commitments. If our lenders are unable to fund borrowings under their credit
commitments with us, or we are unable to borrow, it could be difficult in this environment to replace our senior secured credit facilities on similar terms.
Item 2.

Properties

United States. At September 30, 2011, we owned a total of approximately 2.8 million square feet, and leased approximately 2.1 million square feet, of
administrative, manufacturing, warehouse and distribution space in various locations in the United States and its territories. In addition, at September 30,
2011, we operated 443 Vitamin World retail locations in 43 states in the United States, Guam, Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Generally, we lease retail
properties for five to ten years at varying annual base rents and percentage rents. The Vitamin World retail stores have an average of approximately 1,230
square feet.
UK/Ireland. Holland & Barrett owns a 270,000 square foot administrative and distribution facility and a 133,220 square foot manufacturing facility in
Burton, United Kingdom. Holland & Barrett owns a 30,000 square foot administrative facility in Nuneaton, United Kingdom. Solgar leases 50,000 square feet
of administrative and distribution space in Tring, United Kingdom. We lease all but one of our 949 Holland & Barrett, GNC (UK), Julian Graves and Nature's
Way retail stores for varying terms, at varying annual base rents. Thirty-eight Holland & Barrett, four GNC (UK), 36 Julian Graves and 11 Nature's Way
stores are subject to percentage rents. Holland & Barrett stores have an average of approximately 971 square feet, Nature's Way stores have an average of
approximately 847 square feet; the GNC (UK) stores have an average of approximately 875 square feet, and the Julian Graves stores have an average of
approximately 672 square feet.
Netherlands. De Tuinen leases a 64,600 square foot administrative and distribution facility in Beverwijk. At September 30, 2011, De Tuinen leased
locations for 101 retail stores on varying terms at varying annual base rents. Of these, 91 are operated as company stores and eight are sub-leased to, and
operated by, franchisees. In addition, two franchisees operate a location that the franchisee leases directly from a third party landlord. No De Tuinen store is
subject to percentage rents. De Tuinen stores are an average of approximately 1,450 square feet.
Canada. At September 30, 2011, Le Naturiste leased a 40,500 square foot administrative facility, consisting of approximately 14,500 square feet of
administrative offices and 26,000 square feet of warehouse space, in Montreal, Quebec, and 80 retail locations throughout Canada. Le Naturiste stores each
have an average of approximately 766 square feet. Generally, Le Naturiste stores are generally leased for one to five years at varying annual base rents and
percentage rents. Vita Health owns a 185,000 square foot manufacturing, packaging, distribution and administration building in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Vita
Health also leases a 52,000 square foot distribution facility in Winnipeg, Manitoba.
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China. On May 14, 2010, our subsidiary, NBTY Global Hong Kong Limited, acquired Ultimate Biopharma (Zhongshan) Corporation ("Ultimate"), a
Chinese-foreign joint venture limited company that manufactures softgel capsules. Ultimate owns a 50,000 square foot facility in Zhongshan, China for
manufacturing softgel capsules and for administrative offices. In August 2010, Ultimate acquired approximately 20.5 acres of vacant land adjacent to the
manufacturing facility. During fiscal 2011, Ultimate leased 11,300 square feet of dormitory space in Zhongshan City. Also during fiscal 2011, one of our
subsidiaries entered into a lease, effective September 1, 2011, for 67,800 square feet of warehouse space in Beijing to replace a 32,300 square foot warehouse
that closed September 30, 2011.
The following is a listing, as of September 30, 2011, of all material properties that we own or lease (excluding retail locations, de minimis locations with
less than 4,000 square feet and temporary storage facilities leased for less than six months). We are required to pay real estate taxes and maintenance costs
relating to most of our leased properties. All our segments benefit from the use of our material properties.

Owned Properties

Location

United States:
Prescott, AZ
Boca Raton, FL(1)
Boca Raton, FL
Boca Raton, FL
Deerfield Beach, FL
Pompano Beach, FL
Augusta, GA
Carbondale, IL
Carbondale, IL
Murphysboro, IL
South Plainfield, NJ
Bayport, NY
Bayport, NY
Bohemia, NY
Bohemia, NY
Bohemia, NY
Bohemia, NY
Holbrook, NY
Holbrook, NY
N. Amityville, NY
N. Amityville, NY
Ronkonkoma, NY
Wilson, NC
Hazleton, PA
Canada:
Winnipeg, Manitoba
China:
Zhongshan
Zhongshan
(1)

Type of Facility

Approximate
Square Feet

Manufacturing
Administration
Manufacturing
Distribution
Packaging
Warehousing
Warehousing
Administration, Packaging & Distribution
Administration
Warehousing
Administration & Manufacturing
Administration & Storage
Manufacturing
Administration, Manufacturing & Packaging
Manufacturing
Manufacturing & Packaging
IT
Administration & Distribution
Packaging & Engineering
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Administration
Manufacturing
Distribution

65,000
58,000
84,000
100,000
157,000
62,000
400,000
77,000
15,000
62,000
68,000
12,000
161,500
169,000
80,000
75,000
42,000
230,000
108,000
48,300
57,000
110,000
125,000
413,600

Manufacturing, Packaging, Distribution & Administration

185,000

Manufacturing & Packaging
Vacant Land—approx. 20.5 acres

50,000

We currently lease several small offices in this building on a short-term basis to unaffiliated tenants.
(Table continued on next page)
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Location

United Kingdom:
Burton
Burton
Nuneaton

Type of Facility

Administration & Distribution
Manufacturing
Administration
Total approximate square feet owned

Approximate
Square Feet

270,000
133,200
30,000
3,447,600

Leased Properties

Location

United States:
Prescott, AZ
Bentonville, AR
Anaheim, CA
Anaheim, CA
Carson/Gardena, CA
Carson, CA
Carson, CA
Carson, CA
Garden Grove, CA
Garden Grove, CA
Valencia, CA
Valencia, CA
Naples, FL
Naples, FL
Naples, FL
Naples, FL
Naples, FL
Duluth, GA(1)
Murphysboro, IL
Sparks, NV
Leonia, NJ
Leonia, NJ
Lyndhurst, NJ
South Plainfield, NJ
Piscataway, NJ
Bohemia, NY
Ronkonkoma, NY
Ronkonkoma, NY
Canada:
Burnaby, British Columbia
Montreal, Quebec
Montreal, Quebec
Winnipeg, Manitoba
(1)

Type of Facility

Warehousing (term–2015)
Sales Office (term–February 2012)
Administration, Manufacturing, Packaging & Distribution (term–2013)
Manufacturing (term–2013)
Warehousing & Distribution (term–May 2012)
Administration & Packaging (term–2014)
Distribution (term–2014)
Manufacturing (term–2012)
Manufacturing & Packaging (term–December 2016)
Warehousing (term–2013)
Manufacturing (term–2012)
Manufacturing (term–2012)
Manufacturing (term–February 2013)
Manufacturing (term–February 2016)
Warehousing (term–month to month)
Manufacturing (term–February 2016)
Manufacturing (term–February 2016)
Warehousing & Distribution (term–October 2011)
Warehousing (term–2012)
Distribution (term–2014)
Administration & Manufacturing (term–July 2016)
Warehousing, Packaging & Admin. (term–2012)
Administration, Packaging & Distribution (term–2017)
Packaging (term–2013)
Warehousing (term–2012)
Administration & Warehousing (term–2020)
Warehousing (term–November 2013)
Warehousing (term–2014)
Admin., Warehousing & Distribution (term–2017)
Warehousing (term–2018)
Administration (term–2018)
Warehousing & Administration (term–2017)

Approximate
Square Feet

29,000
4,200
286,100
64,000
10,600
267,500
204,000
150,400
140,000
54,000
20,500
32,000
14,700
7,000
4,800
18,000
5,000
32,000
30,000
201,300
49,500
18,500
130,000
40,000
15,000
110,000
83,600
75,000
19,000
26,000
14,500
52,000

This facility was closed on October 31, 2011.
(Table continued on next page)
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Location

China:
Beijing
Beijing(1)
Beijing(2)
Zhongshan City
United Kingdom:
Burton
Nuneaton
Tring
Tring
Netherlands:
Beverwijk
New Zealand:
Auckland
South Africa:
Randburg
Spain:
Madrid

Type of Facility

Approximate
Square Feet

Offices (term–August 2012)
Warehousing (terminated September 2011)
Warehousing (term–2014)
Dormitory (term–2012)

7,080
32,300
67,800
11,300

Offices & Warehouse (term–2024)
Administration (term–2012)
Administration & Warehousing (term–2016)
Warehousing, Distribution & Offices (term–2016)

43,300
8,300
25,000
25,000

Administration & Distribution (term–2020)

64,600

Offices & Warehousing (term–2012)
Offices & Warehousing (term–June 2012)
Administration & Distribution (term–Dec. 2011)
Total approximate square feet leased
Total approximate square feet owned and leased

4,800
13,800
6,500
2,485,680
5,933,280

(1)

The lease for this warehouse has been terminated, effective September 30, 2011. The square footage of this facility is not included in
the Total approximate square feet leased or the Total Approximate square feet owned and leased.

(2)

This warehouse is new, effective September 1, 2011, and replaced a smaller one which closed September 30, 2011.

Warehousing and Distribution
As of September 30, 2011, we had approximately 3.4 million square feet dedicated primarily to warehousing and distribution. This figure includes our
facilities in Long Island, New York; Carbondale and Murphysboro, Illinois; Carson, Garden Grove and Gardena, California; Augusta and Duluth, Georgia;
Piscataway, Lyndhurst and Leonia, New Jersey; Boca Raton, Naples and Pompano Beach, Florida; Sparks, Nevada; Hazleton, Pennsylvania; Prescott,
Arizona; Burton and Tring, United Kingdom; Winnipeg, Manitoba; Montreal, Quebec, and Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada; Madrid, Spain; Randburg,
South Africa; Auckland, New Zealand; Beverwijk, Netherlands and Beijing, Guangshou, Shanghai and Shenzhen China.
Our Direct Response/Puritan's Pride orders are handled by our domestic distribution center that is integrated with our order entry systems so we typically
ship out orders within 24 hours of their receipt. Once a customer's telephone, mail or internet order is completed, our computer system forwards the order to
our distribution center, where all necessary distribution and shipping documents are printed to facilitate processing. Then, the orders are prepared, picked,
packed and shipped continually throughout the business day. We operate a proprietary, state-of-the-art, automated picking and packing system for frequently
shipped items. We are capable of fulfilling 16,000 Direct Response/Puritan's Pride orders daily. A system of conveyors automatically routes boxes carrying
merchandise throughout our primary Long Island distribution center for fulfillment of orders. Completed orders are bar-coded and scanned and the
merchandise and ship date are verified and entered automatically into the customer order file
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for access by sales associates before shipment. We currently ship our U.S. orders primarily through the United Parcel Service, Inc., serving domestic markets.
In Canada, we currently use various common carriers for shipments, and we primarily use Global Mail for international markets. Holland & Barrett and GNC
(UK) use Royal Mail, the U.K. national postal service, and Yodel for deliveries in the United Kingdom, Julian Graves uses APC Overnight for deliveries in
the United Kingdom, and Nature's Way uses An Post, the Irish national postal service, for deliveries in Ireland. De Tuinen uses ABC Mail for deliveries in the
Netherlands.
We currently distribute our products to our retail stores from our distribution centers through Company-owned trucks, as well as contract and common
carriers in the United States, Canada, Ireland, Netherlands, New Zealand, China, South Africa, Spain and the U.K. Deliveries are made directly to Vitamin
World and Le Naturiste stores once per week or once every other week, depending on the needs at various store locations. Deliveries are made directly to
Company-owned and operated Holland & Barrett, GNC (UK), Julian Graves, Nature's Way, and De Tuinen stores once or twice per week, depending on each
store's inventory requirements. In addition, we ship products overseas in pallet amounts and by container loads. We also operate additional distribution centers
in Burton and Tring, United Kingdom; Madrid, Spain; Auckland, New Zealand; Randburg, South Africa; Beverwijk, Netherlands; and Beijing, China.
All our properties are covered by all-risk and liability insurance, in amounts and on terms that we believe are customary for our industry.
We believe that these properties, taken as a whole, are generally well-maintained, and are adequate for current and reasonably foreseeable business
needs. We also believe that substantially all our properties are being utilized to a significant degree.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

Stock Purchases
On May 11, 2010, a putative class-action, captioned John F. Hutchins v. NBTY, Inc., et al, was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District
of New York, against NBTY and certain current and former officers, claiming that the defendants made false material statements, or concealed adverse
material facts, for the purpose of causing members of the class to purchase NBTY stock at allegedly artificially inflated prices. An amended complaint,
seeking unspecified compensatory damages, attorneys' fees and costs, was served on February 1, 2011. The Company moved to dismiss the amended
complaint on March 18, 2011 and that motion is pending. We believe the claims to be without merit and intend to vigorously defend this action. At this time,
however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of any of the defendants.
Employment Class Actions
On or about July 7, 2010, a putative class action captioned Hamilton and Taylor v. Vitamin World, Inc. was filed against one of our subsidiaries in the
Alameda Superior Court, California. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of employees in connection with several causes of action alleging, among other things,
wage and hour violations. Plaintiffs describe the class as all non-exempt current and former employees of Vitamin World Stores in California. The complaint
seeks compensatory damages, statutory penalties, restitution, disgorgement of profits, and attorneys' fees and costs in unidentified amounts. To date, the
Plaintiffs have filed an amended complaint and discovery is ongoing. The Company challenges the validity of the claims and intends to vigorously defend this
action. At this time, however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of the
defendant. In addition, on or about October 27, 2010, a different set of plaintiffs filed an action captioned Hickman v. Vitamin World, Inc. in Solano County
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Superior Court, California. Vitamin World filed a demurrer and motion to abate that action because it is identical to the instant Hamilton complaint and the
Hickman action was dismissed on May 31, 2011.
On or about April 8, 2010, a putative class action captioned Dirickson v. NBTY Acquisition, LLC, NBTY Manufacturing, LLC, NBTY, Inc., and Volt
Management Corporation ("Volt") was filed against the Company and certain subsidiaries in the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles. Volt is
not related to the Company. Plaintiff seeks to represent a class of employees in connection with several causes of action alleging, among other things, wage
and hour violations. The complaint seeks damages on behalf of all non-exempt employees within the State of California who worked for Volt or any of the
NBTY entities between April 8, 2006 and April 8, 2010, including compensatory damages, unpaid wages, statutory penalties, restitution, unspecified
injunctive relief, unjust enrichment and attorneys' fees and costs in unidentified amounts. The NBTY entities have entered into settlement discussions with the
plaintiffs, and those discussions are ongoing. Until such settlement is finalized, however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the
litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of the defendant.
Claims in the Ordinary Course
In addition to the foregoing, other regulatory inquiries, claims, suits and complaints (including product liability, intellectual property and Proposition 65
claims) arise from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. We believe that such other inquiries, claims, suits and complaints would not have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations, if adversely determined against us.
Item 4.

[Removed and Reserved]
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market for Common Stock
As of the date of this Report, we are a wholly-owned subsidiary of an affiliate of Carlyle, and there is no public market for our common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our incorporation. Future determination as to the payment of cash or stock dividends
will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, restrictions contained in our senior secured credit facilities, limitations
contained in the notes, and such other factors as our Board considers appropriate.
The senior secured credit facilities prohibit our paying dividends or making any other distributions to our stockholder, subject to some exceptions. The
indenture under which our notes were issued similarly prohibits our paying dividends or making any other distributions to our stockholder, subject to some
exceptions.
For additional information regarding these lending arrangements and securities, see Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources," and Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this Report.
For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2011, see Item 12, "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" in this Report.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

Fiscal Years Ended September 30,
Successor(1)
2011

Selected Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and catalog
Selling, general and administrative
Merger expenses
IT project termination costs
Income from operations
Interest expense
Miscellaneous, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Selected Balance Sheet Data:
Working Capital (including cash and cash
equivalents)
Total assets
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Total stockholders' equity
(1)

Predecessor
2010

2009
(In thousands)

2008

2007

$2,958,491 $2,826,737 $2,581,950 $2,179,469 $2,014,506
1,683,486 1,521,555 1,458,437 1,102,169
152,915
137,556
110,098
140,479
843,645
767,946
737,786
700,209
44,479
45,903
—
—
—
—
11,718
—
233,966
353,777
263,911
236,612
(195,537) (30,195) (34,882) (18,639)
1,480
4,133
(61)
13,067
39,909
327,715
228,968
231,040
9,990
114,045
83,239
77,889
$ 29,919 $ 213,670 $ 145,729 $ 153,151 $

966,784
120,126
619,995
—
—
307,601
(16,749)
13,124
303,976
96,044
207,932

$ 899,698 $ 849,338 $ 674,439 $ 573,402 $ 564,952
5,095,556 2,200,768 1,960,221 1,936,358 1,534,935
2,369,375
341,128
437,629
538,402
210,106
1,536,895 1,379,953 1,127,825
998,196 1,055,970

On October 1, 2010 we consummated the Merger which required us to record purchase accounting adjustments that primarily impacted
cost of sales due to recording the acquired inventory to fair value of $122,104, depreciation and amortization expense within our
selling, general and administrative costs due to the recording of our property plant and equipment and various intangible assets to fair
value as well as additional interest expense relating to the additional long-term debt associated with the Merger. (See Note 3 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding the Merger.)
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Item 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations covers periods before and after the Transactions, as defined
below. Accordingly, the discussion and analysis of periods before October 1, 2010 do not reflect the significant impact that the Transactions and Refinancing
have had on us, including increased levels of indebtedness and the impact of purchase accounting. In addition, the statements in the discussion and analysis
regarding industry outlook, our expectations regarding the performance of our business and the forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks
and uncertainties, including, the risks and uncertainties described in this Report under the heading "Risk Factors." Our actual results may differ materially
from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking statements. You should read the following discussion together with the section entitled "Risk
Factors," and the consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, contained elsewhere herein. All references to years, unless otherwise noted,
refer to our fiscal years, which end on September 30. All dollar values in this section, unless otherwise noted, are denoted in thousands. Numerical figures
have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, numerical figures shown as totals in various tables may not be arithmetic aggregations of the figures
that precede them.
Carlyle Transaction
On October 1, 2010, NBTY consummated the Merger with an affiliate of Carlyle under which the Carlyle affiliate acquired 100% of NBTY for a net
purchase price of $3,635,949. The purchase price was funded through the net proceeds of our $1,750,000 senior secured credit facilities, the issuance of
$650,000 notes and a cash equity contribution of $1,550,000 from an affiliate of Carlyle. We also refer to the Merger as the "Acquisition" and together with
the Refinancing as the "Transactions." For a detailed discussion of the Transactions, see Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
September 30, 2011 contained elsewhere herein.
As a result of the Acquisition and the application of purchase accounting, our assets and liabilities have been adjusted to their fair market values as of
October 1, 2010, the closing date of the Acquisition. In addition, we incurred certain acquisition related expenses during the years ended September 30, 2011
and 2010. Specifically, in fiscal 2011our cost of sales increased due to the increased carrying value of our fixed assets and inventory and our selling, general
and administrative expenses increased due to the increased depreciation and amortization of our property plant and equipment and intangible assets.
Additionally, as discussed below in "—Liquidity and Capital Resources," we incurred significant indebtedness in connection with the consummation of
the Acquisition, and our total indebtedness and related interest expense is significantly higher than before the Acquisition.
Executive Summary
We are the leading global vertically integrated manufacturer, distributor and retailer of a broad line of high-quality vitamins, nutritional supplements and
related products in the United States, with operations worldwide. We currently market approximately 25,000 SKUs under numerous owned and private-label
brands, including Nature's Bounty®, Ester-C®, Solgar®, MET-Rx®, American Health®, Osteo Bi-Flex®, Flex-A-Min®, SISU®, Knox®, Sundown®, Pure
Protein®, Body Fortress®, Worldwide Sport Nutrition®, Natural Wealth®, Puritan's Pride®, Holland & Barrett®, GNC (UK)®, Physiologics®, Le
Naturiste®, De Tuinen®, Julian Graves® and Vitamin World®. Our vertical integration includes purchasing raw materials and formulating and
manufacturing products, which we then market through the following four channels of distribution.
•

Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition—This segment distributes products under various brand names and third-party private labels, each targeting specific
market groups which include virtually all major
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mass merchandisers, club stores, drug store chains and supermarkets. This segment also sells products to independent pharmacies, health food
stores, the military and other retailers.
•

European Retail—This segment generates revenue through its 660 Holland & Barrett stores (including seven franchised stores in Singapore, six
franchised stores in Cyprus, two franchised stores in Malta and one franchised store in each of South Africa, Hungary and United Arab
Emirates), 217 Julian Graves stores and 49 GNC (UK) stores in the U.K., 101 De Tuinen stores (including 10 franchised locations) in the
Netherlands and 41 Nature's Way stores in Ireland. This revenue consists of sales of proprietary brand and third-party products as well as
franchise fees.

•

Direct Response/E-Commerce—This segment generates revenue through the sale of proprietary brand and third-party products primarily through
mail order catalog and the internet. Catalogs are strategically mailed to customers who order by mail, internet, or phone.

•

North American Retail—This segment generates revenue through its 443 owned and operated Vitamin World stores selling proprietary brand and
third-party products and through its Canadian operation of 80 owned and operated Le Naturiste stores.

Operating data for each of the four distribution channels does not include the impact of any intercompany transfer pricing mark-up, corporate general and
administrative expenses, interest expense and other miscellaneous income/expense items. Corporate general and administrative expenses include human
resources, legal, finance and various other corporate-level activity related expenses. We attribute such unallocated expenses to corporate.
We have continued to grow through our marketing practices and through a series of strategic acquisitions. Since 1986, we have acquired and successfully
integrated more than 30 companies or businesses engaged in the manufacturing, retail and direct response sale of nutritional supplements, including:
•

Fiscal 1997: Holland & Barrett;

•

Fiscal 1998: Nutrition Headquarters Group;

•

Fiscal 2000: Nutrition Warehouse Group;

•

Fiscal 2001: Global Health Sciences, NatureSmart and Nature's Way;

•

Fiscal 2002: Healthcentral.com, Knox NutraJoint®, and Synergy Plus® product lines/operations;

•

Fiscal 2003: Rexall Sundown Inc., Health and Diet Group Ltd. ("GNC (UK)"), FSC Wholesale, and the De Tuinen chain of retail stores;

•

Fiscal 2005: Le Naturiste Jean-Marc Brunet ("Le Naturiste"), SISU, Inc. ("SISU") and Solgar Inc. ("Solgar"), formerly a division of Wyeth
Consumer Healthcare;

•

Fiscal 2007: The Ester-C Company, formerly Zila Nutraceuticals, Inc.;

•

Fiscal 2008: Doctor's Trust, Leiner Health Products, Inc. and Julian Graves;

•

Fiscal 2010: Ultimate Biopharma (Zhongshan) Corporation; and

•

Fiscal 2011: Vitarich Laboratories, Inc. and Sun Valley Natural Products, LLC.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP") requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
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of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These judgments can be subjective and complex, and
consequently actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. As with any set of assumptions and estimates, there is a range of reasonably likely
amounts that may be reported.
The following critical accounting policies have been identified as those that affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize product revenue when title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement to deliver a
product, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The delivery terms for most sales within the
Wholesale U.S. Nutrition and Direct Response/E-Commerce segments are F.O.B. destination. Generally, title and risk of loss transfer to the customer at the
time the product is received by the customer. With respect to our retail store operations, we recognize revenue upon sale of products to customers. Net sales
represent gross sales invoiced to customers, less certain related charges for discounts, returns, and other promotional program incentive allowances.
Allowance for Sales Returns
Estimates for sales returns are based on a variety of factors, including actual return experience of specific products or similar products. We are able to
make reasonable and reliable estimates of product returns based on our 40-year history in this business. We also review our estimates for product returns
based on expected return data communicated to us by customers. Additionally, we monitor the levels of inventory at our largest customers to avoid excessive
customer stocking of merchandise. Allowances for returns of new products are estimated by reviewing data of any prior relevant new product introduction
return information. We also monitor the buying patterns of the end-users of our products based on sales data received by our retail outlets in North America
and Europe. Historically, the difference in the amount of actual returns compared to our estimate has not been significant.
Promotional Program Incentive Allowance
We estimate our allowance for promotional program incentives based on specific outstanding marketing programs and historical experience. The
allowance for sales incentives offered to customers is based on various contractual terms or other arrangements agreed to in advance with certain customers.
Generally, customers earn such incentives as they achieve sales volumes. We accrue these incentives as a reduction to sales either at the time of sale or over
the period of time in which they are earned, depending on the nature of the program. Historically, we have not experienced material adjustments to the
estimate of our promotional program incentive allowance and we do not expect that there will be a material change in the future estimates and assumptions we
use.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We perform on-going credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment history and the customers' current
creditworthiness, as determined by our review of current credit information. We estimate bad debt expense based upon historical experience as well as
customer collection issues to adjust the carrying amount of the related receivable to its estimated realizable value. While such bad debt expense historically
has been within expectations and allowances established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we
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had in the past. If the financial condition of one or more of our customers were to deteriorate, additional bad debt expense may be required.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in first-out method) or market. The cost elements of inventories include materials, labor and overhead.
We use standard costs for labor and overhead and periodically adjust those standards. In evaluating whether inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market, we consider such factors as the amount of inventory on hand, estimated time required to sell such inventory, remaining shelf life and current and
expected market conditions, including levels of competition. Based on this evaluation, we record an adjustment to cost of goods sold to reduce inventories to
net realizable value. These adjustments are estimates, which could vary significantly, either favorably or unfavorably, from actual requirements if future
economic conditions, customer demand or competition differ from expectations.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Expenditures which significantly improve or extend the life of an asset are
capitalized and depreciated over the asset's remaining useful life. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the related assets or the remaining lease term. Upon sale or disposition, the related cost and accumulated depreciation
are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in earnings.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators are present. Furthermore, we
evaluate the need for an impairment charge relating to long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset may not be recoverable. We consider the following to be some examples of important indicators that may trigger an impairment review: (i) a history of
cash flow losses at retail stores; (ii) significant changes in the manner or use of the acquired assets in our overall business strategy; (iii) significant negative
industry or economic trends; (iv) increased competitive pressures; and (v) regulatory changes.
Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to
reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. These evaluations require the use of
judgment as to the effects of external factors and market conditions on our operations, and they require the use of estimates in projecting future operating
results. If actual external conditions or future operating results differ from our judgments, impairment charges may be necessary to reduce the carrying value
of the subject assets. The estimated fair value of an asset could vary, depending upon the different valuation methods employed, as well as assumptions made.
This may result in an impairment of the intangible assets and/or goodwill. An impairment charge would reduce operating income in the period it was
determined that the charge was needed. We test goodwill annually unless an event occurs that would cause us to believe the value is impaired at an interim
date. In conjunction with the Acquisition, we changed our annual impairment testing date to July 1, the first day of our fourth quarter, from September 30, the
last day of our fourth quarter, which is the date it had been evaluated the preceding year.
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Acquired intangible assets with finite lives are tested by determining the recoverability of the intangible assets. This is based on an estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of an impairment loss is based on the fair value
of the asset.
No impairment adjustments were deemed necessary as a result of the July 1, 2011 and the September 30, 2010 goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets impairment testing. Generally, a 10% change in the estimate of fair value would not have impacted our assessment.
Stock-Based Compensation
We record the fair value of stock-based compensation awards as an expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis for all time vesting awards, at
the time performance is achieved or probable to be achieved for all performance based awards. To determine the fair value of stock options on the date of
grant, we apply the Monte Carlo Simulation option-pricing model, including an estimate of forfeitures. Inherent in this model are assumptions related to
expected stock-price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected life and dividend yield. Expected stock-price volatility is based on our peer groups' historical
daily price changes of the underlying stock which are obtained from public data sources. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury issues with a
term equal to the expected life of the option. We use historical data to estimate expected dividend yield, expected life and forfeiture rates.
Derivatives and Hedging Activities
All derivative financial instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and measurement of those instruments is
at fair value. Changes in the fair values of those derivatives are reported in earnings or other comprehensive income depending on the designation of the
derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. For derivatives that have been formally designated as cash flow hedges (interest rate swap
agreements), the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings when
interest expense on the underlying borrowings is recognized. For hedges of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries (cross currency swap agreements),
changes in fair value of the derivative are recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss) to offset the change in the value of the net investment being hedged.
We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Income Taxes
We record the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as tax credit carrybacks and carryforwards. We periodically review the recoverability of deferred tax
assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide valuation allowances as we deem necessary to reduce such deferred tax assets to the amount that will, more
likely than not, be realized. We make judgments as to the interpretation of the tax laws that might be challenged upon an audit and cause changes to previous
estimates of tax liability. In addition, we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions. In our opinion, adequate
provisions for income taxes have been made for all years. If actual taxable income by tax jurisdiction varies from estimates, additional allowances or reversals
of reserves may be necessary.
Accruals for Litigation and Other Contingencies
We are subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to various matters. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. We determine the amount of reserves needed, if any, for each
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individual issue based on our knowledge and experience and discussions with legal counsel. These reserves may change in the future due to new
developments in each matter (including the enactment of new laws), the ultimate resolution of each matter or changes in approach, such as a change in
settlement strategy. In some instances, we may be unable to make a reasonable estimate of the liabilities that may result from the final resolution of certain
contingencies disclosed and accordingly, no reserve is recorded until such time that a reasonable estimate may be made.

Results of Operations
Operating results in all periods presented include the results of acquired businesses from the date of acquisition. The timing of those acquisitions and the
changing mix of businesses as acquired companies are integrated may affect the comparability of results from one period to another.
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated, the consolidated statements of income items expressed as a percentage of total net sales.
Percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding.

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor
2011

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and catalog
Selling, general and administrative
Merger expenses
IT project termination costs
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest
Miscellaneous, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Income
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Predecessor
2010

2009

100%

100%

100%

56.9%
5.2%
28.5%
1.5%
0.0%
92.1%
7.9%

53.8%
4.9%
27.2%
1.6%
0.0%
87.5%
12.5%

56.5%
4.3%
28.6%
0.0%
0.5%
89.8%
10.2%

-6.6%
0.1%
-6.6%
1.3%
0.3%
1.0%

-1.1%
0.1%
-0.9%
11.6%
4.0%
7.6%

-1.4%
0.0%
-1.4%
8.9%
3.2%
5.6%
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010
Net Sales
Net sales by segment for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 were as follows:

Net Sales by Segment
Fiscal year ended September 30,
2011

2010

Successor
Segment

Net Sales

Wholesale/U.S.
$1,764,755
Nutrition
711,180
European Retail
Direct Response/E257,466
Commerce
225,090
North American Retail
$2,958,491
Net sales
Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition

Predecessor

% of total

Net Sales

% of total

$ change % change

59.7%$1,734,860
24.0% 645,250

61.4%$ 29,895
22.8% 65,930

1.7%
10.2%

8.7% 233,972
7.6% 212,655
100.0%$2,826,737

8.3% 23,494
7.5% 12,435
100.0%$131,754

10.0%
5.8%
4.7%

Net sales for the Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment were $1,764,755 for fiscal 2011 as compared to $1,734,860 for fiscal 2010. The increase of $29,895
or 1.7% was primarily attributable to:
•

$100,578 from domestic branded products, primarily driven by continued growth in key brands (such as Nature's Bounty®) and the sports
nutrition brands (such as Pure Protein® and Body Fortress®),

•

($105,138) from domestic private label products (including Contract Manufacturing), primarily driven by the highly competitive environment in
the Private Label business, as well as lower sales from certain Contract Manufacturing agreements, and

•

$34,455 from international sales.

We continue to adjust shelf space allocation between the Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition brands to provide the best overall product mix and to respond to
changing market conditions. These efforts have helped to strengthen Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition's position in the mass market. Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition
continues to leverage valuable consumer sales information obtained from our Vitamin World retail stores and Direct Response/E-Commerce operations to
provide our mass-market customers with data and analyses to drive mass market sales.
We use targeted promotions to grow overall sales. Promotional programs and rebates were $290,663, or 14.0% of sales for fiscal 2011, as compared to
$246,654, or 12.3% of sales for fiscal 2010.
Product returns were $27,562, or 1.3% of sales for fiscal 2011 as compared to $25,203, or 1.3% of sales for fiscal 2010. The product returns for fiscal
2011 and fiscal 2010 were mainly attributable to returns in the ordinary course of business. We expect returns relating to normal operations to trend between
1% to 2% of Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition sales in future quarters.
One customer, Wal-Mart, represented 25% and 27% of the Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment's net sales for fiscal 2011 and 2010, respectively. It also
represented 15% and 16% of consolidated net sales for fiscal 2011 and 2010, respectively. The loss of this customer, or any of our other major customers,
would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations if we were unable to replace that customer.
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European Retail
Net sales for this segment increased $65,930, or 10.2%, to $711,180 in fiscal 2011 from $645,250 for fiscal 2010, primarily driven by price increases and
promotions as well as a favorable foreign exchange rate. For fiscal 2011 same store sales in U.S. dollars increased 7.1%, or $41,232, as compared to fiscal
2010. In local currency, net sales increased 7.0% and same-store sales increased 3.9% as compared to fiscal 2010. Same-store sales growth is computed on
stores that operated for a comparative 12 month period, under the same name and in the same location. Converted stores are excluded from the same-store
calculation until there is comparative data under the same name. During fiscal 2011 and 2010, twenty-six and sixty-seven Julian Graves stores, respectively
were converted to either Holland & Barrett, GNC (UK) or Nature's Way stores.
The following is a summary of European Retail store activity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

Fiscal
2011
Successor

European Retail stores:

Fiscal
2010
Predecessor

Company-owned stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Acquired during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

1,035
31
3
(29)
1,040

1,004
43
6
(18)
1,035

Franchised stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

22
10
(4)
28

28
8
(14)
22

1,057
41
3
(33)
1,068

1,032
51
6
(32)
1,057

Total company-owned and franchised stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Acquired during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period
Direct Response/E-Commerce

Direct Response/E-Commerce net sales increased $23,494, or 10.0%, to $257,466 in fiscal 2011 from $233,972 in fiscal 2010, due to strong on-line
sales, which were partially offset by a decline in catalog sales. The total number of orders increased approximately 10.4% and the average order size remained
consistent for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010. On-line net sales comprised 60.6% of this segment's net sales for fiscal 2011 as compared to 55.6% for
fiscal 2010.
This segment continues to vary its promotional strategy throughout the fiscal year, utilizing highly promotional catalogs which are not offered in every
quarter.
North American Retail
Net sales for this segment increased $12,435, or 5.8%, to $225,090 in fiscal 2011. Same-store sales increased 4.9%. Same-store sales growth was driven
by strong performance at the Vitamin World
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stores. Same-store sales growth is computed on stores that operated for a comparative 12 month period, under the same name and in the same location.
The following is a summary of North American Retail store activity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

Fiscal
2011

North American Retail stores:

Fiscal
2010

Vitamin World
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

457
2
(16)
443

442
21
(6)
457

Le Naturiste
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

81
—
(1)
80

86
—
(5)
81

Total North American Retail
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

538
2
(17)
523

528
21
(11)
538

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 was as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

$ Change

% Change

$
1,683,486
$
1,521,555
$
161,931
10.6%
Cost of Sales
56.9%
53.8%
Percentage of net sales
The increase in cost of sales relates primarily to an adjustment of $122,104 to acquired inventory to its fair value as required under purchase accounting
in connection with the Acquisition, resulting in a one-time increase in cost of sales as the acquired inventory was sold during the first quarter. Excluding this
adjustment, the decrease in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales (52.8%) is attributable to a higher proportion of branded product sales as compared to the
prior comparable period, which traditionally have higher gross profit margins than private label product sales, partially offset by higher costs of certain raw
materials.
Due to the competitive pressure in the private label business, we anticipate that cost of sales for our private label business as a percentage of net sales
will increase in future quarters. This should adversely affect gross profits during future periods. To address this issue, we are in the process of implementing
additional improvements in supply chain management and we are continuing to increase our focus on our branded sales.
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Advertising, Promotion and Catalog Expenses
Total advertising, promotion and catalog expenses for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

$ Change

$ 152,915
$
137,556 $ 15,359
Advertising, promotion and catalog
5.2%
4.9%
Percentage of net sales
The increase in advertising, promotion and catalog expense is primarily due to media and website advertising.

% Change

11.2%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

$ Change

% Change

$ 843,645
$
767,946 $ 75,699
9.9%
Selling, general and administrative
28.5%
27.2%
Percentage of net sales
SG&A costs increased by $75,699 compared to fiscal 2010 due to higher amortization expense of $29,209 associated with the increased value of tradenames and customer relationship intangible assets recorded in purchase accounting as a result of the Acquisition; increased payroll and payroll related costs of
approximately $17,678; and higher rent and related utilities expenses of approximately $9,803, primarily associated with new store openings in the European
Retail segment. In addition, freight costs increased approximately $10,466 due to higher fuel costs, and sales and professional fees increased by $5,686.
Merger Expenses
In connection with the Acquisition described above, we incurred charges of $44,479 in fiscal 2011 and $45,903 in fiscal 2010. For fiscal 2011, these
charges consisted of $15,660 in financing costs associated with an unused bridge loan, $14,324 for a portion of the transaction fee paid to Carlyle and $14,495
of other Merger related costs. In fiscal 2010, these charges consisted of $29,761 primarily related to legal and professional advisory services and $16,142 of
incremental stock-based compensation expense as a result of the mandatory acceleration of vesting of all unvested stock options and restricted stock units in
connection with the Acquisition.
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Income from Operations
Income from operations for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, was as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor

Predecessor

2011

Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition
European Retail
Direct Response/E-Commerce
North American Retail
Corporate
Total

$

$

2010

283,775
118,770
59,193
11,669
(239,441)
233,966

$

$

$ Change

292,991
100,865
68,018
10,031
(118,128)
353,777

$

$

% Change

(9,216)
17,905
(8,825)
1,638
(121,313)
(119,811)

-3.1%
17.8%
-13.0%
16.3%
102.7%
-33.9%

7.9%
12.5%
Percentage of net sales
The decrease in Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition income from operations is primarily due to higher amortization of intangible assets resulting from the
Acquisition offset by higher operating income. The increase in the European Retail segment was related to the increase in sales partially offset by higher
SG&A costs (primarily payroll and store occupancy costs). The decrease in Direct Response/E-Commerce income from operations was primarily due to
higher freight costs and higher amortization of definite lived intangible assets, offset by higher sales and gross profits. The increase in the North American
Retail income was a result of higher sales partially offset by various increases in SG&A (primarily payroll and professional fees). The increase in the expenses
included in the Corporate segment relate to the Merger expenses described above as well as an increase in payroll and payroll related costs and $122,104 to
record acquired inventory to its fair value as required under purchase accounting in connection with the Acquisition.
Interest Expense
Interest expense increased by $165,342 to $195,537 due to higher borrowings associated with the Acquisition described above.
Miscellaneous, net
The components of miscellaneous, net were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor

Predecessor

2011

Foreign exchange gains
Investment income
Rental income
Other
Total

$

$

2010

115
617
—
748
1,480

$

$

$ Change

1,108
711
581
1,733
4,133

$

$

(993)
(94)
(581)
(985)
(2,653)

Miscellaneous, net decreased primarily due to unrealized foreign exchange gains on intercompany balances for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010, as
well as an insurance settlement received in 2010.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes was impacted by a number of factors, including federal taxes, our international tax structure, state tax rates in the
jurisdictions where we conduct business, and our ability to utilize state tax credits that expire between 2013 and 2016. Therefore, our overall effective income
tax rate could vary as a result of these factors. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2011 was 25.0%, compared to 34.8% in the prior fiscal year. The fiscal
2011 effective tax rate is lower than the fiscal 2010 effective tax rate primarily due to the domestic loss for fiscal 2011 due to $122,104 inventory costs
associated with the Acquisition as well as $44,479 of Merger costs. Due to these additional costs, certain foreign benefits and other deductions which offset
the tax expense became higher in proportion to the net tax expense and thus decreased the effective tax rate for fiscal 2011.
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2009
Net Sales
Net sales by segment for fiscal 2010 as compared to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 were as follows:

Net Sales by Segment
Fiscal year ended September 30,
2010
Segment

Net Sales

Wholesale/U.S.
$1,734,860
Nutrition
645,250
European Retail
Direct Response/E233,972
Commerce
212,655
North American Retail
$2,826,737
Net sales
Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition

2009

% of total

Net Sales

% of total

$ change % change

61.4%$1,557,089
22.8% 601,574

60.3%$177,771
23.3% 43,676

11.4%
7.3%

8.3% 221,409
7.5% 201,878
100.0%$2,581,950

8.6% 12,563
7.8% 10,777
100.0%$244,787

5.7%
5.3%
9.5%

Net sales for the Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment were $1,734,860 for fiscal 2010, as compared to $1,557,089 for fiscal 2009. The increase of
$177,771 or 11.4% was primarily attributable to:
•

$103,225 from domestic branded products, primarily driven by continued growth in key brands such as (Nature's Bounty®) and the sports
nutrition brands (such as Pure Protein® and Body Fortress®),

•

$37,122 from domestic private label products, primarily driven by increased sales to existing customers, and

•

$37,424 from international sales.

We use targeted promotions to grow overall sales. Promotional programs and rebates were $246,654, or 12.3% of sales for fiscal 2010, as compared to
$174,731, or 9.9% of sales for fiscal 2009. We expect promotional programs and rebates as a percentage of sales to fluctuate on a quarterly basis. This
increase is a result of the industry focus on driving increased revenues through enhanced promotional activity.
Product returns were $25,203, or 1.3% of sales for fiscal 2010, as compared to $31,514 or 1.8% of sales for fiscal 2009. The product returns for fiscal
2010 and fiscal 2009 were mainly attributable to returns in the ordinary course of business.
One customer, Wal-Mart, represented 27% and 30% of the Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition segment's net sales for fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. It also
represented 16% and 18% of consolidated net sales
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for fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. The loss of this customer, or any of our other major customers, would have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations if we were unable to replace that customer.
European Retail
Net sales for this segment increased $43,676, or 7.3%, to $645,250 in fiscal 2010 from $601,574 in fiscal 2009. Same store sales in U.S. dollars
increased 4.3%, or $23,779, as compared to fiscal 2009. In local currency, net sales increased 6.7% and same store sales increased 3.7% as compared to fiscal
2009. Same-store sales growth is computed on stores that operated for a comparative 12 month period, under the same name and in the same location. During
fiscal 2010, 67 Julian Graves stores were converted to either Holland & Barrett, GNC (UK) or Nature's Way stores.
The following is a summary of European Retail store activity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009:

Fiscal
2010

European Retail stores:

Fiscal
2009

Company-owned stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Acquired during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

1,004
43
6
(18)
1,035

975
28
3
(2)
1,004

Franchised stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

28
8
(14)
22

22
9
(3)
28

1,032
51
6
(32)
1,057

997
37
3
(5)
1,032

Total company-owned and franchised stores
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Acquired during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period
Direct Response/E-Commerce

Direct Response/E-Commerce net sales increased $12,563, or 5.7%, for fiscal 2010. The total number of orders increased approximately 9% and the
average order size remained consistent for fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009. On-line net sales comprised 56% of this segment's net sales for fiscal 2010
as compared to 50% for fiscal 2009.
This segment varies its promotional strategy throughout the fiscal year, utilizing highly promotional catalogs which are not offered in every quarter.
North American Retail
Net sales for this segment increased $10,777, or 5.3%, to $212,655 for fiscal 2010. Same store sales increased 4%, representing $7,987 of the overall
increase in net sales. Same-store sales growth was driven by strong performance at the Vitamin World stores, as the business continues to benefit from
updated in-store signage, SKU rationalization and a shift in the promotional strategy to an everyday low price rather than special savings days, which was the
strategy in prior years. Same-store sales growth is computed on stores that operated for a comparative 12 month period, under the same name and in the same
location.
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The following is a summary of North American Retail store activity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009:

Fiscal
2010

North American Retail stores:

Fiscal
2009

Vitamin World
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

442
21
(6)
457

441
9
(8)
442

Le Naturiste
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

86
—
(5)
81

81
6
(1)
86

Total North American Retail
Open at beginning of the period
Opened during the period
Closed during the period
Open at end of the period

528
21
(11)
538

522
15
(9)
528

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales for fiscal 2010, as compared to fiscal 2009, was as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2010

2009

$ Change

% Change

$
1,521,555
$
1,458,437
$
63,118
4.3%
Cost of Sales
53.8%
56.5%
Percentage of net sales
Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 53.8% for fiscal 2010, as compared to 56.5% for fiscal 2009. Fiscal 2009 was affected by historically high
levels of raw material and other manufacturing costs that were not offset by higher prices charged to customers. Fiscal 2010 experienced a more stable raw
materials environment as well as efficiencies generated in manufacturing and supply chain management brought about by economies of scale. In addition,
fiscal 2010 had a higher proportion of branded product sales which traditionally have higher profit margins, as compared to fiscal 2009.
Advertising, Promotion and Catalog Expenses
Total advertising, promotion and catalog expenses for fiscal 2010, as compared to fiscal 2009, were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2010

Advertising, promotion and catalog
Percentage of net sales

$

137,556 $
4.9%
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2009

$ Change

110,098 $
4.3%

27,458

% Change

24.9%
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The increase in advertising, promotion and catalog expense is primarily due to an increase in customer co-operative advertising of $11,883. In addition,
domestic television advertising for some of our major brands increased $4,508 and internet advertising increased approximately $5,107.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") for fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2010

2009

$ Change

% Change

$ 767,946 $ 737,786 $ 30,160
4.1%
Selling, general and administrative
27.2%
28.6%
Percentage of net sales
SG&A costs increased due to higher payroll and payroll related costs of approximately $13,499 and higher rent and related utilities expenses of
approximately $6,167, primarily associated with new store openings in the European Retail segment. In addition, freight costs increased approximately $5,231
as compared to fiscal 2009. Also, during fiscal 2010, we recorded a charge of $3,533 for the write-down of an intangible asset associated with a contract
manufacturing agreement that is not expected to be renewed.
Merger Expenses
In connection with the Acquisition described above, we incurred charges of $45,903 during fiscal 2010. These charges consisted of $26,259 primarily
related to legal and professional advisory services and $16,142 of incremental stock-based compensation expense as a result of the mandatory acceleration of
vesting of all unvested stock options and restricted stock units in connection with the Acquisition. Of these total expenses, $38,123 were contingent upon the
closing of the Acquisition.
Income from Operations
Income from operations for fiscal 2010, as compared to fiscal 2009, was as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2010

Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition
European Retail
Direct Response/E-Commerce
North American Retail
Corporate
Total

$

$

292,991
100,865
68,018
10,031
(118,128)
353,777

2009

$

$

180,660
89,747
57,442
1,420
(65,358)
263,911

$ Change

$

$

112,331
11,118
10,576
8,611
(52,770)
89,866

% Change

62.2%
12.4%
18.4%
606.4%
80.7%
34.1%

12.5%
10.2%
Percentage of net sales
The increase in Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition income from operations was primarily due to higher sales and gross profits, partially offset by higher
advertising expenses. The increase in the European Retail segment was related to the increase in sales, partially offset by higher SG&A costs (primarily
payroll and store occupancy costs). The increase in Direct Response/E-Commerce and North American Retail income from operations was primarily due to
higher sales and gross profits. In addition, the Direct Response/E-Commerce, European Retail and North American Retail segments in fiscal 2009 included a
write-off for IT project termination costs that did not recur in fiscal 2010. The increase in the expenses
56

Table of Contents

included in the Corporate segment relate to the merger expenses described above as well as an increase in payroll and payroll related costs.
Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased $4,687 due to lower principal balances outstanding on our term loan during fiscal 2010. See "—Liquidity and Capital
Resources" below for information relating to our levels of indebtedness following the Transactions.
Miscellaneous, net
The components of miscellaneous, net were as follows:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2010

$

Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Investment income
Rental income
Other
Total

$

1,108 $
711
581
1,733
4,133 $

2009

(3,595) $
1,134
1,650
750
(61) $

$ Change

4,703
(423)
(1,069)
983
4,194

Miscellaneous, net increased primarily due to unrealized foreign exchange gains on intercompany balances for fiscal 2010 as compared to unrealized
foreign exchange losses in fiscal 2009.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes was impacted by a number of factors, including federal taxes, our international tax structure, state tax rates in the
jurisdictions where we conduct business, and our ability to utilize state tax credits that expire between 2013 and 2016. Therefore, our overall effective income
tax rate could vary as a result of these factors. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2010 was 34.8%, compared to 36.4% in the prior fiscal year. The fiscal
2010 effective tax rate is lower than the fiscal 2009 effective tax primarily due to a higher domestic production deduction in fiscal 2010 as well as a decrease
in foreign losses for which a valuation allowance was recorded.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash generated from operations and funds available under our revolving credit facility. We
expect that ongoing requirements for debt service and capital expenditures will be funded from these sources.
On October 1, 2010, we entered into senior secured credit facilities totaling $2,000,000, consisting of $1,750,000 term loan facilities and a $250,000
revolving credit facility. In addition, we issued $650,000 aggregate principal amount of notes with an interest rate of 9% and a maturity date of October 1,
2018.
On March 1, 2011, NBTY, Holdings, Barclays Bank PLC, as administrative agent and several other lenders entered into the First Amendment and
Refinancing Agreement to the Credit Agreement under which we repriced our loans and amended certain other terms under our credit facilities. Under the
terms of the Refinancing, the original $250,000 term loan A and $1,500,000 term loan B were replaced with a new $1,750,000 term loan B-1 and the
$250,000 revolving credit facility was modified to $200,000. Borrowings under term loan B-1 bear interest at a floating rate which can be, at our option,
either (i) Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin, or (ii) base rate plus an applicable margin, in each case, subject to a Eurodollar rate floor of 1.00% or a
base rate floor of 2.00%, as applicable. The
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applicable margin for term loan B-1 and the revolving credit facility is 3.25% per annum for Eurodollar loans and 2.25% per annum for base rate loans, with a
step-down in rate for the revolving credit facility upon the achievement of a certain total senior secured leverage ratio. Substantially all other terms are
consistent with the original term loan B, including the amortization schedule of term loan B-1 and maturity dates.
In addition, the terms of the Refinancing require the maintenance of a maximum total senior secured leverage ratio on a quarterly basis, calculated with
respect to Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the credit agreement, if at any time amounts are outstanding under the revolving credit facility (including
swingline loans and letters of credit). During fiscal 2011, no amounts were outstanding under the revolving credit facility. All other financial covenants
required by the senior secured credit facilities were removed as part of the Refinancing.
As a result of the Refinancing, $20,823 of previously capitalized deferred financing costs were expensed. In addition, $2,394 of the call premium on term
loan B and termination costs on interest rate swap contracts of $1,525 were expensed. Financing costs capitalized in connection with the Refinancing of
$24,320, consisting of bank fees of $11,714 and the remaining portion of the call premium on term loan B of $12,606, will be amortized over the remaining
term using the effective interest rate method. We anticipate that cash interest over the twelve months following the Refinancing will be lower by an estimated
$34,000.
The indenture and the senior secured credit facilities contain a number of covenants imposing significant restrictions on our business. These restrictions
may affect our ability to operate our business and may limit our ability to take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise. The restrictions
these covenants place on us include limitations on our ability to:
•

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

•

make certain investments;

•

pay dividends or make distributions on our capital stock;

•

sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;

•

agree to payment restrictions affecting our restricted subsidiaries;

•

consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;

•

enter into transactions with our affiliates;

•

incur liens; and

•

designate any of our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, including the notes, will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. We
believe that our cash on hand, together with cash from operations and, if required, borrowings under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit
facilities, will be sufficient for our cash requirements for the next twelve months.
We or our affiliates may at any time and from time to time purchase notes or our other indebtedness. Any such purchases may be made through open
market or privately negotiated transactions with third parties or pursuant to one or more tender or exchange offers or otherwise, upon such terms and at such
prices as well as with such consideration as we or any of our affiliates may determine.
We expect our fiscal 2012 capital expenditures to be in excess of recent periods due to our increased investments in the business.
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The following table sets forth, as of the dates indicated, cash balances and working capital:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor
2011

Predecessor
2010

2009

$ 394,406 $ 346,483 $ 106,001
Cash and cash equivalents
$ 899,698 $ 849,338 $ 674,439
Working capital (including cash and cash equivalents)
The following table sets forth, for the period indicated, net cash flows provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities and other
operating measures:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
Successor
2011

Predecessor
2010

2009

$
284,637 $ 371,752 $ 136,937
Cash flow provided by operating activities
$ (4,032,043) $ (82,103) $ (27,992)
Cash flow used in investing activities
$
3,798,238 $ (47,227) $ (91,716)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities
2.33
2.33
2.35
Total inventory turnover
4.28
4.89
5.42
Finished goods inventory turnover (excluding bulk)
30
30
37
Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable
We monitor current and anticipated future levels of cash and cash equivalents in relation to anticipated operating, financing and investing requirements.
Cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes upon repatriation to the U.S. We generally repatriate all earnings
from our foreign subsidiaries where permitted under local law. However, during 2010, we permanently reinvested a portion of our foreign earnings outside of
the U.S.
The increase in working capital of $50,360, as compared to September 30, 2010, was primarily due to increased cash balances, decreased current portion
of long term debt due to the Transactions, partially offset by higher accounts payable balances. Cash provided by operating activities was $284,637 during
fiscal 2011, a decrease of $87,115, which was primarily attributable to increased interest expenses, partially offset by higher operating income after
adjustments for non-cash items. During fiscal 2011, cash flows used in investing activities consisted primarily of cash paid for acquisitions relating to the
Merger and purchases of property, plant and equipment. During fiscal 2011, cash flows from financing activities primarily related to borrowings and capital
contributions related to the Merger and Transactions offset by payments for financing fees and principal payments under long-term debt agreements and
capital lease obligations.
The increase in working capital as of September 30, 2010 as compared to September 30, 2009 of $174,899 was primarily due to increased cash balances,
partially offset by higher accounts payable balances and higher short-term debt. Cash provided by operating activities during fiscal 2010 was mainly
attributable to net income and changes in operating assets and liabilities. The overall increase in cash provided by operating activities of $234,815 during
fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 was mainly attributable to increased net income, a consistent level of inventory as compared to prior years and an
increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities. During fiscal 2010, cash flows used in investing activities consisted primarily of purchases of property,
plant and equipment and cash paid for acquisitions, offset by proceeds received from the sale of municipal bond investments. During fiscal 2010, cash flows
used in financing activities related to the principal payments under long-term debt agreements and capital lease obligations, offset by proceeds from the
exercise of stock options.
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Consolidated EBITDA
EBITDA consists of earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in our senior secured
credit facilities, eliminates the impact of a number of items we do not consider indicative of our ongoing operating performance. You are encouraged to
evaluate each adjustment and the reasons we consider it appropriate for supplemental analysis. Consolidated EBITDA is a component of certain covenants
under our senior secured credit facilities. We present EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA because we consider these items to be important supplemental
measures of our performance and believe these measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of
companies in our industries with similar capital structures. We believe issuers of debt securities also present EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA because
investors, analysts and rating agencies consider it useful in measuring the ability of those issuers to meet debt service obligations. We believe that these items
are appropriate supplemental measures of debt service capacity because cash expenditures for interest are, by definition, available to pay interest, and tax
expense is inversely correlated to interest expense because tax expense goes down as deductible interest expense goes up; and depreciation and amortization
are non-cash charges.
EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these items in isolation, or as a substitute for
analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
•

EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA:
•

exclude certain tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

•

do not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

•

do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; and

•

do not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt,
including the notes;

•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the
future, and EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

•

other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as
comparative measures.

Because of these limitations, EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA should not be considered as measures of discretionary cash available to us to invest in
the growth of our business. As a result, we rely primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and use EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA only supplementally.
In addition, in calculating Consolidated EBITDA, we make certain adjustments that are based on assumptions and estimates that may prove inaccurate.
In evaluating Consolidated EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to those eliminated in this presentation. Our
presentation of Consolidated EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.
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The following table reconciles net income to EBITDA and Consolidated EBITDA for fiscal 2011:

Fiscal 2011

$

Net income
Interest expense
Income tax provision
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Merger related costs(a)
Inventory fair value adjustment(b)
Severance costs(c)
Stock-based compensation(d)
Management fee(e)
Pro forma cost savings(f)
Other non-recurring items(g)
Consolidated EBITDA

$

29,919
195,537
9,990
103,335
338,781
44,479
122,104
5,055
1,788
3,000
24,320
16,574
556,101

(a)

Reflects the exclusion of costs incurred in connection with the Merger, including $15,660 of financing costs associated with an
unused bridge loan, $14,324 representing the portion of the one-time sponsor transaction fee and $14,495 relating to other
Merger related costs.

(b)

Reflects the exclusion of the sell-through of the increased fair value of opening inventory at acquisition required under
purchase accounting.

(c)

Reflects the exclusion of severance costs incurred at NBTY's various subsidiaries.

(d)

Reflects the exclusion of non-cash expenses related to stock options.

(e)

Reflects the exclusion of the Carlyle management fee.

(f)

Reflects 12 months of prospective savings in accordance with the Credit Agreement; specifically, the amount of cost savings
expected to be realized from operating expense reductions and other operating improvements as a result of specified actions
taken or initiated, less the amount of any actual cost savings realized during the period.

(g)

Reflects the exclusion of non-recurring items such as one-time legal expenses, consulting expenses and asset dispositions that
were not material.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements. For additional information relating to certain contractual cash obligations see below.
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Contractual Obligations
A summary of contractual cash obligations as of September 30, 2011 is as follows:

Payments Due By Period
Less Than
1-3
4-5
1 Year
Years
Years

Total

Long-term debt, excluding interest
Interest
Operating leases
Purchase commitments
Capital commitments
Employment and consulting agreements
Total contractual cash obligations

After 5
Years

$ 2,386,875 $ 17,500 $ 35,000 $ 35,000 $ 2,299,375
867,215
142,212
276,917
261,267
186,819
734,334
118,741
195,322
146,383
273,888
177,740
171,426
6,314
—
—
7,380
7,380
—
—
—
7,450
1,700
3,400
2,350
$ 4,180,994 $ 458,959 $ 516,953 $ 445,000 $ 2,760,082

Future interest expense included in the above table on our variable rate debt is calculated based on the current rate. Variable interest on our senior
secured credit facilities, included in the above table, is calculated assuming the current interest rate of 4.25% (which includes a 3.25% spread over the LIBOR
floor of 1.00%) remains in effect for all future periods. To the extent future LIBOR rates are greater than 1.00%, actual future interest expense will be greater
than noted in the above table.
We conduct retail operations under operating leases, which generally have lease terms between 5 and 15 years, with the longest lease term expiring in
2039. Some of the leases contain escalation clauses, as well as renewal options, and provide for contingent rent based upon sales, plus certain tax and
maintenance costs. At September 30, 2011, we had $734,334 in future minimum rental payments (excluding real estate tax and maintenance costs) for retail
locations and other leases that have initial or noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year. Future minimum rental payments (excluding real estate tax and
maintenance costs) for retail locations and other leases that have initial or noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year are noted in the above table.
During fiscal 2011, no one supplier individually represented greater than 10% of our raw material purchases. We do not believe that the loss of any
single supplier would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations. We were committed to make future
purchases for inventory related items, such as raw materials and finished goods, under various purchase arrangements, some of which extend beyond one
year, with fixed price provisions aggregating $177,740 at September 30, 2011. Generally, most of our purchase commitments are cancelable at our discretion
until the order has been shipped, but require repayment of all expenses incurred through the date of cancellation.
We had $7,380 in open capital commitments at September 30, 2011, primarily related to leasehold improvements, as well as manufacturing equipment,
computer hardware and software.
At September 30, 2011, we had a liability of $10,687 for unrecognized tax benefits, the recognition of which would have an effect of $8,195 on income
tax expense and the effective income tax rate. We do not believe that the amount will change significantly in the next 12 months. At this time, we are unable
to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments in individual years beyond 12 months due to uncertainties in the timing of tax audit
outcomes.

Seasonality
Although we believe that our business is not seasonal in nature, historically we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, a substantial
variation in our net sales and operating results from quarter to quarter. The factors that influence this variability of quarterly results include general economic
and industry conditions affecting consumer spending, changing consumer demands and
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current news on nutritional supplements, the timing of our introduction of new products, promotional program incentives offered to customers, the timing of
catalog promotions, the level of consumer acceptance of new products and actions of competitors. Accordingly, a comparison of our results of operations
from consecutive periods is not necessarily meaningful, and our results of operations for any period are not necessarily indicative of future performance.
Additionally, we may experience higher net sales in a quarter depending upon when we have engaged in significant promotional activities.

Foreign Currency
Approximately 32%, 29% and 29% of our net sales for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars,
principally British pound and, to a lesser extent euros, Canadian dollars and Chinese yuan. A significant weakening of such currencies versus the U.S. dollar
could have a material adverse effect on us, as this would result in a decrease in our consolidated operating results.
Our foreign subsidiaries accounted for the following percentages of assets and total liabilities as of September 30, 2011 and 2010:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

24%
26%
Assets
4%
16%
Total liabilities
The significant decrease in foreign denominated liabilities as a percentage of total liabilities is a direct result of the financing related to the Merger, of
which all of this debt is denominated in the U.S dollar.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries are translated from the functional currency,
generally the local currency, into U.S. dollars. This process results in exchange rate gains and losses, which are included as a separate component of
stockholders' equity under the caption "Accumulated other comprehensive income."
During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, translation losses of $20,196, $4,603 and $16,129, respectively, were included in determining other comprehensive
income. Accordingly, cumulative translation losses of approximately $20,196 and $1,730 were included as part of accumulated other comprehensive income
within the consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The magnitude of these gains or losses is dependent upon movements in the exchange rates of the foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar. These
currencies include the British pound, the euro, the Canadian dollar and the Chinese yuan. Any future translation gains or losses could be significantly different
than those noted in each of these years.

Inflation
Inflation affects the cost of raw materials, goods and services we use. High energy costs and fluctuations in commodity prices can affect the cost of all
raw materials and components. The competitive environment somewhat limits our ability to recover higher costs resulting from inflation by raising prices.
However, we anticipate passing these costs to our customers, to the extent possible. We seek to mitigate the adverse effects of inflation primarily through
improved productivity and strategic buying initiatives.

Recent Accounting Developments
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") amended its guidance on the presentation of comprehensive income in financial
statements to improve the comparability, consistency
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and transparency of financial reporting and to increase the prominence of items that are recorded in other comprehensive income. The new accounting
guidance requires entities to report components of comprehensive income in either (1) a continuous statement of comprehensive income or (2) two separate
but consecutive statements. The provisions of this new guidance are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011, however the requirement to present items that are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income alongside their respective
components of net income and other comprehensive income, has been temporarily delayed by the FASB until further evaluation can be done on the
implementation impact. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on our financial statements.
In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. If after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, an entity determines it is not more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is not required. This new guidance is effective
for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of the guidance is not expected
to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

(Dollar amounts are in thousands, unless otherwise noted.)
We are subject to currency fluctuations, primarily with respect to the British pound, the euro, the Canadian dollar and the Chinese yuan, and interest rate
risks that arise from normal business operations. We regularly assess these risks.
We have subsidiaries whose operations are denominated in foreign currencies (primarily the British pound, the euro, the Canadian dollar and the Chinese
yuan). We consolidate the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries by translating them into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates in each applicable period. To
the extent the U.S. dollar weakens against foreign currencies, the remeasurement of these foreign currency denominated transactions results in increased net
sales, operating expenses and net income. Similarly, our net sales, operating expenses and net income will decrease when the U.S. dollar strengthens against
foreign currencies.
To manage the potential exposure from adverse changes in currency exchange rates, specifically the British pound, arising from our net investment in
British pound denominated operations, on December 16, 2010, we entered into three cross currency swap contracts to hedge a portion of the net investment in
our British pound denominated foreign operations. As of September 30, 2011, the aggregate notional amount of the swap contracts is 194,200 British pounds
(approximately $303,000 U.S. dollars), with a forward rate of 1.56, and a termination date of September 30, 2017.
Net sales denominated in foreign currencies were approximately $937,586, or 32% of total net sales, for fiscal 2011. A majority of our foreign currency
exposure is denominated in British pounds and Canadian dollars. For fiscal 2011, as compared to the prior comparable period, the British pound increased 3%
as compared to the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar increased 6% as compared to the U.S. dollar. The combined effect of the changes in these currency
rates resulted in an increase of $25,925 in net sales and an increase of $3,453 in operating income.
We are exposed to changes in interest rates on our senior secured credit facilities. During December 2010, we entered into three interest rate swap
contracts that we subsequently terminated in connection with the Refinancing, resulting in a termination payment of $1,525. During March 2011, we entered
into three interest rate swap contracts to fix the LIBOR indexed interest rates on a portion of our senior secured credit facilities until the indicated expiration
dates of these swap contracts. Each
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swap contract has an initial notional amount of $333,333 (for a total of one billion dollars), with a fixed interest rate of 1.92% for a four-year term. The
notional amount of each swap decreases to $266,666 in December 2012, decreases to $166,666 in December 2013 and has a maturity date of December 2014.
Under the terms of the swap contracts, variable interest payments for a portion of our senior secured credit facilities are swapped for fixed interest payments.
To manage the potential risk arising from changing interest rates and their impact on long-term debt, our policy is to maintain a combination of available
fixed and variable rate financial instruments. Assuming our senior secured credit facilities are fully drawn, each one eighth percentage point increase or
decrease in the applicable interest rates would correspondingly change our interest expense on our senior secured credit facilities by approximately $1,200 per
year.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplemental Data

See the "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" located on page 94 of this Report.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer ("CEO") and chief financial officer ("CFO"),
we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) of the Exchange Act as of the
end of the period covered by this Report. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act, during the three
months ended September 30, 2011 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive and principal financial
officers, management assessed, as of September 30, 2011, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment was based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COSO"). Based on our assessment using those criteria, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting, as of September 30, 2011,
was effective.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2011 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.
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Internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial
officers and effected by our Board, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP, and includes those policies and procedures that:
•

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

•

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorization of our management and directors;
and

•

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
66

Table of Contents

PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The following table sets forth the names and ages of members of our Board of Directors (the "Board" or "Directors") and executive officers and the
positions they held with us as of November 1, 2011, each of whom serves an indefinite term until his or her successor has been appointed and qualified.

Name

Sandra Horbach
David Bernauer
Marco De Benedetti
Robert Essner
Allan Holt
Elliot Wagner
Jeffrey Nagel
Michael Collins
Irene Fisher
James Flaherty
Harvey Kamil
Hans Lindgren
Karla Packer
Glenn Schneider

Age

Position

51 Chairman of the Board
67 Director
49 Director
64 Director
59 Director
35 Director
47 Director and CEO
48 CFO
46 Senior Vice President—General Counsel
54 Senior Vice President—Marketing and Advertising
67 Vice Chairman
50 Senior Vice President—Operations and Corporate Secretary
52 Senior Vice President—Human Resources
42 Senior Vice President—Global Wholesale

Sandra Horbach
Sandra Horbach has served as a member of our Board since October 2010 and Chairman of the Board since May 2011. She is a Managing Director of
Carlyle, where she focuses on U.S. buyout investment opportunities in the consumer and retail industries and serves as head of the Global Consumer and
Retail team. She currently serves on the Board of Directors of Dunkin' Brands and CVC Brasil Operadora e Agencia de Viagens S.A. Ms. Horbach is a
member of the Board of Trustees and Chairs the Investment Committee at Rockefeller University, is a member of the Stanford Business School Advisory
Council, and serves on the Board of Trustees of The Chapin School in New York. Before joining Carlyle, Ms. Horbach spent 18 years at Forstmann Little, a
private investment firm. She also spent two years in the mergers and acquisition department of Morgan Stanley. Ms. Horbach received her Masters in
Business Administration from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business and her Bachelor of Arts from Wellesley College. This experience, in
particular her extensive experience in the retail and consumer industries, and her experience on other boards, led to the conclusion that Ms. Horbach should
serve as a Director.
David Bernauer
David Bernauer has served as a member of our Board since February 2011. He is the retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Walgreen Co. He
previously served as Chairman of Walgreen from July 2006 until July 2007. From 2003 until July 2006, Mr. Bernauer served as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Walgreen. From 2002 to 2003, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Walgreen; from 1999 to 2002 as President and
Chief Operating Officer of Walgreen; and he has served in various management positions, with increasing areas of responsibility at Walgreen since 1966.
Currently, he also is a Director of Lowe's Companies, Inc. Mr. Bernauer also served on the Board of Office Dept, Inc. from 2004 to April 2011.This
experience, including his prior executive and other
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leadership roles at a major national retailer, led to the conclusion that Mr. Bernauer should serve as a Director.
Marco De Benedetti
Marco De Benedetti has served as a member of our Board since October 2010. He is a Partner and Managing Director of Carlyle and Co-Head of its
Europe buyout team. He is based in Milan, Italy. Mr. De Benedetti serves on the Board of Directors of Cofide S.p.A (since 1994) and the Board of Directors
and remuneration committee of Parmalat S.p.A (since 2005), Moncler (since 2008) and Commscope (since 2010). Before joining Carlyle, Mr. De Benedetti
was the Chief Executive Officer of Telecom Italia. Mr. De Benedetti was the Chief Executive Officer of Telecom Italia Mobile from 1999 until its merger
with Telecom Italia. Previously, Mr. De Benedetti was the Chairman of Infostrada, the main alternative fixed-line carrier for voice services and internet access
in Italy, and Chief Executive Officer of Olivetti Telemedia, the telecommunications and multimedia business of the Olivetti Group. Between 1987 and 1989,
Mr. De Benedetti worked for Wasserstein, Perrella & Co. in New York. In 1990, he joined the Olivetti Group as Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer of
Olivetti Systems and Networks, and he was later appointed as Group Director of Marketing and Services. In 1992, he was appointed General Manager of
Olivetti Portugal. Mr. De Benedetti received his Bachelor's degree in history and economics from Wesleyan University and his Masters in Business
Administration from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. This experience, in particular his extensive executive and business management
experience, led to the conclusion that Mr. De Benedetti should serve as a Director.
Robert Essner
Robert Essner has served as a member of our Board since February 2011. He is a Senior Advisor at Carlyle focused on identifying and evaluating global
investment opportunities in the healthcare sector. Mr. Essner was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer for Wyeth from 2003 until 2008. Mr. Essner worked
for 32 years in the pharmaceutical industry and during that time served in many leadership roles, including Chairman of the Pharmaceutical Research and
Manufacturers Association. Mr. Essner is currently Lead Director of MassMutual. He served as Chairman of the not-for-profit Children's Health Fund
Corporate Council for 13 years and is presently on their Board of Trustees. Mr. Essner is Executive-in-Residence and Adjunct Professor at Columbia Business
School, where he teaches courses in Healthcare Management. Mr. Essner received a Master's degree from the University of Chicago and a Bachelor's degree
from Miami University. This experience, including his extensive background and experience in the pharmaceutical industry, led to the conclusion that
Mr. Essner should serve as a Director.
Allan Holt
Allan Holt has served as a member of our Board since October 2010. Mr. Holt, a Partner and Managing Director of Carlyle, is currently the head of its
U.S. Buyout group. Mr. Holt is a graduate of Rutgers University and received his M.B.A. from the University of California, Berkeley. He serves on the boards
of directors of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, HD Supply, Inc., and SS&C Technologies, Inc., the boards of managers of HCR ManorCare, LLC
and HCRMC Operations, LLC, as well as on the non-profit boards of directors of The Barker Foundation Endowment Fund, The Hillside Foundation, Inc.,
The National Children's Museum and The Smithsonian National Air and Space Museum. Mr. Holt also served on the boards of directors of Aviall, Inc. (from
2001 to 2006), Sequa Corporation (2007 until February 2011) and Vought Aircraft Industries, Inc. (from 2000 to June 2010). This experience, including his
extensive experience in finance and his experience on other boards, led to the conclusion that Mr. Holt should serve as a Director.
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Elliot Wagner
Elliot Wagner has served as a member of our Board since October 2010. He is a Principal of Carlyle, where he focuses on U.S. buyout opportunities in
the consumer and retail sector. From 2000 to 2008, Mr. Wagner was a member of Carlyle's Global Aerospace, Defense, and Government/Business Services
team. Before joining Carlyle in 2000, Mr. Wagner was with Lehman Brothers Inc., focusing on mergers, acquisitions and financings for defense, consumer
and technology companies. Mr. Wagner received his Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University. Mr. Wagner was a member of the board of
directors and audit committee of Sequa Corporation from December 2007 to June 2011. This experience, in particular his experience with companies in the
retail and consumer industries, led to the conclusion that Mr. Wagner should serve as a Director.
Jeffrey Nagel
Jeffrey Nagel has served as a member of our Board and has been our CEO since December 6, 2010. Mr. Nagel came to NBTY from General Electric
Company. During his GE career, Mr. Nagel served in a variety of leadership positions throughout the organization. In 2006, he was made a GE corporate
officer and appointed as the Vice President and General Manager of GE Oil & Gas Global Services. Previously, he served as President & Chief Executive
Officer of GE Inspection Technologies, General Manager of Business Development in GE Aircraft Engines and President of GE Home Electric Products.
Mr. Nagel joined GE in 1997 as a Manager in Business Development at GE Lighting. Before joining GE, Mr. Nagel worked at Energy Biosystems
Corporation, Cannon Associates, Reid & Hostage and Strategic Planning Associates (now Mercer Management). Mr. Nagel received his Bachelor of Science
and Masters in Business Administration from Carnegie Mellon. This experience led to the conclusion that Mr. Nagel should serve as a Director, so that his
perspective as our CEO would be reflected in the Board's discussions.
Michael Collins
Michael Collins became our CFO on June 13, 2011. He came to NBTY from Sears Holdings Corporation, where he served as Chief Financial Officer
since 2008. Before joining Sears, Mr. Collins served as Executive Vice President, Financial Planning & Analysis at NBC Universal from 2004 to 2008.
Before joining NBC, Mr. Collins served in various roles at General Electric Company and its affiliates. Mr. Collins received his Bachelor of Science in
Economics from the Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania.
Irene Fisher
Irene Fisher has been Senior Vice President of the Company since October 1, 2010. She has also been General Counsel of NBTY since joining the
Company in 2002. Before joining the Company, she was General Counsel of Big Flower Press, a NYSE listed printing and digital services company, and
Chancery Lane, an investment vehicle controlled by the late Theodore Ammon. Ms. Fisher began the practice of law with Milbank Tweed Hadley McCloy,
specializing in mergers, acquisitions, financings and securities matters. Ms. Fisher received her Juris Doctorate from Harvard Law School and her Bachelor of
Arts and Masters of Art from Yale University.
James Flaherty
James Flaherty has been the Senior Vice President/Marketing and Advertising of NBTY, Inc. since 1987. He joined the Company in 1979 as a Marketing
Manager. In his current position, he directs the in-house staff of marketing, advertising, media and graphic design professionals in the planning, creation and
execution of the Company's advertising, packaging and promotional programs across all mediums. Mr. Flaherty is Vice Chair of Council for Responsible
Nutrition ("CRN") and serves on its
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Media Relations committee. Mr. Flaherty received his Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration and Marketing from the State University of
New York at Albany.
Harvey Kamil
Harvey Kamil was our President from 2002 and our CFO from 1982, when he joined the Company. Effective June 13, 2011, Mr. Kamil stepped down as
President and CFO of NBTY and became NBTY's Vice Chairman. Mr. Kamil taught as an adjunct professor at Suffolk County Community College for
thirteen years. He serves on the Board of Directors of CRN and on the Board of Directors of the Natural Products Association. Mr. Kamil received his
Bachelor of Business Administration and Masters in Business Administration from the Baruch School of Business, City University of New York, and is a
Certified Public Accountant and Certified Management Accountant.
Hans Lindgren
Hans Lindgren has been the Senior Vice President/Operations and Corporate Secretary since January 1, 2008. He has been involved in various aspects of
the Company's operations since joining the Company in 1992. Before joining the Company, Mr. Lindgren worked for the LM Ericsson Telephone Company.
He joined Ericsson in 1982 and was responsible for the preparation of installation documentation and software implementation for various European, Middle
East and Far East installation sites. Previously, Mr. Lindgren served as a Captain in the Swedish Army Reserves from 1980 to 1982. He received his degree in
telecommunications from Alvkullegymnasiet, a technical college in Sweden.
Karla Packer
Karla Packer has served as Senior Vice President/Human Resources since April 2011. Ms. Packer previously served as Senior Vice President of Human
Resources at IMS Health Incorporated, a leading provider of market intelligence to the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries since 2007. Before joining
IMS Health, Ms. Packer was Vice President of Human Resources for IAC/InteractiveCorp, a $6 billion E-Commerce entity, whose brands include
Ticketmaster, Expedia and Home Shopping Network. Ms. Packer spent six years at Avon Products, where she developed human resources strategies in
support of Global Marketing, Brand Development, Manufacturing, Supply Chain Strategy, and Research and Development. She started her career at IBM,
where she held several positions in the areas of IT organization, sales, marketing and human resources. Ms. Packer received her Bachelor of Science in
Mathematics from Tufts University.
Glenn Schneider
Glenn Schneider has been Senior Vice President/Global Wholesale, since November 17, 2011 and CEO of United States Nutrition, Inc., our wholly
owned subsidiary, since December 2008. Before November 2011, Mr. Schneider was Senior Vice President/Assistant to the CEO (from January 2009 to
November 2011). He has been involved in the Company in various aspects of marketing, advertising and product development since he joined the Company
in 2000. Previously, Mr. Schneider was an owner of Nutrition Warehouse, where he handled all aspects of sales and marketing. He joined NBTY when the
Company acquired Nutrition Warehouse. Mr. Schneider received his Bachelor of Science in Marketing and Management from Ithaca College.

Director Independence and Selection
Following the Merger, all our equity securities are owned by Holdings; certain investment funds affiliated with Carlyle own substantially all the
outstanding equity of Holdings. As a result, our common stock was delisted from the NYSE and its registration under Section 12 of the Exchange Act was
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terminated. As of November 17, 2011, our Board of Directors consisted of Jeffrey Nagel and six persons associated with and appointed by Carlyle. Our Board
has not made a formal determination as to whether each director is "independent" because we have no equity securities listed for trading on a national
securities exchange. Because of their relationships with Carlyle or with us, however, we do not believe that any of our directors would be considered
independent under the NYSE's definition of independence.
In identifying nominees for director, consideration is given to the diversity of professional experience, education and backgrounds among the directors so
that a variety of points of view are represented in Board discussions and deliberations concerning our business.

Committees of the Board of Directors
Following the Merger, the Board has three standing committees: (i) the Audit Committee; (ii) the Compensation Committee; and (iii) the Executive
Committee.
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is comprised of Messrs. Bernauer and Wagner and assists the Board in its oversight of:

•

the qualifications, independence and performance of our independent accountants and the performance of our internal auditors and internal audit
function;

•

the integrity of our financial statements and our financial reporting processes and systems of internal control; and

•

our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Audit Committee provides an avenue of communication among management, the independent accountants, the internal auditors and the Board. In
carrying out its responsibilities, the Audit Committee also meets with the Company's internal audit staff and with the independent accountants in executive
session, without members of management present.
The Audit Committee Charter provides for three members, but the Audit Committee currently has one vacancy. Mr. Wagner is an Audit Committee
"financial expert," as defined by SEC rules, based on the experience noted in his biography above.
Compensation Committee.

The Compensation Committee is comprised of Mr. De Benedetti and Ms. Horbach and assists the Board in:

•

developing and periodically reviewing the Company's compensation policies, including equity and similar awards, consistent with, and linked to,
the Company's strategies;

•

evaluating the performance of our CEO and determining his compensation annually;

•

evaluating the performance and compensation of our other executive officers annually;

•

reviewing management's recommendations on executive compensation policies and programs;

•

recommending to the Board the fees of outside directors;

•

reviewing and approving new Company benefit plans and amendments to existing benefit plans;

•

approving all equity-based compensation plans; and

•

reviewing benefit plan administration.

The Compensation Committee has the authority to retain and terminate any consultants, including legal counsel, to assist it in performing its duties. From
time to time, the Compensation Committee may seek information and advice regarding executive compensation market practices from outside independent
advisors.
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Executive Committee. The Executive Committee is composed of Messrs. Nagel and Wagner and Ms. Horbach. Its primary function is to act on behalf
of the Board during intervals between regularly scheduled meetings of the Board. The Executive Committee may exercise all powers of the Board, except as
otherwise provided by law and the Company's by-laws. The Board reviews all actions taken by the Executive Committee between Board meetings at the
following Board meeting.

Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers
The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for its Directors, officers and employees, including its senior financial officers and CEO. The Company will
provide a copy of the Code of Ethics to any person upon written request made to Irene Fisher, our General Counsel, at the Company's headquarters at 2100
Smithtown Avenue, Ronkonkoma, New York 11779.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (this "CD&A") describes the principles underlying the Company's compensation policy for fiscal 2011 with
respect to the individuals listed below, whom we call our "named executive officers," and listed in the "2011 Summary Compensation Table" on page 79.
Jeffrey Nagel, Chief Executive Officer
Scott Rudolph, Former Chief Executive Officer
Michael Collins, Chief Financial Officer
Harvey Kamil, Vice Chairman and Former President and Former Chief Financial Officer
Irene Fisher, Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Hans Lindgren, Senior Vice President—Operations and Corporate Secretary
Glenn Schneider, Senior Vice President—Global Wholesale
We recruited Messrs. Nagel and Collins after the Merger, and entered into new employment agreements with each of them. This CD&A describes,
among other things, the compensation principles we applied in those employment agreements and that apply generally to all our named executive officers.
Following the Merger, we have continued to compensate our named executive officers with the same basic objectives as before the Merger, except that, in
light of our status as a privately-owned company, we do not plan to make equity awards on an annual basis.
Overview; Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
During fiscal 2011, the boards of directors of the Company and Holdings, and the compensation committees of the Company and Holdings, each
comprised of the same individuals (collectively, the "Compensation Committee" or the "Committee") oversaw our executive compensation program. The
Committee designed an executive compensation program to achieve the following goals:
•

Attract and retain talented professionals by providing competitive compensation level;

•

Align the interests of our executive officers with those of our primary shareholder through equity-based awards with long-term value; and

•

Reward our executives for their contributions to our overall performance as well as for their individual performance.

We have no formal policies or guidelines for allocating compensation between short-term and long-term compensation. The ratio of short-term
compensation to long-term compensation for each executive varies depending upon the roles and responsibilities of that executive. The Compensation
Committee sets the compensation of the named executive officers, taking into account compensation opportunities with other companies, to reward and retain
the Company's high-performing executives.
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The Committee seeks to encourage our executives to maximize their performance to achieve the Company's strategy and goals. As part of its compensation
assessment, the Committee considers many factors to understand the compensation landscape among similarly sized companies. Although the Committee
does not target specific compensations levels based upon an established group, the Committee uses external data to inform the decision-making process.
Executive Compensation Determinations for Fiscal 2011
During fiscal 2011, total compensation for our named executive officers consisted of the following components, each discussed in more detail below:
•

base salary,

•

annual cash bonuses,

•

equity-based awards,

•

retirement plans, and

•

perquisites.

Role of CEO in Compensation Determinations
Our Compensation Committee determines the nature and amount of all compensation for our executive officers. Our CEO, Jeffrey Nagel, provides
recommendations to our Compensation Committee with respect to all elements of compensation for the named executed officers, except himself, and for the
other executives that report to him. In addition, from time to time, at the invitation of the Compensation Committee, our CEO attends Compensation
Committee meetings, except those that address his own compensation. Historically, including before the Merger, the Compensation Committee gave
substantial weight to our CEO's recommendations, insights and observations. However, the Compensation Committee may modify or reject any of our CEO's
recommendations.
An Overview
During fiscal 2011, the Compensation Committee employed a three-step analysis to determine executive compensation. Discussed below is how the
Compensation Committee determined the amount and type of compensation best suited to the Company's goals and how the Committee believes these
decisions reflect the Company's compensation philosophy.
Company Performance. In evaluating performance, the Compensation Committee considered our overall financial and operating performance during
the period, as well as our achievement of strategic and tactical goals. In evaluating the Company's performance, the performance measures considered by the
Compensation Committee have varied from year to year. In fiscal 2011, the Committee principally assessed the Company's performance based on earnings
before income tax, depreciation and amortization, or "EBITDA" for the annual bonuses payable to Messrs. Nagel and Collins. The Compensation Committee
did not set specific EBITDA targets for Messrs. Nagel and Collins at the beginning of the year. Instead, in setting the annual bonuses, it evaluated the
Company's performance, including its EBITDA performance, on a subjective basis. For the discretionary bonus program, the Compensation Committee did
not establish performance measures in advance, but rather awarded bonuses based on its subjective assessment of the Company's performance.
Individual Performance. As discussed in further detail below, the Compensation Committee evaluated each executive's contributions to our financial
and operational achievements. The Compensation Committee considered each executive's individual performance, both in terms of personal responsibilities
and in terms of contributions to the Company's goals. The Committee also
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considered the executive's potential for future contributions to our long-term success, and evaluated the executive's experience, management skills and
leadership abilities.
Competitive Market/Retention of Talent. The Compensation Committee considered the market for executive talent, and attempted to set compensation
at competitive levels within similarly-sized companies, regardless of industry. The Company seeks to set its total compensation to be competitive with the
market but does not target specific compensation levels upon an established group.

Retirement Plans
During fiscal 2011, our executive officers participated in the same retirement plans on the same terms as provided to most of our salaried associates.
These plans consisted of the NBTY, Inc. Retirement Profit Sharing Plan (the "PSP") and the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (the "401(k) Plan"). During
fiscal 2011, the Company made no contribution to the PSP, but intends to do so after December 31, 2011, the end of the PSP's fiscal year. Contributions, if
any, will be allocated among participants who completed at least 1,000 hours of service in the plan year and who were employed on the last day of the plan
year, based upon their relative compensation for the year. Under the terms of the 401(k) Plan, the Company provides a matching contribution of up to 4% of
the eligible compensation of each participant who has completed the required hours of service.

Perquisites
During fiscal 2011, we provided a limited number of perquisites, without tax gross-ups (except under the employment agreements described below), to
our executive officers. One such perquisite is a life insurance arrangement under which certain executives are entitled to payments upon retirement on or after
age 65 or death. See "—Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Life Insurance Agreements" on page 82. The Summary Compensation Table contains an
itemized disclosure of the perquisites provided to our named executive officers.

Other Benefits
We also provide certain benefits to substantially all salaried employees. These include health and welfare benefits, disability and life insurance, education
and tuition reimbursement and an employee assistance program.

Base Salary
We consider base salary adjustments annually and we may base these adjustments on individual performance, assumption of new responsibilities,
employee retention efforts, the Company's annual salary budget guidelines, and other factors that the Compensation Committee considered relevant, such as
compensation packages competitively sized companies offer their executives. Higher annual increases may be made to higher performers and key
contributors, if the overall increases are within budgeted guidelines. We believe we must offer competitive base salaries to drive performance and gain
commitment from high-quality executives who provide our shareholder and other stakeholders with increased value. Base salaries provide executives with a
fixed level of income security, offering stability and predictability. Our executives understand that the Company's entrepreneurial atmosphere and need for
performance accountability places their employment, and not their income alone, at risk.
The Compensation Committee considered the responsibilities of each position, the skill and experience required to be successful and our CEO's
evaluations and performance reviews when establishing fiscal 2011 base salary levels. The base salaries for Messrs. Nagel and Collins were first set in 2011
as part of their employment contract negotiations to be competitive with the market. However, the Committee did not target specific compensation levels
upon an established group. Under their contracts, the compensation of Messrs. Nagel and Collins can be increased but not decreased.
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Ms. Fisher received a 2.5% increase in her base salary, Mr. Lindgren received a 10% increase in his base salary, and Mr. Schneider received a 5% increase in
his base salary, such increases reflecting individual performances and the Company's financial results for fiscal 2010, as well as the unique roles and
responsibilities of these officers. We did not change Mr. Rudolph's base salary from its fiscal 2010 level before he resigned as our chief executive officer in
December 2010.
The following table sets forth the base salaries of our named executive officers for fiscal 2011 (and the applicable percentage increase for those serving
in such capacity in fiscal 2010), compared to the base salaries (where applicable) for fiscal 2010. Base salary increases for fiscal 2011 for all our named
executive officers became effective in March 2011.

Named Executive Officer
Jeffrey Nagel(1)
Michael Collins(1)
Scott Rudolph(2)

2010
Base Salary ($)

—
—
962,925
624,600
437,060
370,000
500,000

$

Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren
Glenn Schneider

2011
Base Salary ($)

$

(1)

Mr. Nagel and Mr. Collins were not employed by the Company during fiscal 2010.

(2)

Mr. Rudolph resigned as CEO in December 2010.

750,000
600,000
962,925
624,600
447,987
407,000
525,000

%
Increase

NA
NA
0.0%
0.0%
2.5%
10.0%
5.0%

Incentive Compensation; Annual Cash Bonuses.
We believe that annual cash bonuses reward our executives on a short-term basis for their individual performance and contributions to the Company's
overall performance and motivate them to advance our goals on a year-over-year basis. With respect to our named executive officers, the Company's
employment agreements with Messrs. Nagel and Collins provide for a targeted annual cash bonus of 100% and 75%, respectively, of the executive's annual
base salary, subject to adjustment upwards or downwards at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. In each case, the Compensation Committee may
adjust the cash bonus amount to reflect over-performance or under-performance. Unless determined otherwise on an annual basis, Mr. Nagel's performance is
measured against EBITDA-based performance goals the Committee and Mr. Nagel determine annually. Mr. Collins' performance is measured against
EBITDA-based performance goals the Committee determines annually in its sole discretion. While the Committee evaluated performance based on EBITDA,
the Committee did not set specific EBITDA targets for Messrs. Nagel and Collins.
The Company also maintains a discretionary bonus program. Executive officers who do not have employment agreements are eligible for a bonus under
the Company's discretionary bonus program, based on the Compensation Committee's subjective assessment of the Company's performance and the
individual's performance during the year. The Company's overall performance was, as has been the case in past years, the first and most important factor the
Compensation Committee considers in determining whether to award annual cash bonuses and in the amount of such bonuses. The next most important factor
is the executive's individual performance and contribution to the success of the executive's business unit or executive function. The executive's individual
performance and contribution may increase the amount of the bonus that would be payable based solely on the Company's overall performance.
Based on its determinations of the Company's overall performance, as described above, and the named executive officers' individual performance, the
Compensation Committee awarded each of Messrs. Nagel and Collins 100% of their target bonus for 2011, pro rated to reflect their respective
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employment dates. The following table sets forth the annual cash bonuses paid to our named executive officers for fiscal 2011 performance, compared to the
annual cash bonuses paid to our named executive officers for fiscal 2010 performance, where applicable.

Bonus with
respect to 2010
Fiscal Year
Performance ($)

Named Executive Officer
Jeffrey Nagel(*)
Michael Collins(*)

Scott Rudolph
Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren.
Glenn Schneider
*

$

—
—
1,925,850
1,249,200
446,000
225,000
350,000

Bonus with
respect to 2011
Fiscal Year
Performance ($)

$

622,500
149,850
—
468,450
416,191
264,550
393,750

Mr. Nagel and Mr. Collins were not employed by the Company during fiscal 2010.

Incentive Compensation; Long-Term Compensation
Before the Merger, while we were a publicly traded company, the Company made long-term incentive compensation awards in the form of an annual
grant of equity awards, usually in the form of stock options. The Company implemented a 2011 equity compensation program after the Merger to provide our
management team an opportunity to develop an ownership stake in Holdings, our parent company.
Equity-Based Awards. In fiscal 2011, the Compensation Committee granted a total of 153,178 stock option awards to over 100 members of
management and Directors of the Company or its subsidiaries as a means of providing long-term compensation linked to Company performance. The "2011
Grants of Plan-Based Awards" table located elsewhere in this Report sets forth the stock option grants for each of our named executive officers.
The specific number of stock option awards for each named executive officer was based upon an assessment of that officer's strategic importance to
achieving the Company's goals and objectives for growth. The time-based portion of these awards vest in equal increments over five years, whereas the
performance-based portion vests only upon the occurrence of a liquidity event. The Compensation Committee believes these equity awards align the interests
of our named executive officers with those of our principal stockholder.

Employment Agreements
At the end of fiscal 2011, the Company was a party to employment agreements with Messrs. Nagel, effective December 6, 2010 (the "Nagel
Agreement") and Collins, effective June 13, 2011 (the "Collins Agreement"). In addition, during fiscal 2011, the Company was a party to an employment
agreement with each of Messrs. Kamil (the "2008 Kamil Agreement") and Rudolph (the "2008 Rudolph Agreement"). Under the 2008 Rudolph Agreement,
Mr. Rudolph served as Chairman of the Board and CEO of the Company. On December 6, 2010, Mr. Nagel succeeded Mr. Rudolph as the CEO of the
Company. Mr. Rudolph terminated the 2008 Rudolph Agreement with the Company on February 7, 2011. Under the terms of the 2008 Rudolph Agreement,
Mr. Rudolph received a $6,877,125 change of control payment in connection with this termination of his employment agreement. On May 10, 2011,
Mr. Rudolph resigned as Chairman of the Board. By letter dated May 18, 2011, the Company and Mr. Kamil amended the 2008 Kamil Agreement, as
discussed below under "—Employment Agreements—Kamil Agreements."
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Employment Agreement with Jeffrey Nagel
Effective December 6, 2010, NBTY and Holdings entered into an employment agreement with Jeffrey Nagel under which Mr. Nagel was appointed as
CEO of Holdings and NBTY, as well as a member of the board of directors of each of Holdings and NBTY. The employment agreement has an initial fiveyear term and provides for successive one-year renewals at the expiration of each term, unless prior written notice of non-renewal by any party is provided
60 days in advance. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Nagel's initial annual base salary is $750,000. His base salary may be increased but not decreased
upon periodic review by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Nagel is eligible to receive a performance-based bonus under NBTY's annual bonus program
targeted at 100% of annual base salary, subject to adjustments between the range of 50% and 200% for under or over performance, as determined by the
Compensation Committee. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Nagel received a $2.5 million sign-on bonus on December 21, 2010, which amount is
generally subject to reimbursement if Mr. Nagel's employment is terminated by NBTY and Holdings for "cause" or if Mr. Nagel resigns his employment
without "good reason" (as these terms are defined in the employment agreement) at any time before November 29, 2011. Mr. Nagel also is entitled to the
reimbursement of relocation expenses. Under the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Nagel received a stock option award to purchase 49,468 shares of
Holdings' class A common stock at an exercise price per share equal to its fair market value on the start date of his employment under Holdings' equity
incentive plan, subject to certain vesting provisions. The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Nagel's employment is terminated without cause, resigns
with good reason, or if the agreement is terminated due to non-extension of the term by NBTY and Holdings, he will be entitled to receive an amount equal to
two times his annual base salary, payable over the two-year period following his employment termination. In addition, he will receive the bonus earned but
not paid for any fiscal year completed before termination or a pro rata portion, based on actual fiscal results, for any partial fiscal year. The pro-rata bonus will
be paid upon his death or termination of employment due to disability. The employment agreement contains customary confidentiality provisions and nonsolicitation and non-competition terms applicable to Mr. Nagel that survive for a period of two years following the termination of his employment with the
Company and Holdings.
Employment Agreement with Michael Collins
NBTY and Holdings entered into an employment agreement, dated May 24, 2011, with Michael Collins under which Mr. Collins serves as CFO of
Holdings and NBTY, beginning June 13, 2011. The agreement has an initial five-year term and provides for an annual base salary of $600,000. His base
salary may be increased but not decreased upon periodic review by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Collins also is eligible to receive a performance-based
bonus targeted at 75% of annual base salary, subject to adjustments between the range of 50% and 200% for under or over performance, as determined by the
Compensation Committee. In addition, Mr. Collins received a $1 million sign-on bonus, which amount is generally subject to reimbursement if Mr. Collins's
employment is terminated by NBTY and Holdings for "cause" or if Mr. Collins resigns his employment without "good reason" (as such terms are defined in
the employment agreement) on or before May 13, 2012, and a stock option award to purchase 12,000 shares of Holdings' Class B common stock at an
exercise price equal to the stock's fair market value on the grant date, subject to certain vesting provisions. The employment agreement provides that if
Mr. Collins's employment is terminated without cause, resigns with good reason, or if the agreement is terminated due to non-extension of the term by NBTY
and Holdings, he will be entitled to receive an amount equal to his annual base salary, payable over the one-year period following his employment termination
and a pro-rata bonus if his employment termination occurs after April 1st of the applicable Company fiscal year. The employment agreement contains
customary confidentiality provisions and non-solicitation and non-competition terms applicable to Mr. Collins that survive for a period of one year following
the termination of his employment with the Company and Holdings.
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Kamil Agreements
Under the 2008 Kamil Agreement, Mr. Kamil served as President/CFO of the Company until June 13, 2011. Mr. Kamil's 2008 Agreement provided for
(i) an initial base salary of $600,000 per year, subject to annual increases at least equal to the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index, (ii) the
opportunity to receive an annual bonus, payable in cash, with a target amount of 100% of his base salary and a maximum of 200% of his base salary, (iii) an
opportunity to receive equity-based awards as determined by the Compensation Committee, and (iv) the right to participate in all health insurance and other
benefit plans and programs maintained by the Company, and to receive such other employment benefits as the Company may provide, including a Companyleased car at a maximum lease cost to the Company of $2,000 per month. By letter dated May 18, 2011, the Company and Mr. Kamil amended Mr. Kamil's
2008 Agreement to provide that the 2008 Agreement will terminate on the earlier of (x) the date a new chief financial officer begins his or her employment
with the Company and (y) October 1, 2011. On June 13, 2011, the Company hired Mr. Collins as the Company's CFO, and the 2008 Kamil Agreement
terminated by its terms. In connection with the termination of Mr. Kamil's employment as President/CFO under the 2008 Kamil Agreement, Mr. Kamil
received a lump sum payment of $4,423,000, representing the amount Mr. Kamil would have otherwise received under the 2008 Agreement if his
employment were terminated by the Company without "cause," or if he terminated his employment for "good reason" (each, as defined in the 2008 Kamil
Agreement). The amendment provides that Mr. Kamil will serve as Vice Chairman of the Company upon the termination of his 2008 Agreement. As Vice
Chairman, Mr. Kamil provides services on an as-needed basis and is entitled to receive annual compensation at an annual rate of total compensation of
$624,600. He continues to receive a Company-leased car at a maximum lease cost to the Company of $2,000 per month. The amendment also provides that
the provisions of the 2008 Agreement that were intended to survive the termination of the 2008 Agreement will continue to survive according to their terms,
including the non-competition and non-solicitation provisions that continue for one-year beyond the termination of Mr. Kamil's employment.
For a discussion of amounts payable to each of our named executive officers if his or her employment were terminated, or if a change of control
occurred, as of the end of our most recent fiscal year, see "—Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control" below.

Compensation Committee Report
The members of the Company's Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the above CD&A with management of the Company and, based on
that review and discussion, recommended to the Board that the CD&A be included in this Report.

By the Company's Compensation Committee
Sandra Horbach
Marco DeBenedetti
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
As of September 30, 2011, the Compensation Committee consisted of Sandra Horbach and Marco DeBenedetti. No member of the Compensation
Committee had a relationship during fiscal 2011 requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K.
During fiscal 2011, none of our executive officers served as a member of the Board or Compensation Committee of any other company that has one or
more executive officers serving as a member of our Board or Compensation Committee.
2011 Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth information concerning total compensation earned by or paid to our CEO, our former CEO, our CFO, our former
President/CFO and three other most highly compensated executive officers of the Company who served in such capacities as of September 30, 2011.

Name and Principal Position
Jeffrey Nagel
Chief Executive Officer
Michael Collins
Chief Financial Officer
Scott Rudolph
Former Chairman of the
Board and Former
Chief
Executive Officer
Harvey Kamil
Vice Chairman Former
President and Former
Chief Financial Officer
Irene Fisher
Senior Vice President
and
General Counsel
Hans Lindgren
Senior Vice President
Operations and
Corporate
Secretary
Glenn Schneider
Senior Vice President
Global Wholesale

Non-Equity
Stock
Option Incentive Plan All Other
Salary Bonus($) Awards Awards Compensation Compensation
($)*
(1)
($)
($)(2)
($)
($)(3)
Total ($)
2011 $614,423 $3,122,500
— $6,186,715
— $
327,957 $10,251,595
2011 173,077 1,149,850

— 1,373,640

—

52,663

2,749,230

2011 573,550
2010 962,925

—
—
—
— $376,183 1,149,225

—
$ 1,925,850

6,932,395
79,921

7,505,945
4,494,104

2009 929,963

—

1,500,000

68,279

3,955,522

— 1,457,280

2011 636,432
2010 624,600
2009 603,219

468,450
—
— 250,818
—
—

92,932
780,168
950,790

—
1,249,200
1,000,000

4,468,544
57,555
52,928

5,666,358
2,962,341
2,606,937

2011 451,558

416,191

—

487,893

—

2,236,559

3,592,201

2010 432,345
2009 421,800

446,000
300,000

—
—

185,130
365,100

—
—

39,144
37,222

1,102,619
1,124,122

2011 397,750
2010 360,490

264,550
225,000

—
47,171

580,825
146,677

—
—

30,065
49,619

1,273,190
828,957

2009 353,106

225,000

—

394,500

—

56,059

1,028,665

2011 523,558
2010 477,885
2009 383,654

393,750
350,000
300,000

—
78,238
—

958,361
243,407
243,400

—
—
—

18,739
25,120
15,240

1,894,408
1,174,650
942,294

*

The amount of salary may vary from the base compensation listed under "Executive Compensation" above because payroll periods span more than one fiscal year
and therefore there may be 53 weekly pay periods in any given fiscal year, and fiscal 2011 salary amount reflects certain pay at the prior year's base salary rate.

(1)

Bonus amounts shown for services rendered during the fiscal year in question. Fiscal 2011 bonus amounts for Messrs. Nagel and Collins include sign-on bonus
amounts of $2,500,000 and $1,000,000 respectively.

(2)

Amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of stock option awards during the fiscal year. The Company calculated this fair value based on a Monte Carlo
Simulation option pricing model, determined in accordance with GAAP, based on the assumptions described in Note 17 to our audited financial statements included
in this Report.

(3)

Amounts reflected in table under "All Other Compensation" for 2011 consist of the following:
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Name
Jeffrey
Nagel
Michael
Collins
Scott
Rudolph
Harvey
Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans
Lindgren
Glenn
Schneider

Payment
Upon
Termination
Personal
Company
of
Use
Contributions
Employment
of
to Defined Moving & Medical
Life
or Change
Company Corporate Contribution Temporary Benefits Insurance
in
Automobile Aircraft(1)
Plans
Housing (Cobra) Premiums Control
$

7,034

—

1,403

—

13,991

$

18,146
22,583

$

7,495 $ 311,211 $ 2,003 $
—

51,260

—

Total ($)

214

—

$ 327,957

—

—

52,663

792

9,800

— 11,951

18,736 $ 6,877,125(2) 6,932,395

—
—

9,128
9,800

—
—

18,270
367

4,423,000(2) 4,468,544
2,203,809(2) 2,236,559

9,585

—

9,917

—

10,563

—

30,065

8,694

—

9,800

—

245

—

18,739

(1)

Calculated on the basis of incremental cost of such use to the Company.

(2)

Amounts paid in connection with the Merger pursuant to then existing agreements with the Company.

2011 Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table sets forth the grants of plan-based awards to our named executive officers during fiscal 2011.

Grant
Date

Name

Jeffrey Nagel
Michael Collins
Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren
Glenn Schneider

Grant
Type Threshold

12/6/2010 Option
6/13/2011 Option
5/13/2011 Option
5/13/2011 Option
5/13/2011 Option
5/13/2011 Option

All Other Option
Awards: Number
of Securities
Underlying
Options
Maximum
#

Estimated Possible Payouts
Under Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Awards

—
—
—
—
—
—

Target

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

Exercise Grant Date
or Base Fair Value of
Price of
Equity
Awards
Awards
($Sh)(1)
(2)

49,468 $ 500 $6,186,715
12,000
500 1,373,640
800
500
92,932
4,200
500
487,893
5,000
500
580,825
8,250
500
958,361

(1)

The exercise price of the option awards is the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant.

(2)

Amounts shown represent the aggregate fair value of the equity awards granted to named executive officers during fiscal 2011 on the
grant date. We calculated the aggregate fair value of option awards based on a Monte Carlo Simulation pricing model, determined in
accordance with GAAP, based on assumptions described in Note 17 of our audited financial statements.
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2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table shows the outstanding equity-based awards relating to the common stock of Holdings that were held by our named executive officers
as of September 30, 2011.

Option Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable
(1)

—
—
—
—
—
—

Jeffrey Nagel
Michael Collins
Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren
Glenn Schneider

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options (#)(2)

24,734
6,000
400
2,100
2,500
4,125

24,734
6,000
400
2,100
2,500
4,125

Option
Exercise
Price($)

$

Option
Expiration
Date

500
500
500
500
500
500

12/6/2020
6/13/2021
5/13/2021
5/13/2021
5/13/2021
5/13/2021

(1)

The grants vest in five equal increments on each of the first five anniversaries of December 6, 2010 (for Mr. Nagel), June 13, 2011 (for
Mr. Collins) and January 1, 2011 (for each of the other named executive officers).

(2)

The grants vest upon achievement of a certain performance condition and a market condition relating to the achievement of a minimum
investor rate of return.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2011
The following table provides information with respect to the options and stock awards cancelled and exchanged for cash in connection with the Merger
in fiscal 2011 for our named executive officers.

Option Awards
Number of Shares
Acquired on
Value Realized
Exercise(#)(1)
on Exercise($)(1)

Name

Jeffrey Nagel
Michael Collins
Scott Rudolph
Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren
Glenn Schneider

—
—
826,970
258,722
64,000
66,716
71,145

$

—
—
35,008,756
8,146,689
1,718,980
1,841,082
1,889,132

Stock Awards
Number of Shares
Value Realized
Acquired on
Vesting(#)
on Vesting($)(2)

—
—
8,573
5,716
—
1,075
1,783

$

—
—
471,515
314,380
—
59,125
98,065

(1)

As a result of the Merger each outstanding and unexercised option to purchase shares of NBTY's common stock issued under
previously existing plans, whether or not then vested, was cancelled and entitled the holder thereof to receive a cash amount equal to
the excess, if any, of $55.00 over the per-share exercise price of such option, without interest, less applicable withholding taxes.

(2)

Represents the value of the underlying unvested restricted stock units held by each named executive officer on the date of the Merger,
multiplied by the $55.00 per share consideration paid in the Merger.
81

Table of Contents

Pension Benefits
The Company does not maintain any tax-qualified defined benefit pension plans or supplemental executive retirement plans.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Life Insurance Agreements
The Company does not have traditional nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements with its executive officers. However, the Company has
entered into deferred compensation life insurance agreements with certain employees, including certain named executive officers. Each agreement requires
the Company to maintain a variable life insurance policy on the life of the officer.
Upon retirement on or after age 65, each agreement provides that the officer will be entitled to receive (i) the cash surrender value of the insurance policy
maintained on the officer's life, pursuant to the officer's previously made election (A) in a cash lump sum, or (B) in monthly installments to be paid over a
period not to exceed 10 years, or (ii) the insurance policy. The cash surrender value of the policy will vary over time.
If the officer dies while employed by the Company, or retires and subsequently dies before receiving all the post-retirement payments, the officer's
beneficiary will be entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to the death benefit under the insurance policy in full discharge of all the Company's
obligations under the deferred compensation agreement.
If the officer's employment with the Company is terminated involuntarily due to a permanent disability (as defined in the relevant deferred compensation
life insurance agreement) before the officer's voluntary retirement from the Company, the officer will receive a lump sum payment equal to the cash surrender
value of the insurance policy unless the officer elects that the Company transfer the policy to him, and such payment or transfer will fully discharge all the
Company's obligations under the deferred compensation agreement.
The officer will not be entitled to any benefits under the deferred compensation agreement if the officer's employment with the Company is terminated
under circumstances other than as described above.
As of September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010, the cash surrender value and death benefit under the variable life insurance policies maintained by
the Company in connection with these agreements were as follows:

Name

September 30, 2010
Cash Surrender Value

September 30, 2011
Cash Surrender Value

Death Benefit

—
—
—
Jeffrey Nagel
—
—
—
Michael Collins
$
301,492
—
—
Scott Rudolph
165,946
$
168,070
$
810,000
Harvey Kamil
—
—
—
Irene Fisher
120,979
126,058
725,000
Hans Lindgren
—
—
—
Glenn Schneider
Annual premiums paid totaled $15,163 and $10,000 for Mr. Kamil and Mr. Lindgren, respectively. The policy covering Mr. Rudolph was cancelled
during fiscal 2011, and the Company received its cash surrender value.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control
As of September 30, 2011, we had employment agreements with Jeffrey Nagel and Michael Collins. The agreements with provide that if the executive's
employment is terminated without cause, if
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the executive resigns with good reason, or if the agreement is terminated due to non-extension of the term by NBTY, the executive will be entitled to receive a
termination payment. Mr. Nagel would receive an amount equal to twice his annual base salary, payable over the two-year period, following the date of
termination and Mr. Collins would receive an amount equal to his annual base salary, payable over the one-year period, and in each case a pro-rata bonus with
respect to the fiscal year in which the employment termination occurs (if the termination occurs on or after April 1 in the case of Mr. Collins). The pro-rata
bonus is also paid upon the executive's death or termination due to disability.
The Company recently implemented an executive severance plan that provides a select group of key management employees who do not have
employment agreements with the Company with a severance payment if the Company terminates their employment without cause. The monthly severance
payment, generally payable for 12 months, will equal the participant's one-month stated base salary during the immediately prior year. If the Company
terminates a key management employee's employment after the end of the fiscal year, but before the Company pays bonuses for that year, the Company will
pay the employee any bonus to which the employee would have been entitled absent termination. The Company will pay the bonus amount, if any, when it
pays other executive bonuses. Payments under the plan are subject to the employee's delivering a release of claims and complying with any non-compete,
non-disclosure and non-solicitation agreement the participant has with the Company at the time of termination of employment. If the Company terminates a
employee's employment for cause, no payments are due under this plan.
The below table sets forth potential termination payments under these scenarios under the named executive officers' respective employment agreements
or the executive severance plan, as the case may be.

Payments Due
Upon Termination
Without Cause Or
Resignation With
Good Reason

Executive Officer

$
1,500,000
Jeffrey Nagel
600,000
Michael Collins
447,987
Irene Fisher
407,000
Hans Lindgren
525,000
Glenn Schneider
In addition, our named executive officers may be entitled to accelerated vesting of their option awards in the event of a termination of employment or
certain change of control transactions. Under the terms of a December 6, 2010 stock option grant to Mr. Nagel relating to Holdings common stock, 24,734
options were subject to time-based vesting provisions and 24,734 options were subject to performance-based vesting provisions. Of the options with timebased vesting provisions, 20% vest on each of the first five anniversaries of the start date under his employment agreement. In the event Mr. Nagel becomes
entitled to receive severance payments pursuant to his employment agreement as described above, a pro rata portion of the options subject to time-based
vesting provisions that would otherwise have vested on the next anniversary date will vest, based on the number of days in the annual period elapsed from the
prior vesting date to the date of termination. In the event of a "liquidity event" as defined in the option agreement, through which our principal stockholders'
investment in Holdings is reduced to less than 25% of the equity investment held on the effective date of the Merger, any and all unvested time-based options
will become fully vested. In the event of a "change of control" as defined in the option agreement, meaning a transaction through which a person or group
other than our principal stockholders become a more than 50% beneficial owner of Holdings common stock, or a merger resulting in our principal
stockholders owning less than 50% of the successor company's
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securities, and if Mr. Nagel becomes entitled to severance payments following his termination of employment as described above, any and all time-based
vesting options will also accelerate.
Mr. Nagel's performance-based options have vesting terms relating to the internal rate of return of our principal stockholders following a liquidity event.
If Mr. Nagel's employment is terminated such that he becomes eligible to receive severance payments under his employment agreement as described above,
subject to certain other conditions, the performance options will remain outstanding until the earlier of their expiration, the first liquidity event or the second
anniversary of the termination. However, the vesting of such options will not be accelerated upon the termination.
Our other named executive officers also have stock option agreements under which vesting will accelerate under certain scenarios. Any and all timebased vesting options will become fully vested at the effective time of a "liquidity event," as described above. In the event of a "change in control" that is not
also a liquidity event, any and all time-based vesting options will become fully vested if the executive's employment is terminated without cause or the
executive resigns with good reason within the 12 month period following the change in control, provided certain other conditions are met. The portion of each
option grant that is subject to performance-based conditions vests as of the effective date of the first liquidity event, as defined in the stock option agreement,
as long as the named executive officer remains continuously in service through the effective date of such liquidity event based upon the achievement of an
internal rate of return as follows: if the internal rate of return is equal to 21%, 20% of the performance-based options will vest; if the internal rate of return is
equal to 22%, 40% of the performance-based options will vest; if the internal rate of return is equal to 23%, 60% of the performance-based options will vest;
if the internal rate of return is equal to 24%, 80% of the performance-based options will vest; and if the internal rate of return is equal to or greater than 25%,
100% of the performance-based options will vest.
As of September 30, 2011, the value of the common stock underlying the options was not determined.
In connection with the termination of the 2008 Rudolph Agreement, Mr. Rudolph received a lump sum payment of $6,877,125, representing the amount
Mr. Rudolph was entitled if his employment was terminated without "cause," or if he terminated his employment for "good reason" (each term as defined in
the Rudolph Agreement).
As noted under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" above, the Company and Mr. Kamil amended Mr. Kamil's 2008 Agreement, effective May 18,
2011, to provide that Mr. Kamil's 2008 Agreement would terminate when a new chief financial officer begins his or her employment with the Company or
October 1, 2011, if sooner. In connection with the termination of Mr. Kamil's 2008 Agreement, Mr. Kamil received a lump sum payment of $4,423,000,
representing the amount Mr. Kamil would have otherwise received under his 2008 Agreement if the Company had terminated his employment without
"cause," or if he had terminated his employment for good reason (each term as defined in the 2008 Agreement). The commencement of Mr. Collins' service as
our new CFO on June 13, 2011 represented the effective termination date of Mr. Kamil's 2008 Agreement.
Ms. Fisher received a $2,203,809 payment upon effectiveness of the Merger under a change of control agreement then in effect with the Company.
Please refer to the table under "—Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Life Insurance Agreements" above for a description of payments that may be
made to our named executive officers in the event of the termination of their employment due to death or disability under certain deferred compensation life
insurance agreements.
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Compensation of Directors
Set forth below is a discussion of compensation the Company paid during fiscal 2011 to its non-executive Directors. During fiscal 2011, David Bernauer
earned an annual retainer of $90,000 for services rendered as Director. In addition, each Director (other than Jeffrey Nagel and Scott Rudolph) was
reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him or her to attend meetings of our Board. Directors are also eligible for option grants or other equity
awards (each relating to or exercisable for common stock of Holdings, our parent company) under the Company's equity awards plans, as determined in the
discretion of the Compensation Committee. Except as described below, the Company does not offer a pension plan or other compensation to our Directors.
During fiscal 2011, any Director who was an executive officer of the Company did not receive additional compensation for his services as a Director. See
"2011 Summary Compensation Table" above for information regarding Jeffrey Nagel's and Scott Rudolph's compensation.

Fees Earned
or Paid in
Cash ($)

Name

David Bernauer
Marco DeBenedetti
Robert Essner
Sandra Horbach
Allan Holt
Elliot Wagner
Scott Rudolph(2)
(1)

$

90,000
—
—
—
—
—
—

Stock
Awards ($)

Option
Awards ($)(1)

— $
—
—
—
—
—
—

105,000
—
105,000
—
—
—
—

All Other
Compensation ($)

Total ($)

— $ 195,000
—
—
—
105,000
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of stock option awards made during the fiscal 2011 to each Director in the table.
These awards were scheduled to vest in five equal increments on each of the first five anniversaries of the vesting commencement date
of February 1, 2011. The Company calculated the fair value of the stock option awards based on a Monte Carlo Simulation optionpricing model, determined in accordance with GAAP based on the assumptions described in Note 17 to our audited financial
statements included in this Report.

(2)
Mr. Rudolph resigned from the Board in May 2011.
The aggregate number of option awards outstanding at September 30, 2011 was 600 for Mr. Bernauer and 600 for Mr. Essner.

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

We are a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Holdings, a Delaware corporation, all the outstanding capital stock of which is owned by Carlyle and certain
of its affiliates and co-investors.
The following table sets forth the number of shares of Holdings common stock beneficially owned as of November 1, 2011 by: (i) each Director of the
Company; (ii) the executive officers named in the
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Summary Compensation Table set forth above under Item 11, "Executive Compensation;" and (iii) the current Directors and executive officers as a group:

Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned(5)

Name of Beneficial Owner

Funds affiliated with The Carlyle Group(2)

3,100,000

Percent of
Class(1)

99.7%

Directors(3)
David Bernauer
Marco DeBenedetti
Robert Essner
Sandra Horbach
Allan Holt
Jeffrey Nagel
Elliot Wagner

—
—
—
—
—
5,746
—

—
—
—
—
—
*
—

Named Executive Officers(4)
Michael Collins
Harvey Kamil
Irene Fisher
Hans Lindgren
Glenn Schneider
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (15 persons)

—
80
420
500
825
8,241

*
*
*
*
*

(1)

Percentage ownership of less than one percent.

(2)

Consist of Carlyle Partners V, LP, Carlyle Partners V-A, LP, CP V Coinvestment A, L.P., CP V Coinvestment B, L.P. and
CEP III Participations, SARL SICAR.

(3)

The address of each of our named executive officers and Directors is the Company's headquarters at 2100 Smithtown Avenue,
Ronkonkoma, New York 11779.

(4)

The shares beneficially owned by named executive officers, except for Mr. Nagel's, are Class B non-voting shares.

(5)

This column includes shares which Directors and executive officers have the right to acquire within 60 days of November 22,
2011.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table summarizes the Equity Incentive Plan of Holdings, our parent, as of September 30, 2011:

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total:

Number of
securities to be
Number of securities
issued upon
remaining available for
exercise of
Weighted-average
future issuance under
outstanding
exercise price of equity compensation plans
options, warrants outstanding options,
(excluding securities
and rights
warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
(a)
(b)
(c)

153,098

$

500

44,774

153,098

$

500

44,774
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Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions, and Director Independence

Procedures for Review, Approval or Ratification of Related Person Transactions
Our Code of Business Conduct requires our Directors, officers and employees to act in the best interests of the Company, regardless of personal
relationships. To avoid actual or perceived conflicts of interests, the Board has implemented a written policy requiring the Board to review and approve all
transactions in which any of the following persons had, has, or will have, a direct or indirect material interest:
•

any Director, nominee for Director, or executive officer;

•

any person we know beneficially owns more than 5% of our common stock;

•

any immediate family member of any Director, executive officer, or 5% beneficial owner; and

•

any entity in which any such person is employed or has a 5% or greater beneficial interest, or of which any such person is a partner or principal
(or holds a similar position).

The Board (excluding the interested Director, if any) is responsible for reviewing and approving these transactions. Except as disclosed below, no
transactions required review since the beginning of the last fiscal year and no proposed transactions are currently being considered.
The Board will approve only those transactions that are in, or are not inconsistent with, the best interests of the Company.
Related Person Transactions
Consulting Agreement—Carlyle
We entered into a consulting agreement with Carlyle under which we pay Carlyle a fee for consulting services Carlyle provides to us and our
subsidiaries. In fiscal 2011, we paid a consulting fee to Carlyle of $3 million and may pay Carlyle additional fees associated with other future transactions.
Carlyle also received a one-time transaction fee of $30 million upon effectiveness of the Merger.
Consulting Agreement—Rudolph Management
We paid $450,000 during fiscal 2011 to Rudolph Management Associates, Inc., under an Executive Consulting Agreement between the Company and
Rudolph Management Associates, Inc. Arthur Rudolph, father of Scott Rudolph (our former Chairman and CEO) and a director through October 1, 2010, is
the President of Rudolph Management Associates, Inc. In addition, under this consulting agreement, Arthur Rudolph receives certain health, hospitalization
and similar benefits provided to our executives and a car allowance. The aggregate value of these benefits was $27,061 during fiscal 2011.
Sales Commissions
During fiscal 2011, Gail Radvin, Inc., a corporation wholly owned by Gail Radvin, received sales commissions from us totaling approximately $207,000
for sales in certain foreign countries. Gail Radvin was the aunt of Scott Rudolph, our former Chairman and CEO. During the quarter ended December 31,
2010, the commission agreement was terminated.
Employees Related to Our Directors and Officers
In addition to the sales commissions described above, we employ certain members of the immediate family (as defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K) of
Scott Rudolph, our former Chairman and CEO. During fiscal 2011, two immediate family members of Scott Rudolph (excluding Hans Lindgren, whose
compensation is described under Item 11, "Executive Compensation") received
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aggregate compensation and fringe benefits from us totaling $1,055,822, of which $382,578 was paid to Robert Silverman and $673,244 was paid to Albert
Anastasi, for services they rendered as associates of the Company.
We also employ certain members of the immediate family of Glenn Schneider (an officer of the Company). During fiscal 2011, two of Mr. Schneider's
immediate family members received aggregate compensation and fringe benefits from us totaling $1,266,994, of which $523,997 was paid to Darren
Schneider and $742,997 was paid to Jeffrey Schneider, for services they rendered as associates of the Company.
Director Independence
Information on the independence of our Board is included above under Item 10, "Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance—Director
Independence and Selection."
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Audit Fees
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP audit services during fiscal 2011 consisted of the examination of the Company's financial statements and services related
to the Company's filings with the SEC. All fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and all services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during fiscal
2011 were reviewed, considered for independence, and approved by the Audit Committee.
Aggregate fees billed to the Company for fiscal 2011 and 2010 represent the fees for services performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Fiscal
2011

Type of Fee

Audit Fees
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees

$

Fiscal
2010

3,356,235
—
532,000
11,300
3,899,535

$

$

$

3,059,000
167,000
406,000
68,000
3,700,000

Audit Fees
For fiscal 2011 aggregate audit fees, including out-of-pocket expenses, were for professional services rendered in connection with (i) the integrated audit
of the Company's consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting as of, and for the year ended, September 30, 2011, including
statutory audits of the financial statements of the Company's affiliates, (ii) review of the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements as of December 31, 2010, March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, (iii) reviews of documents filed with the SEC and (iv) agreed upon procedures for
certain affiliates.
For fiscal 2010, aggregate audit fees, including out-of-pocket expenses, were for professional services rendered in connection with (i) the integrated audit
of the Company's consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting as of, and for the year ended, September 30, 2010, including
statutory audits of the financial statements of the Company's affiliates, (ii) review of the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements as of December 31, 2009, March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010, and (iii) issuance of a comfort letter and related services in connection with the
Merger and related financing transactions.
88

Table of Contents
Audit-Related Fees
For fiscal 2010, aggregate audit-related fees, including out-of-pocket expenses, were for professional services related to due diligence procedures in
connection with acquisitions.
Tax Fees
For both fiscal 2011 and 2010, aggregate tax fees, including out-of-pocket expenses, were for professional services rendered in connection with tax
compliance and advice for the applicable fiscal year. Tax services included U.S. and foreign tax compliance assistance, consultation and advice on various
foreign tax matters.
All Other Fees
For fiscal 2011 other fees were for accounting research software license fees.
For fiscal 2010, other fees were for an information technology security review and accounting research software license fees.
Procedures for Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor
The Charter for the Audit Committee provides that the Audit Committee pre-approve, on an annual basis, the audit, audit-related, tax and other non-audit
services to be rendered by the Company's accountants, based on historical information and anticipated requirements for the following fiscal year. The Audit
Committee must pre-approve specific types or categories of engagements constituting audit, audit-related, tax and other non-audit services, as well as the
range of fee amounts corresponding to each such engagement. During fiscal 2011, the Audit Committee approved all fees for audit, audit-related, tax services
and non-audit services rendered to the Company under this policy.
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PART IV
Item 15.
(a)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule.
See the "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" which is located on page 94 of this Report.

(b) Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached as a part of this Report, or incorporated by reference, and will be furnished to any security holder upon
request for such exhibit and payment of any reasonable expenses incurred by the Company. A security holder should send requests for any of the exhibits set
forth below to NBTY, Inc., 2100 Smithtown Avenue, Ronkonkoma, New York 11779, Attention: General Counsel.

Exhibit No.

Description

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 15, 2010, among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet Holding
Company, Inc. and Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.(11)
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NBTY, Inc.(13)
Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of NBTY, Inc.(13)
Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2010, among NBTY, Inc., certain of its guarantor subsidiaries named
therein, and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, governing the 9% Senior Notes due 2018.(13)
First Supplemental Indenture, dated May 3, 2011, among NBTY, Inc., NBTY Florida, Inc. and The Bank
of New York Mellon(14)
Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 1, 2010, by and among Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.,
NBTY, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto, Banc of America Securities LLC, Barclays Capital Inc. and
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC(13)
Form of 9% Senior Notes due 2018 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1).
Employment Agreement, dated November 8, 2010, by and among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet Holding
Company, Inc. and Jeffrey A. Nagel(13)
Stock Option Agreement, dated December 6, 2010, by and between Alphabet Holding Company, Inc.
and Jeffrey Nagel(13)
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 17, 2010, by and between Alphabet Holding Company, Inc.
and Jeffrey Nagel(13)
Employment Agreement, dated May 24, 2011, by and among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet Holding
Company, Inc. and Michael Collins(13)
Employment Agreement, effective March 1, 2008, by and between NBTY, Inc. and Harvey Kamil(9)
Indemnification Agreement, dated May 18, 2011 between NBTY, Inc. and Harvey Kamil(13)
Letter Agreement, dated May 18, 2011, by and between NBTY, Inc. and Harvey Kamil(13)
Executive Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2002 (the "Rudolph Consulting Agreement"), by
and between NBTY, Inc. and Rudolph Management Associates, Inc.(2)
First Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2003.(3)
Second Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement.(4)
Third Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2005.(5)
Fourth Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2006.(6)
Fifth Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2007.(1)
Sixth Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, effective January 1, 2008.(7)
Seventh Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, as of December 1, 2008.(10)
Eighth Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, as of December 10, 2009.(12)
Ninth Amendment to the Rudolph Consulting Agreement, as of December 9, 2010.(13)
90

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4
10.1
10.2
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10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
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Exhibit No.

10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21

Description

Employment Agreement, dated April 25, 2011, by and among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet Holding
Company, Inc. and Karla Packer(13)
NBTY, Inc. Retirement Profit Sharing Plan.*
Credit Agreement, dated October 1, 2010 (the "Credit Agreement"), among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet
Holding Company, Inc., Barclays Bank PLC and the other lenders party thereto.(13)
First Amendment and Refinancing Agreement, dated March 1, 2010, amending the Credit Agreement.
(13)

10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
12.1
21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Subsidiary Guaranty, dated October 1, 2010, from the Guarantors named therein in favor of the secured
parties named in the Credit Agreement(13)
Security Agreement, dated October 1, 2010, from the Grantors named therein to Barclays Bank PLC.(13)
Form of Director Indemnification Agreement(13)
Equity Incentive Plan of Alphabet Holding Company, Inc(13)
Form of Stock Option Agreement for Equity Incentive Plan of Alphabet Holding Company, Inc.(13)
Executive Severance Pay Plan*
Statement regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.*
Subsidiaries of NBTY, Inc.*
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.*
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
XBRL Instance Document.**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document**

*

Filed herewith.

**

Pursuant to rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files included in Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those
sections.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 filed December 11, 2006 (File
#001-31788).

(2)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002 filed December 20, 2002 (File
#000-10666).

(3)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003 filed December 16, 2003 (File
#001-31788).

(4)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004 filed December 14, 2004 (File
#001-31788).

(5)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-Q, filed May 9, 2005 (File #001-31788).
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(6)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-Q, filed February 2, 2006 (File #001-31788).

(7)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 8-K, filed on November 30, 2007 (File #001-31788).

(8)

Incorporated by reference to Annex A to NBTY, Inc.'s Proxy Statement, filed January 16, 2008, for the Annual meeting of
Stockholders held on February 25, 2008 (File #001-31788).

(9)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 8-K filed April 3, 2008 (File #001-31788).

(10)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-Q filed February 9, 2009 (File #001-31788).

(11)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 8-K, filed July 16, 2010 (File #001-31788).

(12)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-Q, filed February 9, 2010 (File #001-31788).

(13)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed March 21, 2011 (File # 333-172973)

(14)

Incorporated by reference to NBTY, Inc.'s Form 10-Q filed August 10, 2011 (File # 333-172973)
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NBTY, INC.
(Registrant)
By:

/s/ JEFFREY NAGEL

Jeffrey Nagel
Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dated: November 23, 2011
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ JEFFREY NAGEL

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 23, 2011

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

November 23, 2011

Director (Chairman)

November 23, 2011

Director

November 23, 2011

Director

November 23, 2011

Director

November 23, 2011

Director

November 23, 2011

Director

November 23, 2011

Jeffrey Nagel
/s/ MICHAEL COLLINS
Michael Collins
/s/ SANDRA HORBACH
Sandra Horbach
/s/ DAVID BERNAUER
David Bernauer
/s/ MARCO DE BENEDETTI
Marco De Benedetti
/s/ ROBERT ESSNER
Robert Essner
/s/ ALLAN HOLT
Allan Holt
/s/ ELLIOT WAGNER
Elliot Wagner
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholder of NBTY, Inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
NBTY, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") at September 30, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended (the
"Successor" period as defined in Note 2) in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our
integrated audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement
and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
November 23, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholder of NBTY, Inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
NBTY, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") at September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 2010 (the "Predecessor" period as defined in Note 2) in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
January 13, 2011
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NBTY, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

$

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see Notes 14 and 16)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, successor, $0.01 par; one thousand shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2011
Capital in excess of par
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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394,406
138,644
675,369
24,340
59,492
1,292,251
479,273
1,212,199
2,005,153
106,680
$ 5,095,556

$

$

$

17,500
186,511
188,542
392,553
2,369,375
748,878
47,855
3,558,661

346,483
135,377
668,896
40,130
66,990
1,257,876
391,899
335,159
194,521
21,313
$ 2,200,768

78,158
158,349
172,031
408,538
341,128
38,175
32,974
820,815

—
508
1,552,188
186,248
22,472
1,198,467
(37,765)
(5,270)
1,536,895
1,379,953
$ 5,095,556 $ 2,200,768
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NBTY, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands)

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and catalog
Selling, general and administrative
Merger expenses
IT project termination costs

2010

2,958,491

$

1,683,486
152,915
843,645
44,479
—
2,724,525
233,966

Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest
Miscellaneous, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
$

Net income

(195,537)
1,480
(194,057)
39,909
9,990
29,919

$

1,521,555
137,556
767,946
45,903
—
2,472,960
353,777

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2009

2,826,737

(30,195)
4,133
(26,062)
327,715
114,045
213,670 $

2,581,950
1,458,437
110,098
737,786
—
11,718
2,318,039
263,911
(34,882)
(61)
(34,943)
228,968
83,239
145,729
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NBTY, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Years Ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands)

Common Stock
Number
of
Shares Amount

Predecessor
balance,
September 30,
2008
Components of
comprehensive
income:
Net income
Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment
and other, net
of taxes
Change in fair
value of
interest rate
swaps, net of
taxes
Comprehensive
income:
Exercise of stock
options
Tax benefit from
exercise of
stock options
Stock-based
compensation
Predecessor
balance,
September 30,
2009
Components of
comprehensive
income:
Net income
Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment
and other, net
of taxes
Change in fair
value of
interest rate
swaps, net of
taxes
Comprehensive
income:
Exercise of stock
options
Tax benefit from
exercise of
stock options
Stock-based
compensation
Predecessor
balance,

Capital
in Excess
of Par

61,599 $ 493 $ 140,990 $

Retained
Earnings

839,068

Accumulated
Other
Total
Comprehensive Stockholders'
Income (Loss)
Equity

$

17,645 $

145,729

145,729

(16,108)

(16,108)

(4,889)

(4,889)
$

275

61,874

2

495

63,444

13

508

124,732

1,444

1,446

55

55

3,396

3,396

145,885

984,797

(3,352) 1,127,825

213,670

213,670

(4,600)

(4,600)

2,682

2,682
$

1,570

998,196

211,752

10,608

10,621

6,646

6,646

23,109

23,109

186,248

1,198,467

(5,270) 1,379,953

September 30,
2010
Purchase
accounting
adjustments
Components of
comprehensive
loss:
Net income
Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment
and other, net
of taxes
Change in fair
value of
interest rate
and cross
currency
swaps, net of
taxes
Comprehensive
loss:
Opening equity of
Merger sub
Capital
contribution
from Holdings
Stock-based
compensation
Successor
balance,
September 30,
2011

(63,444)

(508) (186,248) (1,198,467)

5,270 (1,379,953)

29,919

29,919

(20,196)

(20,196)

(17,569)

(17,569)
$

1

1 $

—

(7,447)

(7,846)
(7,447)

1,550,400

1,550,400

1,788

1,788

— $1,552,188 $

22,472

$ (37,765)$ 1,536,895

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NBTY, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands)

Successor

Predecessor

2011

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities:
Impairments and disposals of assets
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign currency transaction loss
Amortization of deferred charges
Write off of financing fees
Stock-based compensation
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amortization of incremental inventory fair value
Inventory reserves
Deferred income taxes
Excess income tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale marketable securities
Cash paid for acquisitions
Escrow refund, net of purchase price adjustments
Proceeds from sale of assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments under long-term debt agreements and capital leases
Payments for financing fees
Proceeds from borrowings
Capital contribution
Termination of interest rate swaps
Proceeds from borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility
Principal payments under the Revolving Credit Facility
Excess income tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

29,919

2009

$ 213,670 $ 145,729

2,673
103,335
63
15,076
20,824
1,788
5,468
122,104
22,484
(30,934)
—

11,325
66,804
1,125
1,412
—
23,109
1,256
—
934
(13,000)
(6,646)

14,029
68,888
4,552
1,270
—
3,396
(2,354)
—
6,889
6,995
(55)

(8,135)
(38,861)
9,336
27,351
2,146
284,637

21,392
(11,397)
(1,125)
10,748
52,145
371,752

(32,368)
(88,348)
1,255
17,752
(10,693)
136,937

(44,234)
—
(3,987,809)
—
—
(4,032,043)

(69,903)
2,000
(14,200)
—
—
(82,103)

(43,375)
—
—
13,383
2,000
(27,992)

(13,935)
(138,227)
2,400,000
1,550,400
—
—
—
—
—
3,798,238
(2,909)
47,923
346,483
$
394,406 $

(57,157)
(1,524)
—
—
(5,813)
—
—
6,646
10,621
(47,227)
(1,940)
240,482
106,001
346,483 $

(33,217)
—
—
—
—
95,000
(155,000)
55
1,446
(91,716)
(1,408)
15,821
90,180
106,001

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share amounts)
1.

Nature of Business

NBTY, Inc. ("NBTY", and together with its subsidiaries, the "Company," "we," or "us") is the leading global vertically integrated manufacturer,
marketer, distributor and retailer of a broad line of high-quality vitamins, nutritional supplements and related products in the United States, with operations
worldwide. We market over 25,000 individual stock keeping units ("SKUs") under numerous owned and private-label brands, including Nature's Bounty®,
Ester-C®, Solgar®, MET-Rx®, American Health®, Osteo Bi-Flex®, Flex-A-Min®, SISU®, Knox®, Sundown®, Pure Protein®, Body Fortress®,
WORLDWIDE Sport Nutrition®, Natural Wealth®, Puritan's Pride®, Holland & Barrett®, GNC (UK)®, Physiologics®, Le Naturiste®, De Tuinen®, Julian
Graves® and Vitamin World®.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
On October 1, 2010, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 15, 2010, among NBTY, Alphabet Holding Company, Inc., a
Delaware corporation ("Holdings") formed by an affiliate of TC Group, L.L.C. (d/b/a The Carlyle Group) and Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Holdings ("Merger Sub") formed solely for the purpose of entering into the Merger, Merger Sub merged with
and into NBTY with NBTY as the surviving corporation (also referred herein as the "Merger" or the "Acquisition"). As a result of the Merger, NBTY became
a wholly owned subsidiary of Holdings. See Note 3 for further information.
Merger Sub was determined to be the acquirer for accounting purposes and therefore, the Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations and non-controlling interests. Accordingly, the purchase price of the
Acquisition has been allocated to the Company's assets and liabilities based upon their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. Periods before October 1,
2010 reflect the financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position of the Company before the Acquisition (the "Predecessor") and
periods after October 1, 2010 reflect the financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position of the Company after the Acquisition (the
"Successor"). For accounting purposes, the purchase price allocation was applied on October 1, 2010.
Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements
include the financial statements of the Company and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated
in consolidation.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications were made to the prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation. Specifically, accrued inventory purchases
of $17,348 at September 30, 2010, previously included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities, were reclassified to accounts payable.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize product revenue when title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement to deliver a
product, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. The delivery terms for most sales within
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

the wholesale and direct response segments are F.O.B. destination. Generally, title and risk of loss transfer to the customer at the time the product is received
by the customer. With respect to retail store operations, we recognize revenue upon the sale of products to retail customers. Net sales represent gross sales
invoiced to customers, less certain related charges for discounts, returns and other promotional program incentive allowances.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. These judgments can be subjective and complex, and consequently actual results could differ materially from those estimates and
assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our
most significant estimates include: sales returns, promotions and other allowances; inventory valuation and obsolescence; valuation and recoverability of
long-lived assets; stock-based compensation; income taxes; and accruals for the outcome of current litigation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Sales Returns and Other Allowances
Allowance for sales returns: Estimates for sales returns are based on a variety of factors, including actual return experience of specific products or
similar products. We are able to make reasonable and reliable estimates of product returns based on our past 40 year history in this business. We also review
our estimates for product returns based on expected return data communicated to us by customers. Additionally, we monitor the levels of inventory at our
largest customers to avoid excessive customer stocking of merchandise. Allowances for returns of new products are estimated by reviewing data of any prior
relevant new product return information. We also monitor the buying patterns of the end-users of our products based on sales data received by our retail
outlets in North America and Europe.
Promotional program incentive allowances: We estimate our allowance for promotional program incentives based upon specific outstanding marketing
programs and historical experience. The allowance for sales incentives offered to customers is based on various contractual terms or other arrangements
agreed to in advance with certain customers. Generally, customers earn such incentives as specified sales volumes are achieved. We accrue these incentives as
a reduction to sales either at the time of sale or over the period of time in which they are earned, depending on the nature of the program.
Allowance for doubtful accounts: We perform on-going credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment history and the
customer's current credit worthiness, as
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

determined by our review of current credit information. We estimate bad debt expense based upon historical experience as well as specifically identified
customer collection issues to adjust the carrying amount of the related receivable to its estimated realizable value.
Accounts receivable are presented net of the following reserves at September 30:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Allowance for sales returns
Promotional programs incentive allowance
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

10,793
74,593
5,468
90,854

2010

$

$

9,457
56,968
5,575
72,000

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in first-out method) or market. The cost elements of inventories include materials, labor and overhead.
We use standard costs for labor and overhead and periodically adjust those standards. In evaluating whether inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market, we consider such factors as the amount of inventory on hand, estimated time required to sell such inventory, remaining shelf life and current and
expected market conditions, including levels of competition. Based on this evaluation, we record an adjustment to cost of goods sold to reduce inventories to
net realizable value.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Expenditures which significantly improve or extend the life of an asset are
capitalized and depreciated over the asset's remaining useful life. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the related assets or the remaining lease term. Upon sale or disposition, the related cost and accumulated depreciation
are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in earnings.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment indicators are present. We consider the
following to be some examples of important indicators that may trigger an impairment review: (i) a history of cash flow losses at retail stores; (ii) significant
changes in the manner or use of the acquired assets in our overall business strategy; (iii) significant negative industry or economic trends; (iv) increased
competitive pressures; (v) regulatory changes. In conjunction with the Acquisition, we changed our annual impairment testing date to July 1, the first day of
our fourth quarter, from September 30, the last day of our fourth quarter.
Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step process. In the first step, the fair value of a reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. If the fair
value of a reporting unit exceeds the
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

carrying value of the net assets assigned to a reporting unit goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is required. Application of the goodwill
impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of
goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. We use a combination of the income and market approaches to estimate
the fair value of our reporting units. For our indefinite-lived intangible assets, if the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.
We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. If
actual external conditions or future operating results differ from our judgments, this may result in an impairment of our goodwill and/or intangible assets. An
impairment charge would reduce operating income in the period it was determined that the charge was needed.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We evaluate the need for an impairment charge relating to long-lived assets, including definite lived intangible assets, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset
group to its expected future net cash flows generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future
cash flows, the carrying amount is compared to its fair value and an impairment charge is recognized to the extent of the difference. On a quarterly basis, we
assess whether events or changes in circumstances occur that potentially indicate that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable.
Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate projected future operating cash flows. Accordingly, if actual results fall short of such estimates,
significant future impairments could result.
Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or
tax returns. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. We estimate the degree to which tax assets and credit
carryforwards will result in a benefit based on expected profitability by tax jurisdiction. A valuation allowance for such tax assets and loss carryforwards is
provided when it is determined that such assets will, more likely than not, go unused. If it becomes more likely than not that a tax asset will be used, the
related valuation allowance on such assets would be reversed. Management makes judgments as to the interpretation of the tax laws that might be challenged
upon an audit and cause changes to previous estimates of tax liability. In addition, we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in
these jurisdictions. We believe adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for all years. If actual taxable income by tax jurisdiction varies from
estimates, additional allowances or reversals of reserves may be necessary.
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accruals for Litigation and Other Contingencies
We are subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to various matters. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. We determine the amount of reserves needed, if any, for each individual
issue based on our knowledge and experience and discussions with legal counsel. These reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each
matter (including the enactment of new laws), the ultimate resolution of each matter or changes in approach, such as a change in settlement strategy. In some
instances, we may be unable to make a reasonable estimate of the liabilities that may result from the final resolution of certain contingencies disclosed and
accordingly, no reserve is recorded until such time that a reasonable estimate may be made.
Stock-Based Compensation
We record the fair value of stock-based compensation awards as an expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis for all time vesting awards, at
the time performance is achieved or probable to be achieved for all performance based awards. To determine the fair value of stock options on the date of
grant, we apply the Monte Carlo Simulation option-pricing model, including an estimate of forfeitures. Inherent in this model are assumptions related to
expected stock-price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected term and dividend yield.
Shipping and Handling Costs
We incur shipping and handling costs in all divisions of our operations. These costs, included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of income, were $80,413, $69,947 and $64,716 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Of these
amounts, $16,660, $16,312 and $14,340 have been billed to customers and are included in net sales for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively.
Advertising, Promotion and Catalog
We expense the production costs of advertising as incurred, except for the cost of mail order catalogs, which are capitalized and amortized over our
expected period of future benefit, which typically approximates two months. Capitalized costs for mail order catalogs at September 30, 2011 and 2010 was
$575 and $644, respectively. Total mail order catalog expense was $10,395, $9,070 and $10,584 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively, and is included in advertising, promotion and catalog in the consolidated statements of income.
Foreign Currency
The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the applicable local currency. The translation of the applicable foreign currencies into US dollars is
performed for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts and cash flows
using average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Adjustments resulting from the translation of foreign currency financial statements are
accumulated in a separate component of stockholders' equity.
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derivatives and Hedging Activities
All derivative financial instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and measurement of those instruments is
at fair value. Changes in the fair values of those derivatives are reported in earnings or other comprehensive income depending on the designation of the
derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. For derivatives that have been formally designated as cash flow hedges (interest rate swap
agreements), the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings when
interest expense on the underlying borrowings is recognized. For hedges of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries (cross currency swap agreements),
changes in fair value of the derivative are recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss) to offset the change in the value of the net investment being hedged.
We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Recent Accounting Developments
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") amended its guidance on the presentation of comprehensive income in financial
statements to improve the comparability, consistency and transparency of financial reporting and to increase the prominence of items that are recorded in
other comprehensive income. The new accounting guidance requires entities to report components of comprehensive income in either (1) a continuous
statement of comprehensive income or (2) two separate but consecutive statements. The provisions of this new guidance are effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011, however the requirement to present items that are reclassified from other
comprehensive income to net income alongside their respective components of net income and other comprehensive income, has been temporarily delayed by
the FASB until further evaluation can be done on the implementation impact. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on our
financial statements.
In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. If after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, an entity determines it is not more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is not required. This new guidance is effective
for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of the guidance is not expected
to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
3.

Carlyle Merger

On October 1, 2010, an affiliate of The Carlyle Group ("Carlyle") completed its Acquisition of NBTY for $55.00 per share of NBTY's common stock, or
$3,570,191, plus the repayment of NBTY's historical debt of $427,367 (which includes accrued interest and a redemption premium on the notes) and net of
cash acquired of $361,609 (which includes restricted cash collateral of $15,126) for a total net purchase price of $3,635,949. The purchase price was funded
through the net proceeds from our $1,750,000 senior credit facilities, the issuance of $650,000 senior notes and a cash equity contribution from Holdings.
In connection with the Acquisition, the following transactions occurred:
•

investment funds affiliated with Carlyle and certain co-investors capitalized Holdings with an aggregate equity contribution of $1,550,000;
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
3.

Carlyle Merger (Continued)
•

Merger Sub, a subsidiary of Holdings formed solely for the purpose of completing the Acquisition, issued $650,000 aggregate principal amount
of 9% senior notes due 2018 (including any of the substantially identical notes that were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and exchanged for any outstanding notes issued, the "Notes") and entered into senior credit facilities consisting of (1) senior secured term loan
facilities of $1,750,000 and (2) a senior secured revolving credit facility with commitments of $250,000. (See Note 8 for information related to
the subsequent refinancing of the senior credit facilities);

•

at the effective time of the Merger, each share of NBTY's common stock outstanding and each restricted stock unit outstanding immediately
before the effective time of the Merger was cancelled and converted into the right to receive $55.00 per share in cash, without interest, less
applicable withholding tax;

•

at the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding and unexercised option to purchase shares of NBTY's common stock, whether or not then
vested, was cancelled and entitled the holder thereof to receive a cash amount equal to the excess of $55.00 over the per-share exercise price of
such option, without interest, less applicable withholding tax;

•

NBTY's existing 71/8% senior subordinated notes due 2015 were satisfied and discharged and certain indebtedness of NBTY was repaid,
including its existing credit facilities, its multi-currency term loan facility and mortgage; and

•

approximately $184,600 of fees and expenses were incurred related to the foregoing, which included capitalized financing costs of $115,431 (of
which $1,524 in financing costs were paid in fiscal 2010).

We refer to the Merger, the Acquisition, the equity contribution from Holdings, the borrowings under our senior credit facilities, the issuance of the 9%
senior notes and the other transactions described above collectively as the "Transactions."
The Acquisition was recorded using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations and
non-controlling interests. The purchase price has been allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair market value of
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Carlyle Merger (Continued)

such assets and liabilities at the date of the Acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price is as follows:

Cash consideration
Allocated to:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaids and other current assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Intangibles
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Debt and Capital leases
Net assets acquired
Goodwill

$

3,982,432

$
$

346,483
135,377
782,354
7,457
51,078
493,115
2,053,000
18,404
(141,139)
(190,459)
(762,774)
(27,601)
(803)
2,764,492
1,217,940

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities were stated at their historical
carrying values, which approximate their fair value, given the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. Inventories were recorded at fair value, based on
computations which considered many factors, including the estimated selling price of the inventory, the cost to dispose of the inventory, as well as the
replacement cost of the inventory, where applicable.
The following provides the fair value of property, plant and equipment acquired (as of the date of the Acquisition):

Fair Value

$

Land
Building and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Transportation equipment
Construction in progress
Total property, plant and equipment

$
F-14

67,832
216,571
119,405
53,109
18,113
5,844
12,241
493,115

Depreciation
and
amortization
period (years)

4–40
3–13
3–10
3–5
3–4
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Carlyle Merger (Continued)
The following provides the fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired (as of the date of the Acquisition):

Fair Value

Definite lived intangible assets:
Brands and customer relationships
Tradenames and other

$

Indefinite lived intangible asset:
Tradenames
Total intangible assets

$

885,000
171,000
1,056,000

Amortization
period (years)

17–25
20–30

997,000
2,053,000

The Company has allocated $997,000 to tradenames that have been determined to have indefinite lives. Management considered numerous factors in
determining to account for these assets as indefinite-lived intangible assets, including the current market leadership position of the names as well as their
recognition in the industry. The indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually (more frequently if
certain conditions are present).
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents a summary of our consolidated net sales and net income for the year ended
September 30, 2010, assuming that the Acquisition took place October 1, 2009:

2010 Pro Forma

$
$

Net sales
Net income

2,826,737
622

The above unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared for comparative purposes only and includes certain adjustments to actual
financial results, such as imputed interest costs, and estimated additional depreciation and amortization expense as a result of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets acquired. The pro forma financial information does not purport to be indicative of the results of operations that would have been
achieved had the Acquisition taken place on the date indicated or the results of operations that may result in the future.
Pro forma net income for the year ended September 30, 2010 includes an increase in cost of sales of $122,104 relating to an increase in acquired
inventory to its fair value as required under purchase accounting, which was sold during the period, as well as non-recurring Merger expenses of $90,382
which consisted of legal and professional advisory services, the acceleration of vesting of all unvested stock-based compensation, fees related to an unused
bridge loan and a portion of the transaction fee paid to Carlyle.
4.

Acquisitions

We account for acquisitions under the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price is allocated to
the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. Any excess of the purchase
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price over their fair values is recorded as goodwill. The fair value assigned to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based upon
estimates and assumptions, including a valuation.
Ultimate Biopharma
On May 14, 2010, our subsidiary, NBTY Global Hong Kong Limited, acquired Ultimate Biopharma (Zhongshan) Corporation ("Ultimate"), a Chineseforeign joint venture limited company which manufactures softgel capsules for approximately $8,800 plus an adjustment for collected accounts receivable and
other working capital components for a total purchase price of approximately $14,465. The allocation of net assets acquired consisted of accounts receivable,
inventory, property, plant and equipment and goodwill. The goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes.
Proforma financial information related to Ultimate, as well as acquisitions in 2011, is not provided as its impact was not material to our consolidated
financial statements.
5. Inventories
The components of inventories are as follows at September 30:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total
6.

$

2010

148,206
15,521
511,642
675,369

$

$

$

142,228
23,654
503,014
668,896

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is as follows at September 30:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Transportation equipment
Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

$ 69,060
231,739
129,016
67,723
23,345
5,775
8,989
535,647
56,374
$ 479,273

2010

29,212
311,798
228,760
133,348
77,799
12,394
12,241
805,552
413,653
$ 391,899

Depreciation
and
amortization
period (years)

$

4–40
3–13
3–10
3–5
3–4

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately
$58,232, $50,910 and $52,806, respectively.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Direct
North
Wholesale/ European
Response/ American
US Nutrition
Retail
E-Commerce Retail Consolidated

Predecessor balance at September 30, 2009 $ 180,276 $ 142,718 $
263
(2,603)
Foreign currency translation
—
(4,362)
Purchase adjustments
1,875
887
Acquisitions
182,414 136,640
Predecessor balance at September 30, 2010
(182,414) (136,640)
Elimination of predecessor goodwill
610,289 281,922
Purchase accounting adjustments
610,289 281,922
Successor balance October 1, 2010
(2,032)
(4,426)
Foreign currency translation
717
—
Acquisitions
$ 608,974 $ 277,496 $
Successor balance at September 30, 2011

16,105 $
— $ 339,099
—
—
(2,340)
—
—
(4,362)
—
—
2,762
16,105
—
335,159
(16,105)
— (335,159)
317,985
7,744 1,217,940
317,985
7,744 1,217,940
—
—
(6,458)
—
—
717
317,985 $ 7,744 $ 1,212,199

The fiscal 2010 purchase adjustments included in the European Retail segment relate primarily to a change in estimate in the store closing reserves for
Julian Graves for stores which are no longer planned to be closed.

Other Intangible Assets
The carrying amounts of acquired other intangible assets are as follows at September 30:

Successor
2011
Gross
carrying
amount

Definite lived intangible assets
Brands and customer relationships $ 884,265
172,456
Tradenames and other
1,056,721
Indefinite lived intangible asset
993,020
Tradenames
$ 2,049,741
Total intangible assets

Accumulated
amortization

Predecessor
2010
Gross
Amortization
carrying Accumulated
period
amount amortization
(years)

$ 38,382 $ 282,198 $ 99,026
6,206
20,860
11,311
44,588
303,058
110,337
—
1,800
—
$ 44,588 $ 304,858 $ 110,337
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Aggregate amortization expense of other definite lived intangible assets included in the consolidated statements of income in selling, general and
administrative expenses in fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $45,103, $15,894 and $16,082, respectively.
Assuming no changes in our other intangible assets, estimated amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years will be approximately $45,000
per year.
8.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We own a plant (land and building) located in Augusta, Georgia, which is idle. We have marketed the plant for sale. However, due to the current
conditions in the commercial real estate and credit markets, we have been unable to complete a sale transaction. We periodically assess the estimated fair
value of the land and building and reduce their carrying values to the estimated fair value as necessary. During fiscal 2009 we recorded an impairment charge
of $3,270 to reduce the carrying value of the asset. This impairment charge is included in the consolidated statement of income in selling, general and
administrative expenses. At September 30, 2011, the book value of the land and building, which is approximately $8,200, approximates fair value and is
included in Other assets.
9.

Merger Expenses

In connection with the Acquisition described in Note 3, in fiscal 2011 we incurred $44,479 of Merger expenses which consisted of $15,660 in financing
costs associated with an unused bridge loan, $14,324 for a portion of the transaction fee paid to Carlyle and $14,495 of other Merger related costs.
For fiscal 2010, NBTY as the predecessor incurred charges of $45,903 which consisted of $29,761 primarily related to legal and professional advisory
services and $16,142 of incremental stock-based compensation expense as a result of the mandatory acceleration of vesting of all unvested stock options and
restricted stock units in connection with the Acquisition. Of these total costs, $38,123 were contingent upon closing of the Acquisition and recorded on
September 30, 2010 as it represents the last day of operations of the Company prior to the Acquisition.
10.

IT Project Termination Costs

During fiscal 2009, management determined that certain information technology projects relating to the Direct Response, North American Retail and
European Retail segments would be terminated as they were determined to be ineffective and uneconomical. As a result, we recorded a charge for previously
capitalized software configuration and other related costs of $18,773, of which $7,055 was recovered in the fourth quarter due to favorable negotiations with a
service provider associated with this project.
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
The components of accrued expenses and other current liabilities are as follows at September 30:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Accrued compensation and related taxes
Accrued interest
Accrued professional fees
Income taxes payable
Other

2010

46,255
29,285
1,942
12,831
98,229
188,542

$

$

42,235
6,774
23,298
14,513
85,211
172,031

$

Accrued professional fees at September 30, 2010 includes $21,647 related to the Merger.
12.

Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following at September 30:

Senior Credit Facilities:
Term loan B-1
Revolving credit facility
Notes
Senior Subordinated Notes
$300 million, five-year Term Loan
Multi-currency Term Loan
Mortgage and Capital leases

$

Less: current portion
Total

$

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

1,736,875
—
650,000
—
—
—
2,386,875
17,500
2,369,375

$

$

—
—
—
189,014
214,343
15,126
803
419,286
78,158
341,128

In connection with the Acquisition, the Senior Subordinated Notes, the $300 million, five-year Term Loan, the multi-currency Term Loan and the
mortgage were paid down on October 1, 2010. (See Note 3 for further information about the Acquistion.)
Senior Credit Facilities
On October 1, 2010 (the "Closing Date"), we entered into our senior credit facilities consisting of a $250,000 revolving credit facility, a $250,000 term
loan A and a $1,500,000 term loan B. The term loan facilities were used to fund, in part, the Transactions.
On March 1, 2011, NBTY, Holdings, Barclays Bank PLC, as administrative agent, and several other lenders entered into the First Amendment and
Refinancing Agreement to the Credit Agreement (the "Refinancing") pursuant to which we repriced our loans and amended certain other terms under our then
existing credit agreement. Under the terms of the Refinancing, the original $250,000 term
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loan A and $1,500,000 term loan B were replaced with a new $1,750,000 term loan B-1 and the $250,000 revolving credit facility was modified to $200,000.
Borrowings under term loan B-1 bear interest at a floating rate which can be, at our option, either (i) Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin, or (ii) base rate
plus an applicable margin, in each case, subject to a Eurodollar rate floor of 1.00% or a base rate floor of 2.00%, as applicable. The applicable margin for term
loan B-1 and the revolving credit facility is 3.25% per annum for Eurodollar loans and 2.25% per annum for base rate loans, with a step-down in rate for the
revolving credit facility upon the achievement of a certain total senior secured leverage ratio. Substantially all other terms are consistent with the original term
loan B, including the amortization schedule of term loan B-1 and maturity dates. We intend to fund working capital and general corporate purposes, including
permitted acquisitions and other investments, with cash flows from operations as well as borrowings under our revolving credit facility.
The following fees are applicable under the $200,000 revolving credit facility: (i) an unused line fee of 0.50% per annum, based on the unused portion of
the revolving credit facility; (ii) a letter of credit participation fee on the aggregate stated amount of each letter of credit available to be drawn equal to the
applicable margin for Eurodollar rate loans; (iii) a letter of credit fronting fee equal to 0.25% per annum on the daily amount of each letter of credit available
to be drawn; and (iv) certain other customary fees and expenses of our letter of credit issuers.
The revolving credit facility matures five years after the Closing Date and term loan B-1 matures seven years after the Closing Date.
Commencing with the second quarter ending after the Closing Date, term loan B-1 amortizes in equal quarterly installments in an amount equal to 1.00%
per annum of the original principal amount thereof, with the balance due at maturity. We may voluntarily prepay loans or reduce commitments under our
senior credit facilities, in whole or in part, subject to minimum amounts, with prior notice but without premium or penalty, except that certain refinancings of
the term loan B-1 credit facility within one year after the Refinancing will be subject to a prepayment premium of 1.00% of the principal amount repaid.
We must prepay term loan B-1 with the net cash proceeds of asset sales, casualty and condemnation events, the incurrence or issuance of indebtedness
(other than indebtedness permitted to be incurred under our senior credit facilities unless specifically incurred to refinance a portion of our senior credit
facilities) and 50% of excess cash flow (such percentage subject to reduction based on achievement of specified total senior secured leverage ratios), in each
case, subject to certain reinvestment rights and other exceptions. No repayment was required for 2011. We are also required to make prepayments under our
revolving credit facility at any time when, and to the extent that, the aggregate amount of the outstanding loans and letters of credit under the revolving credit
facility exceeds the aggregate amount of commitments in respect of the revolving credit facility.
Our obligations under our senior credit facilities are guaranteed by Holdings and each of our current and future direct and indirect subsidiaries other than
(i) foreign subsidiaries, (ii) unrestricted subsidiaries, (iii) non-wholly owned subsidiaries, (iv) certain receivables financing subsidiaries, (v) certain immaterial
subsidiaries and (vi) certain holding companies of foreign subsidiaries, and are secured by a first lien on substantially all of their assets, including capital stock
of subsidiaries (subject to certain exceptions).
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Our senior credit facilities contain customary negative covenants, including, but not limited to, restrictions on our, and our restricted subsidiaries', ability
to merge and consolidate with other companies, incur indebtedness, grant liens or security interests on assets, make acquisitions, loans, advances or
investments, pay dividends, sell or otherwise transfer assets, optionally prepay or modify terms of certain junior indebtedness, enter into transactions with
affiliates, amend organizational documents, or change our line of business or fiscal year. We were in compliance with all covenants under the senior credit
facilities at September 30, 2011. In addition, our senior credit facilities require the maintenance of a maximum total senior secured leverage ratio on a
quarterly basis, calculated with respect to Consolidated EBITDA, as defined therein, if at any time amounts are outstanding under the revolving credit facility,
including swingline loans and letters of credit. During the year ended September 30, 2011, no amounts were outstanding under the revolving credit facility.
All other financial covenants in the original senior credit facility were removed as part of the Refinancing.
Our senior credit facilities provide that, upon the occurrence of certain events of default, our obligations thereunder may be accelerated and the lending
commitments terminated. Such events of default include payment defaults to the lenders, material inaccuracies of representations and warranties, covenant
defaults, cross-defaults to other material indebtedness, voluntary and involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, material money judgments, material ERISA/
pension plan events, certain change of control events and other customary events of default.
As a result of the Refinancing, $20,824 of previously capitalized deferred financing costs were expensed. In addition, $2,394 of the call premium on term
loan B and termination costs on interest rate swap contracts of $1,525 were expensed. Financing costs capitalized in connection with the Refinancing of
$24,320, consisting of bank fees of approximately $11,714 and the remaining portion of the call premium on term loan B of $12,606, will be amortized over
the remaining term using the effective interest rate method.
Notes
On October 1, 2010, NBTY issued $650,000 Notes bearing interest at 9% in a private placement. On August 2, 2011, these outstanding Notes were
exchanged for substantially identical notes that were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and therefore are freely tradable. The Notes are
senior unsecured obligations and mature on October 1, 2018. Interest on the Notes is paid on April 1 and October 1 of each year, and commenced on April 1,
2011.
On and after October 1, 2014, we may redeem the Notes, at our option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at the following redemption
prices (expressed as a percentage of principal amount), plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the
right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date), if redeemed during the 12-month period
commencing on October 1 of the years set forth below:

Redemption
Price

Period

104.50%
102.25%
100.00%

2014
2015
2016 and thereafter
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In addition, at any time prior to October 1, 2014, we may redeem the Notes at our option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus the Applicable Premium (as defined in the indenture governing the
Notes) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the applicable redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the
relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date).
The Notes are jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed by each of our subsidiaries that is a guarantor under the Credit
Agreement. The Notes are uncollateralized and rank senior in right of payment to existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes,
rank equally in right of payment to our and our subsidiary guarantors' senior unsecured debt, and are effectively junior to any of our or our subsidiary
guarantors' secured debt, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such debt. The Notes contain certain customary covenants including, but not
limited to, restrictions on our and our restricted subsidiaries' ability to merge and consolidate with other companies, incur indebtedness, grant liens or security
interests on assets, make acquisitions, loans, advances or investments, or pay dividends. We were in compliance with all covenants under the Notes at
September 30, 2011.
13.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

GAAP establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the exchange
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. GAAP also establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair value:
•

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not
active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

•

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2011:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets (liabilities):
Current:
$ — $ (9,102) $
—
Interest rate swaps (included in other current liabilities)
$ — $
— $ (2,160)
Cross currency swaps (included in other current liabilities)
Non-current:
$ — $ (8,386) $
—
Interest rate swaps (included in other liabilities)
$ — $
— $ (8,966)
Cross currency swaps (included in other liabilities)
The Company's swap contracts are measured at fair value based on a market approach valuation technique. With the market approach, fair value is
derived using prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. Although nonperformance risk of the Company and the counterparty is present in all swap contracts and is a component of the estimated fair values, we do not view nonperformance risk to be a significant input to the fair value for the interest rate swap contracts. However, with respect to our cross currency swap contracts, we
believe that non-performance risk is higher; therefore the Company classifies these swap contracts as "level 3" in the fair value hierarchy and, accordingly,
records estimated fair value adjustments based on internal projections and views of those contracts.
There were no Level 3 assets or liabilities as of September 30, 2010 and the change in liabilities that are included in Level 3 as of September 30, 2011
relates to the change in the fair market value of the cross currency swaps that were entered into during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011. There were
no other transactions that impacted assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011.
The following table shows the activity related to net investment hedges for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011:

Successor
2011

Beginning balance:
Unrealized gain (loss) on hedging instruments
Ending balance:

$
$

—
(17,569)
(17,569)

Interest Rate Swaps
To manage the potential risk arising from changing interest rates and their impact on long-term debt, our policy is to maintain a combination of available
fixed and variable rate financial instruments.
During December 2010, we entered into three interest rate swap contracts that were subsequently terminated in connection with the Refinancing,
resulting in a termination payment of $1,525. During March 2011, we entered into three interest rate swap contracts to fix the LIBOR indexed interest rates on
a portion of our senior credit facilities until the indicated expiration dates of these swap contracts. Each swap contract has an initial notional amount of
$333,333 (for a total of one billion dollars), with a
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fixed interest rate of 1.92% for a four-year term. The notional amount of each swap decreases to $266,666 in December 2012, decreases to $166,666 in
December 2013 and has a maturity date of December 2014. Under the terms of the swap contracts, variable interest payments for a portion of our senior credit
facilities are swapped for fixed interest payments. These interest rate swap contracts were designated as a cash flow hedge of the variable interest payments on
a portion of our term loan debt. Hedge effectiveness will be assessed based on the overall changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts. Any
potential ineffectiveness is measured using the hypothetical derivative method. Any ineffectiveness will be recognized in current earnings. Hedge
ineffectiveness from inception to September 30, 2011 was insignificant.
In fiscal 2008, we entered into two interest rate swap contracts to hedge the variability of future interest relating to a portion of the interest payments on
our Term Loan. Each swap contract had a notional amount of $100 million. One swap contract had a fixed interest rate, before bank margin of 3.88% for a
two year term and the other swap contract had a fixed interest rate, before bank margin of 4.195% for a three year term. Under the terms of the swap contracts,
variable interest payments for a portion of our Term Loan are swapped for fixed interest payments. The change in the fair value of the swap contracts for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 recorded through other comprehensive income (loss) ("OCI"), net of income tax was $2,682 and $4,889,
respectively. In anticipation of the Merger, both swap contracts were terminated on September 29, 2010. The fair value of the swap contracts was $5,813 on
that date.

Cross Currency Swaps
To manage the potential exposure from adverse changes in currency exchange rates, specifically the British pound, arising from our net investment in
British pound denominated operations, during December 2010, we entered into three cross currency swap contracts to hedge a portion of the net investment in
our British pound denominated foreign operations. The aggregate notional amount of the swap contracts is 194,200 British pounds (approximately $303,000
U.S. dollars), with a forward rate of 1.56, and a termination date of September 30, 2017.
These cross currency contracts were designated as a net investment hedge to the net investment in our British pound denominated operations. Hedge
effectiveness is assessed based on the overall changes in the fair value of the cross currency swap contracts. Any potential hedge ineffectiveness is measured
using the hypothetical derivative method and is recognized in current earnings. Hedge ineffectiveness from inception to September 30, 2011 was insignificant.
The following table shows the effect of the Company's derivative instruments designated as cash flow and net investment hedging instruments for the
year ended September 30, 2011:

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in
OCI on Derivative
(Effective Portion)

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated
OCI into Income
(Effective Portion)

Successor

Successor

2011

2011

Cash Flow Hedges:
Interest rate swaps
Net Investment Hedges:
Cross currency swaps
Total
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(6,831)
(25,258)

$

(7,689)

$

—
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Notes
The face value of the Notes at September 30, 2011 was $650,000. The fair value of the Notes, based on then quoted market prices, was $663,000 at
September 30, 2011.
Other Fair Value Considerations
During the fourth quarter of each year, the Company evaluates goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles for impairment at the reporting unit level using
market data and a cash flow model using Level 3 inputs. Additionally, on a nonrecurring basis, the Company uses fair value measures when analyzing asset
impairment. Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined such indicators are present and the review indicates that the assets will not be
fully recoverable, based on undiscounted estimated cash flows over the remaining amortization periods, their carrying values are reduced to estimated fair
value. Measurements based on undiscounted cash flows are considered to be Level 3 inputs.
14. Litigation Summary
Stock Purchases
On May 11, 2010, a putative class-action, captioned John F. Hutchins v. NBTY, Inc., et al, was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District
of New York, against NBTY and certain current and former officers, claiming that the defendants made false material statements, or concealed adverse
material facts, for the purpose of causing members of the class to purchase NBTY stock at allegedly artificially inflated prices. An amended complaint,
seeking unspecified compensatory damages, attorneys' fees and costs, was served on February 1, 2011. The Company moved to dismiss the amended
complaint on March 18, 2011 and that motion is pending. We believe the claims to be without merit and intend to vigorously defend this action. At this time,
however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of any of the defendants.
Employment Class Actions
On or about July 7, 2010, a putative class action captioned Hamilton and Taylor v. Vitamin World, Inc. was filed against one of our subsidiaries in the
Alameda Superior Court, California. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of employees in connection with several causes of action alleging, among other things,
wage and hour violations. Plaintiffs describe the class as all non-exempt current and former employees of Vitamin World Stores in California. The complaint
seeks compensatory damages, statutory penalties, restitution, disgorgement of profits, and attorneys' fees and costs in unidentified amounts. To date, the
Plaintiffs have filed an amended complaint and discovery is ongoing. The Company challenges the validity of the claims and intends to vigorously defend this
action. At this time, however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of the
defendant. In addition, on or about October 27, 2010, a different set of plaintiffs filed an action captioned Hickman v. Vitamin World, Inc. in Solano County
Superior Court, California. Vitamin World filed a demurrer and motion to abate that action because it is identical to the instant Hamilton complaint and the
Hickman action was dismissed on May 31, 2011.
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14. Litigation Summary (Continued)
On or about April 8, 2010, a putative class action captioned Dirickson v. NBTY Acquisition, LLC, NBTY Manufacturing, LLC, NBTY, Inc., and Volt
Management Corporation ("Volt") was filed against the Company and certain subsidiaries in the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles. Volt is
not related to the Company. Plaintiff seeks to represent a class of employees in connection with several causes of action alleging, among other things, wage
and hour violations. The complaint seeks damages on behalf of all non-exempt employees within the State of California who worked for Volt or any of the
NBTY entities between April 8, 2006 and April 8, 2010, including compensatory damages, unpaid wages, statutory penalties, restitution, unspecified
injunctive relief, unjust enrichment and attorneys' fees and costs in unidentified amounts. The NBTY entities have entered into settlement discussions with the
plaintiffs, and those discussions are ongoing. Until such settlement is finalized, however, no determination can be made as to the ultimate outcome of the
litigation or the amount of liability, if any, on the part of the defendant.
Claims in the Ordinary Course
In addition to the foregoing, other regulatory inquiries, claims, suits and complaints (including product liability, intellectual property and Proposition 65
claims) arise from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. We believe that such other inquiries, claims, suits and complaints would not have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations, if adversely determined against us.
15. Income Taxes
Income before provision for income taxes consists of the following components:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

United States
Foreign

2010

(80,927)
120,836
39,909

$

2009

$

237,306
90,409
327,715

$

$

170,279
58,689
228,968

$

Provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

2009

Federal
Current
Deferred

$

3,712
(29,177)

$

86,896
(13,160)

$

47,260
6,141

State
3,637
(3,490)

Current
Deferred

12,459
(1,045)

8,185
622

Foreign
Current
Deferred
Total provision

$

33,575
1,733
9,990
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$

27,690
1,205
114,045

$

20,799
232
83,239
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15. Income Taxes (Continued)
The following is a reconciliation of the income tax expense computed using the statutory Federal income tax rate to the actual income tax expense and
the effective income tax rate.

Successor

Predecessor

2011
Percent
of pretax
Amount income

Income tax expense at statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Change in valuation allowance
Effect of international operations, including foreign export benefit and earnings indefinitely
reinvested
Domestic manufacturing deduction
Transaction costs
Other

2010
Percent
of pretax
Amount income

2009
Percent
of pretax
Amount income

$13,968
(1,125)
786

35.0% $114,701
(2.8)%
7,090
2.0%
1,556

35.0% $80,139
2.2% 5,725
0.5% 4,309

35.0%
2.5%
1.9%

(3,625)
(1,874)
1,164
696
$ 9,990

(9.1)%
(6,638)
(4.7)%
(4,200)
2.9%
2,745
1.7%
(1,209)
25.0% $114,045

(2.0)% (4,193)
(1.3)% (2,580)
0.8%
(0.4)% (161)
34.8% $83,239

(1.8)%
(1.1)%
(0.1)%
36.4%

The difference in the effective rate in fiscal 2011 as compared to the statutory rate is mainly attributable to certain foreign benefits and other deductions
that became higher in proportion to the net tax expense and thus decreased the effective tax rate for fiscal 2011.
The difference in the effective rate in fiscal 2009 as compared to the statutory rate is mainly attributable to higher state income taxes resulting from an
increase in domestic income and losses attributable to certain foreign subsidiaries for which no benefit has been recognized.
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows as of September 30:

Deferred tax assets:
Inventory reserves and UNICAP
Accrued expenses and reserves not currently deductible
Other comprehensive income
Foreign and state tax credits
Foreign net operating losses
Valuation allowance
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Undistributed foreign earnings
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Total net deferred income tax assets / (liabilities)
Less current deferred income tax assets
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities

$

$
F-27

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

7,481
18,785
11,386
54,210
12,614
(15,404)
89,072
(51,748)
(711,230)
(50,632)
(813,610)
(724,538)
(24,340)
(748,878)

$

$

11,829
32,678
2,244
23,530
11,509
(14,618)
67,172
(15,123)
(29,763)
(20,331)
(65,217)
1,955
(40,130)
(38,175)
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Income Taxes (Continued)

At September 30, 2011, we had foreign net operating losses, foreign tax credit and New York State ("NYS") investment tax credit carryforwards of
$35,878, $50,316 and $3,393, respectively. At September 30, 2010, we had foreign net operating losses, foreign tax credit and NYS investment tax credit
carryforwards of $32,727, $20,059 and $3,472, respectively. At September 30, 2011 and 2010, we maintained a valuation allowance of $2,792 and 3,112,
respectively, against the NYS investment tax credits that expire primarily between 2013 and 2016 and $12,614 and $11,509, respectively, against foreign loss
carryforwards which expire in accordance with applicable tax law. We provide a valuation allowance for these credit and loss carryforwards because we do
not consider realization of such assets to be more likely than not. We continue to monitor the need for these valuation allowances on an on-going basis.
At September 30, 2011, we had $83,249 of undistributed international earnings on which we have not provided any U.S. tax expense as we intend to
permanently reinvest these earnings outside of the U.S.
The change in the valuation allowance for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Beginning balance
NYS investment tax credit carryforwards utilized
Foreign net operating losses generated
Foreign net operating losses acquired
Balance at September 30

$

2010

(14,618)
319
(1,105)
—
(15,404)

$

2009

(13,063) $
342
(1,897)
—
(14,618) $

$

(8,400)
212
(4,521)
(354)
(13,063)

The following table summarizes the activity related to gross unrecognized tax benefits from October 1, 2009 to September 30, 2011:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Beginning balance
Increases related to prior year tax positions
Decreases related to settlements with taxing authorities
Decreases related to lapsing of statute of limitations
Balance as of September 30

$

9,210
2,207
—
(730)
10,687

2010

$

$

9,229 $
1,252
(669)
(602)
9,210 $

2009

10,007
385
(465)
(698)
9,229

These liabilities are primarily included as a component of other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet because we generally do not anticipate that
settlement of the liabilities will require payment of cash within the next twelve months.
Our total unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate were $8,195 and $6,588 as of September 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. We do not believe that the amount will significantly change in the next 12 months.
We accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. This methodology is consistent with previous periods. At
September 30, 2011, we had accrued $1,204 and
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Income Taxes (Continued)

$535 for the potential payment of interest and penalties, respectively. As of September 30, 2011, we were subject to U.S. Federal Income Tax examinations
for the tax years 2007 through 2010, and to non-US examinations for the tax years of 2005–2010. In addition, we are generally subject to state and local
examinations for fiscal years 2008–2010. There were no significant changes to accrued penalties and interest during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011.
The Company is under an Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") examination for tax years 2007–2009. Among other issues, the IRS has questioned the
values used by the Company to transfer product and provide services to an international subsidiary. The Company believes it has appropriately valued such
product transfers and services and intends to continue to support this position as the IRS examination continues to progress.
16.

Stockholders' Equity

In connection with the Merger, each of the outstanding shares of NBTY common stock was converted into the right to receive cash consideration of
$55.00 per share (see Note 3 for further information). As of October 1, 2010, Holdings owns 100% of NBTY's issued and outstanding common stock.
During December 2010, Holdings made an additional capital contribution of $400.
The opening accumulated deficit of Merger Sub consists of acquisition related expenses incurred prior to October 1, 2010.
17.

Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans
Successor

On November 30, 2010, Holdings adopted the Equity Incentive Plan of Alphabet Holding Company, Inc. (the "Plan"), pursuant to which Holdings may
grant options to selected employees and directors of the Company. The aggregate number of shares which may be issued under the Plan is 50,268 shares of
the Class A common stock and 148,404 shares of the Class B common stock. Options granted under the Plan expire no later than 10 years from the date of
grant and the exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.
During fiscal 2011, Holdings granted 49,468 Class A common stock options and 103,710 Class B common stock options to certain Company employees
under the Plan. Vesting of the awards is based on the passage of time, in equal installments over five years /or the achievement of a performance
condition(i.e., a liquidity event as defined in the plan agreement) and market conditions (i.e., the achievement of a minimum investor rate of return). The fair
value of each of the Company's time-based stock option awards is expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the
five year vesting period of the options. However, for options granted with a performance condition, compensation expense is recognized when it is probable
that the performance condition will be met. As the Company has determined it is not probable the performance condition will be achieved, no compensation
cost has been recognized during fiscal 2011 relating to the performance based awards.
The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of options granted in fiscal 2011 was $180 for time based vesting and $56 for performance based
vesting. The fair value of each option award is
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Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

estimated on the date of grant using Monte Carlo simulations. The following weighted-average assumptions were used for the options granted:

Fiscal year ended
September 30,
2011

Significant assumptions:
Time based vesting
Risk-free rate(1)
Expected term(2)
Expected volatility(3)
Expected dividends
Performance based vesting
Risk-free rate(1)
Expected term(4)
Expected volatility(3)
Expected dividends

.12%–4.5%
6.5 years
33%
0.0%
.12%–4.5%
6.6 years
34%
0.0%

(1)

The risk free interest rate assumption was based on yields of U.S. Treasury securities in effect at the date of grant with
terms similar to the expected term.

(2)

The expected term of the options was estimated utilizing the simplified method. We utilize the simplified method
because the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to
estimate expected term. The simplified method was used for all stock options that require only a service vesting
condition.

(3)

Expected volatility was estimated based on historical volatility of peer companies over a period equivalent to the
expected term.

(4)
The expected term of the options was estimated utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation model.
A summary of stock option activity follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2011
Weighted
average
Number
exercise
of shares
price

Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of period
Exercisable at end of period
Number of shares available for future grant
F-30

—
153,178
—
(500)
152,678

$
$
$
$
$

—
500
—
500
500

—
45,194

$

—
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Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

As share-based compensation expense recognized is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures of 0% and
10% per year for senior management and other management, respectively. Forfeitures are required to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on historical and forecasted turnover.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at September 30, 2011:

Range of
Exercise
Prices

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Shares
Contractual
Outstanding
Life

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Intrinsic
Value

$500.00
152,678
9.5 $
500.00
—
$
—
$
—
As of September 30, 2011, $12,632 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested time-based vesting options is expected to be
recognized over the weighted average period of 4.3 years.
As of September 30, 2011, the total potential unrecognized compensation cost related to the performance-based vesting options is $4,311 and no
compensation cost will be recognized until the related performance condition is deemed probable of occurring.
Predecessor
As a result of the Merger (see Note 3) each outstanding and unexercised option to purchase shares of NBTY's common stock, issued under previously
existing plans whether or not then vested, was cancelled and entitled the holder thereof to receive a cash amount equal to the excess, if any, of $55.00 over the
per-share exercise price of such option, without interest, less applicable withholding tax.
The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of the options granted in fiscal 2010 and 2009 was $22.13 and $11.48 respectively. The fair value
of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. The following weighted-average assumptions were
used for the options granted:

2010

Risk-free rate(1)
Expected term(2)
Expected volatility(3)
Expected dividends

2009

2.9%
6.4 years
48%
0.0%

2.8%
6.5 years
49%
0.0%

(1)

The risk-free rate is based upon the rate on a zero coupon U.S. Treasury bill, for the expected term of the option, in effect at the
time of grant.

(2)

The expected term of the option is based on historical employee exercise behavior, the vesting terms of the respective option
and a contractual life of ten years.

(3)

Expected volatility is primarily based on the daily historical volatility of our stock price, over a period similar to the expected
term of the option.
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Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2010
Number
of shares
(in thousands)

3,765
287
(1,570)
(28)
2,454
838

Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of period
Exercisable at end of period

2009
Weighted
average
exercise
price

$
$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number
of shares
(in thousands)

14.38
43.88
6.76
26.10
22.57
12.08

3,231
925
(275)
(116)
3,765
1,999

$
$
$
$
$
$

11.53
22.90
5.26
25.51
14.38
5.75

A summary of stock option exercise and related activity follows (in thousands):

2010

Stock options exercised
Aggregate proceeds
Compensation deduction for tax purposes
Tax benefit credited to capital in excess of par
Intrinsic value of options exercised
Employee Benefit Plans

$
$
$
$

1,570
10,620
6,940
6,646
55,383

2009

$
$
$
$

275
1,446
148
55
4,867

We sponsor a Retirement Savings Plan consisting of a 401(k) plan covering substantially all employees with more than six months of service. As allowed
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Plan provides tax-deferred salary deductions for eligible employees. Employees may contribute from
one to fifty percent of their annual compensation to the Plan, limited to a maximum annual amount as set, and periodically updated, by the Internal Revenue
Service. We provide a Company match of 100% of employee contributions, up to three percent of the employee's gross earnings and 50% match of the next
two percent of earnings, limited to an annual match contribution of $10 per employee. Employees become fully vested in employer match contributions after
three years of service.
We also have an Associate Profit Sharing Plan ("PSP), which is allocated among participants who have completed one thousand hours of service in the
plan year end who were employed on the last day of the plan year, based upon their relative compensation for the year. As of September 30, 2011, the amount
accrued for the PSP is $3,980.
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Operating Leases
We conduct retail operations under operating leases, which expire at various dates through 2039. Some of the leases contain escalation clauses, as well as
renewal options, and provide for contingent rent based upon sales plus certain tax and maintenance costs.
Future minimum rental payments (excluding real estate tax and maintenance costs) for retail locations and other leases that have initial or noncancelable
lease terms are as follows for the fiscal year ending September 30:

$

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

$

118,741
104,849
90,473
78,164
68,219
273,888
734,334

Operating lease rent expense (including real estate taxes and maintenance costs) and leases on a month to month basis were approximately $168,898,
$157,539 and $149,929 during fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Purchase Commitments
We were committed to make future purchases primarily for inventory related items, such as raw materials and finished goods, under various purchase
arrangements with fixed price provisions aggregating approximately $177,740 at September 30, 2011.
Capital Commitments
We had approximately $7,380 in open capital commitments at September 30, 2011, primarily related to leasehold improvements, as well as
manufacturing equipment, computer hardware and software.
Real Estate Tax Incentive Transaction
In August 2005, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction pursuant to which we sold certain manufacturing assets and the land and building located in
Augusta, Georgia for a total purchase price of $14,973. The purchase price consisted of $14,973 in cash which was simultaneously invested and is subject to
an Industrial Revenue Bonds (IRB's) financing agreement. This agreement is intended to permit counties to attract business investment by offering property
tax incentives. In accordance with Georgia law, we entered into this sale-leaseback agreement with Richmond County (the "County") and acquired an
Industrial Development Revenue Bond. The arrangement is structured so that our lease payments to the County equal and offset the County's bond payments
to the Company. The Bond is non-recourse to the County, our lease payments are pledged to secure repayment of the Bond, and the lease and bond provide
for the legal right of offset. Consequently, the investment and lease obligation related to this arrangement have been offset in our consolidated balance sheets.
The agreement has a
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Commitments (Continued)

maximum expiration date of 2025. Under the terms of the agreement, we must annually submit information regarding the value of the machinery and
equipment in service in the County. If we had not entered into this transaction, property tax payments would have been higher. We can reacquire such
property and terminate the agreement at a nominal price of one dollar. The subject property was included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheet as
of September 30, 2011 and 2010.
19.

Related Party Transactions

Consulting Agreement—Carlyle
We entered into a consulting agreement with Carlyle under which we pay Carlyle a fee for consulting services Carlyle provides to us and our
subsidiaries. Under this agreement, subject to certain conditions, we expect to pay an annual consulting fee to Carlyle of $3 million, we will reimburse them
for their out-of-pocket expenses and we may pay Carlyle additional fees associated with other future transactions. For the year ended September 30, 2011,
these fees totaled $3,000 and are recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses. Carlyle also received a one-time transaction fee of $30 million
upon effectiveness of the Merger. Of this amount, $14,324 was recorded in Merger expenses and $15,676 was included with deferred financing costs. There
were no transaction or consulting fees from Carlyle charged to any periods prior to Fiscal 2011.
Consulting Agreement—Rudolph Management
We paid $450 during each of Fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 to Rudolph Management Associates, Inc., under the Rudolph Consulting Agreement. Arthur
Rudolph, father of the Company's former CEO, Scott Rudolph and a director through October 1, 2010, is the President of Rudolph Management
Associates, Inc. In addition, under this Consulting Agreement, Arthur Rudolph receives certain health, hospitalization and similar benefits provided to our
executives and a car allowance. The aggregate value of these benefits was $27 during Fiscal 2011.
Sales Commissions
During Fiscal 2011, Gail Radvin, Inc., a corporation wholly owned by Gail Radvin, received sales commissions from us totaling approximately $207 for
sales in certain foreign countries. Gail Radvin is the aunt of the Company's former CEO, Scott Rudolph. The entity also received sales commissions of $721
and $645 in Fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. During the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the commission agreement was terminated.
F-34

Table of Contents

NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
20.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of income taxes as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps
Total

$

2010

(20,196)
(17,569)
(37,765)

$
$

(1,701)
(3,569)
(5,270)

The change in the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment primarily relates to our investment in our European subsidiaries and fluctuations in
exchange rates between their local functional currencies and the U.S. dollar.
During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 we recorded a decrease in our deferred tax liability relating to other comprehensive
income incurred during the year of $10,667, $109 and $13,213, respectively.
21.

Business and Credit Concentration

Financial instruments
Financial instruments which potentially subject us to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (the amounts of which may, at times,
exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits on insurable amounts), investments and trade accounts receivable. We mitigate our risk by investing in
or through major financial institutions.
Customers
We perform on-going credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment history and the customers' current
creditworthiness, as determined by review of their current credit information. Customers' account activity is continuously monitored. As a result of this review
process, we record bad debt expense, which is based upon historical experience as well as specific customer collection issues that have been identified, to
adjust the carrying amount of the related receivable to its estimated realizable value. While such bad debt expenses historically have been within expectations
and the allowances established, if the financial condition of one or more of our customers were to deteriorate, additional bad debt provisions may be required.
One customer accounted for the following percentages of net sales for the fiscal years ended September 30:

Wholesale/US
Nutrition Segment
Net Sales
Sucessor

Predecessor

2011

Customer A

Total Consolidated
Net Sales

2010

25%

Sucessor
2009

27%

30%
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2011

2010

15%

2009

16%

18%
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Business and Credit Concentration (Continued)

The loss of this customer, or any of our other major customers, would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations if we were
unable to replace such customer(s).
The following customers accounted for the following percentages of the Wholesale/US Nutrition segment's gross accounts receivable at fiscal years
ended:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

2010

18%
11%

Customer A
Customer B
Suppliers

21%
7%

During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 no one supplier provided more than 10% of our raw material purchases. We do not believe that the loss of any single
supplier would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
22. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Successor

Predecessor

2011

Cash interest paid
Cash income taxes paid (net of refunds of $30,984 for Fiscal 2011)
Non-cash investing and financing information:
Acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method:
Fair value of assets acquired
Liabilities assumed
Less: Cash acquired
Net cash paid

$

129,194
29,688

$

2010

$

5,111,188 $
(1,123,379)
—
$ 3,987,809 $

Property, plant and equipment additions included in accounts payable
23. Segment Information

5,524

2009

27,695 $ 34,074
122,022
61,646

15,563 $
(676)
(687)
14,200 $
2,034

—
—
—
—
1,131

We are organized by sales segments on a worldwide basis. We evaluate performance based on a number of factors; however, the primary measures of
performance are the net sales and income or loss from operations (before corporate allocations) of each segment, as these are the key performance indicators
that we review. Operating income or loss for each segment does not include the impact of any intercompany transfer pricing mark-up, corporate general and
administrative expenses, interest expense and other miscellaneous income/expense items. Corporate general and administrative expenses include, but are not
limited to, human resources, legal, finance, and various other corporate level activity related expenses. Such unallocated expenses remain within Corporate.
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All our products fall into one or more of these four segments:
•

Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition—This segment sells products under various brand names and third-party private labels, each targeting specific market
groups which include virtually all major mass merchandisers, club stores, drug store chains and supermarkets. This segment also sells products to
independent pharmacies, health food stores, the military and other retailers.

•

European Retail—This segment generates revenue through its 660 Holland & Barrett stores (including seven franchised stores in Singapore, one
franchised store in each of South Africa, Hungary and United Arab Emirates, two in Malta and six franchised stores in Cyprus), 217 Julian
Graves stores and 49 GNC (UK) stores in the U.K., 101 De Tuinen stores (including 10 franchised locations) in the Netherlands and 41 Nature's
Way stores in Ireland. Such revenue consists of sales of proprietary brand and third-party products as well as franchise fees.

•

Direct Response/E-Commerce—This segment generates revenue through the sale of proprietary brand and third-party products primarily through
mail order catalog and internet. Catalogs are strategically mailed to customers who order by mail, internet, or by phone.

•

North American Retail—This segment generates revenue through its 443 owned and operated Vitamin World stores selling proprietary brand and
third-party products and through its Canadian operation of 80 owned and operated Le Naturiste stores.

The following table represents key financial information of our business segments:

Direct
Wholesale/
Response/
North
U.S.
European
EAmerican Corporate/
Nutrition
Retail Commerce Retail Manufacturing Consolidated

Successor
Fiscal 2011:
$1,764,755 $711,180 $257,466 $225,090 $
— $2,958,491
Net sales
Income (loss)
from
283,775 118,770 59,193 11,669
(239,441) 233,966
operations
Depreciation
and
38,840 16,627 10,649
3,307
33,912
103,335
amortization
Capital
652 19,536
40
992
23,014
44,234
expenditures
Predecessor
Fiscal 2010:
$1,734,860 $645,250 $233,972 $212,655 $
— $2,826,737
Net sales
Income (loss)
from
292,991 100,865 68,018 10,032
(118,129) 353,777
operations
Depreciation
and
14,578 13,598
4,698
2,597
31,333
66,804
amortization
Capital
1,473 39,158
36
3,427
25,809
69,903
expenditures
Fiscal 2009:
$1,557,089 $601,574 $221,409 $201,878 $
— $2,581,950
Net sales
Income (loss)
from
180,660 89,747 57,442
1,420
(65,358) 263,911
operations
Depreciation
and
14,794 14,385
5,022
3,007
31,680
68,888
amortization
Capital
834 10,575
4,662
2,501
24,803
43,375
expenditures
F-37

Table of Contents

NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
23. Segment Information (Continued)
Net sales by location of customer

Successor

Predecessor

2011

United States
United Kingdom
Canada
Netherlands
Ireland
Other foreign countries
Consolidated net sales

$

$

2010

1,898,535
671,804
114,826
80,221
33,774
159,331
2,958,491

$

2009

1,870,622 $
618,085
100,350
65,591
24,567
147,522
2,826,737 $

$

1,745,348
576,584
86,071
56,557
20,844
96,546
2,581,950

Long-lived assets—Property, plant and equipment

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

United States
United Kingdom
Netherlands
Ireland
Canada
Other foreign countries
Consolidated long-lived assets

2010

333,863
107,184
7,635
4,716
13,777
12,098
479,273

$

$

266,715
87,105
6,010
4,183
15,604
12,282
391,899

$

Total assets by segment as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

$

Wholesale/U.S. Nutrition
European Retail
Direct Response/E-Commerce
North American Retail
Corporate/Manufacturing
Consolidated assets

$

2,535,178
769,329
781,135
206,582
803,332
5,095,556

2010

$

$

917,026
424,065
54,404
32,782
772,491
2,200,768

Approximately 32%, 29% and 29% of our net sales for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were denominated in
currencies other than U.S. dollars, principally British pounds, euros and Canadian dollars. A significant weakening of such currencies versus the U.S. dollar
could have a material adverse effect on the Company, as this would result in a decrease in our consolidated operating results.
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23. Segment Information (Continued)
Foreign subsidiaries accounted for the following percentages of assets and total liabilities as of September 30, 2011 and 2010:

Successor

Predecessor

2011

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
24. Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes

2010

24%
4%

26%
16%

The 9% senior notes due 2018 were issued by NBTY and are guaranteed by each of its current and future direct and indirect subsidiaries, subject to
certain exceptions. These guarantees are full, unconditional and joint and several. The following condensed consolidating financial information presents:
(1)

Condensed consolidating balance sheets as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and statements of income and statements of cash flows for the fiscal
years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 of (a) NBTY, Inc., the parent and issuer, (b) the guarantor subsidiaries, (c) the non-guarantor
subsidiaries, and (d) the Company on a consolidated basis, and

(2)

Elimination entries necessary to consolidate NBTY, Inc., the parent, with guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are presented using the equity method of accounting for investments in wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Under this method, the investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for our share of the subsidiaries' cumulative results of operations, capital
contributions, distributions and other equity changes. The principal elimination entries eliminate investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and
transactions. This financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and other notes related thereto.
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24.

Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)

Successor
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2011

Parent
Company

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Intercompany
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment,
net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Intercompany loan receivable
Investments in subsidiaries
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders'
Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term
debt
Accounts payable
Intercompany
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Intercompany loan payable
Long-term debt, net of current
portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock
Capital in excess of par
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$ 261,098 $
3,288 $
—
112,841
1,454,068
—
—
517,121
—
23,706
—
31,615
1,715,166
688,571

130,020 $
— $ 394,406
25,803
—
138,644
111,471 (1,565,539)
—
158,248
—
675,369
634
—
24,340
27,877
—
59,492
454,053 (1,565,539) 1,292,251

46,507
287,356
145,410
—
479,273
—
813,315
398,884
— 1,212,199
— 1,645,970
359,183
— 2,005,153
—
106,622
58
—
106,680
325,985
40,734
—
(366,719)
—
2,609,651
—
— (2,609,651)
—
$4,697,309 $3,582,568 $ 1,357,588 $(4,541,909)$5,095,556

$

17,500 $
— $
—
131,307
— 1,565,539
11,262
123,242
28,762 1,820,088
—
—

—$
55,204

— $ 17,500
—
186,511
(1,565,539)
—

54,038
—
109,242 (1,565,539)
366,718
(366,718)

188,542
392,553
—

2,369,375
—
742,968
—
19,309
12,936
3,160,414 1,833,024

—
— 2,369,375
5,910
—
748,878
15,610
—
47,855
497,480 (1,932,257) 3,558,661

—
—
1,552,188
352,020
22,472 1,397,524

—
—
—
301,271
(653,291) 1,552,188
572,993 (1,970,517)
22,472

(37,765)
—
1,536,895 1,749,544

(14,156)
14,156
(37,765)
860,108 (2,609,652) 1,536,895

$4,697,309 $3,582,568 $ 1,357,588 $(4,541,909)$5,095,556
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24.

Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)

Predecessor
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2010

Parent
Company

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Intercompany
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment,
net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Intercompany loan receivable
Investments in subsidiaries
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders'
Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term
debt
Accounts payable
Intercompany
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Intercompany loan payable
Long-term debt, net of current
portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock
Capital in excess of par
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$ 281,457 $
— $
65,026 $
— $ 346,483
—
107,007
28,370
—
135,377
—
459,164
777,375 (1,236,539)
—
—
533,360
135,536
—
668,896
—
39,488
642
—
40,130
—
19,162
47,828
—
66,990
281,457 1,158,181
1,054,777 (1,236,539) 1,257,876
34,850
231,865
125,184
—
391,899
—
197,701
137,458
—
335,159
—
171,164
23,357
—
194,521
—
20,376
937
—
21,313
336,310
40,733
—
(377,043)
—
2,388,648
—
— (2,388,648)
—
$3,041,265 $1,820,020 $ 1,341,713 $(4,002,230)$2,200,768

$

62,658 $
— $
—
105,073
1,236,539
—

15,500 $
— $ 78,158
53,276
—
158,349
— (1,236,539)
—

—
1,299,197
—

130,965
236,038
—

41,066
—
109,842 (1,236,539)
377,043
(377,043)

172,031
408,538
—

317,252
33,897
10,966
1,661,312

—
—
3,010
239,048

23,876
—
4,278
—
18,998
—
534,037 (1,613,582)

341,128
38,175
32,974
820,815

508
—
186,248
352,016
1,198,467 1,228,956

—
—
508
301,271
(653,287) 186,248
513,456 (1,742,412) 1,198,467

(5,270)
—
1,379,953 1,580,972

(7,051)
7,051
(5,270)
807,676 (2,388,648) 1,379,953

$3,041,265 $1,820,020 $ 1,341,713 $(4,002,230)$2,200,768
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24.

Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)

Successor
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
Year Ended September 30, 2011

Parent
Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and
catalog
Selling, general and
administrative
Merger expenses
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Equity in income of
subsidiaries
Intercompany interest
Interest
Miscellaneous, net
Income before provision for
income taxes
(Benefit) provision for income
taxes
Net income

$

— $2,129,211

$ 961,403 $ (132,123)$2,958,491

— 1,349,302
—

466,307

(132,123) 1,683,486

120,882

32,033

73,315
404,659
43,857
—
117,172 1,874,843
(117,172) 254,368

365,671
622
864,633
96,770

228,110
10,579
(195,497)
(33)
43,159

—
—
—
4,977
4,977

— (228,110)
(10,579)
—
(40)
—
(3,464)
—
(14,083) (228,110)

(74,013)

259,345

(103,932)
90,769
$ 29,919 $ 168,576

82,687

$
F-42

—

152,915

—
843,645
—
44,479
(132,123) 2,724,525
—
233,966

(228,110)

23,153
—
59,534 $ (228,110)$

—
—
(195,537)
1,480
(194,057)
39,909
9,990
29,919
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Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)

Predecessor
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
Year Ended September 30, 2010

Parent
Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and
catalog
Selling, general and
administrative
Merger expenses
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Equity in income of
subsidiaries
Intercompany interest
Interest
Miscellaneous, net
Income before provision for
income taxes
(Benefit) provision for income
taxes
Net income

$

— $2,067,065

$ 833,395 $ (73,723)$2,826,737

— 1,225,826
—

369,452

112,827

24,729

74,129
355,011
45,903
—
120,032 1,693,664
(120,032) 373,401

338,806
—
732,987
100,408

308,889
8,754
(29,388)
123
288,378
168,346

—
—
—
4,445
4,445
377,846

(45,324) 132,245
$ 213,670 $ 245,601

$
F-43

(73,723) 1,521,555
—

137,556

—
767,946
—
45,903
(73,723) 2,472,960
—
353,777

— (308,889)
(8,754)
—
(807)
—
(435)
—
(9,996) (308,889)

—
—
(30,195)
4,133
(26,062)

90,412

327,715

(308,889)

27,124
—
114,045
63,288 $ (308,889)$ 213,670
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Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)

Predecessor
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
Year Ended September 30, 2009

Parent
Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Advertising, promotion and catalog
Selling, general and administrative
IT project termination costs
Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Intercompany interest
Interest
Miscellaneous, net

$

— $1,902,258

$ 757,672 $ (77,980)$ 2,581,950

— 1,197,482
—
90,075
77,600
342,341
—
9,418
77,600 1,639,316
(77,600) 262,942

211,791
—
18,805
—
(33,060)
(2)
(480)
(495)
197,056
(497)
119,456
262,445
Income before provision for income taxes
(26,273)
91,855
(Benefit) provision for income taxes
$145,729 $ 170,590 $
Net income
F-44

338,935
20,023
317,845
2,300
679,103
78,569

(77,980) 1,458,437
—
110,098
—
737,786
—
11,718
(77,980) 2,318,039
—
263,911

— (211,791)
—
(18,805)
—
—
(1,820)
—
(34,882)
914
—
(61)
(19,711) (211,791)
(34,943)
58,858 (211,791) 228,968
17,657
—
83,239
41,201 $ (211,791)$ 145,729
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24.

Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)
Successor
Condensed Consoldating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

Parent
Company

NonGuarantor Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
$
29,919 $ 168,576 $ 59,534 $ (228,110)$
29,919
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash and
cash equivalents provided by operating activities:
(228,110)
—
—
228,110
—
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
—
1,555
1,118
—
2,673
Impairments and disposals of assets, net
4,840
76,616
21,879
—
103,335
Depreciation and amortization
(331)
—
394
—
63
Foreign currency transaction loss
1,506
179
103
—
1,788
Stock-based compensation
15,076
—
—
—
15,076
Amortization of deferred charges
20,824
—
—
—
20,824
Write off of financing fees
—
5,468
—
—
5,468
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amortization of incremental inventory
—
83,952
38,152
—
122,104
fair value
—
22,484
—
—
22,484
Inventory reserves
—
(30,934)
—
—
(30,934)
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities, net of acquisition:
—
(10,132)
1,997
—
(8,135)
Accounts receivable
—
(11,007) (27,854)
—
(38,861)
Inventories
—
4,303
5,033
—
9,336
Other assets
—
25,261
2,090
—
27,351
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
—
(14,936)
17,082
—
2,146
liabilities
322,327 (297,364) (24,963)
—
—
Intercompany accounts
Net cash (used in)
provided by
operating
166,051
24,021
94,565
—
284,637
activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
(1,652) (17,443) (25,139)
—
(44,234)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
(3,983,806)
(3,196)
(807)
— (3,987,809)
Cash paid for acquisitions
Net cash used in
— (4,032,043)
investing activities (3,985,458) (20,639) (25,946)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments under long-term debt
(13,125)
(429)
(381)
—
(13,935)
agreements and capital leases
(138,227)
—
—
—
(138,227)
Payments for financing fees
2,400,000
—
—
— 2,400,000
Proceeds from borrowings
1,550,400
—
—
— 1,550,400
Capital contribution
Net cash provided by
(used in) financing
3,799,048
(429)
(381)
— 3,798,238
activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
—
335
(3,244)
—
(2,909)
equivalents
(20,359)
3,288
64,994
—
47,923
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
281,457
—
65,026
—
346,483
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
$ 261,098 $ 3,288 $ 130,020 $
— $ 394,406
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)
Predecessor
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010

NonParent
Guarantor Guarantor
Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
$ 213,670 $ 245,601 $ 63,288 $ (308,889) $ 213,670
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash and cash
equivalents provided by operating activities:
(308,889)
—
—
308,889
—
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
—
10,033
1,292
—
11,325
Impairments and disposals of assets, net
4,909
44,872
17,023
—
66,804
Depreciation and amortization
1,234
—
(109)
—
1,125
Foreign currency transaction loss
21,865
617
627
—
23,109
Stock-based compensation
1,412
—
—
—
1,412
Amortization of deferred charges
—
1,256
—
—
1,256
Allowance for doubtful accounts
—
934
—
—
934
Inventory reserves
—
(17,751)
4,751
—
(13,000)
Deferred income taxes
Excess income tax benefit from exercise of
(6,646)
—
—
—
(6,646)
stock options
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
net of acquisition:
—
21,759
(367)
—
21,392
Accounts receivable
—
(5,106)
(6,291)
—
(11,397)
Inventories
—
2,890
(4,015)
—
(1,125)
Other assets
—
(4,959)
15,707
—
10,748
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
—
39,131
13,014
—
52,145
liabilities
Net cash (used in)
provided by
(72,445) 339,277 104,920
—
371,752
operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
353,896 (317,852) (36,044)
—
Intercompany accounts
(1,829) (21,279) (46,795)
—
(69,903)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
2,000
—
—
—
2,000
Proceeds from sale of investments
—
—
(14,200)
—
(14,200)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
354,067 (339,131) (97,039)
—
(82,103)
activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments under long-term debt agreements and
(56,264)
(146)
(747)
—
(57,157)
capital leases
(5,813)
—
—
—
(5,813)
Termination of interest rate swaps
(1,523)
—
—
—
(1,523)
Payments for financing fees
6,646
—
—
—
6,646
Excess income tax benefit from exercise of stock options
10,620
—
—
—
10,620
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Net cash used in
(46,334)
(146)
(747)
—
(47,227)
financing activities
—
—
(1,940)
—
(1,940)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
235,288
—
5,194
—
240,482
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
46,169
—
59,832
—
106,001
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
$ 281,457 $
— $ 65,026 $
— $ 346,483
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of the Notes (Continued)
Predecessor
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2009

Parent
Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
$ 145,729 $ 170,590 $ 41,201 $ (211,791) $ 145,729
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash and cash equivalents provided
by operating activities:
(211,791)
—
—
211,791
—
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Impairments and disposals of
122
13,411
496
—
14,029
assets, net
3,771
47,661
17,456
—
68,888
Depreciation and amortization
2,698
821
1,033
—
4,552
Foreign currency transaction loss
2,988
142
266
—
3,396
Stock-based compensation
1,270
—
—
—
1,270
Amortization of deferred charges
—
(2,917)
563
—
(2,354)
Allowance for doubtful accounts
—
6,889
—
—
6,889
Inventory reserves
—
7,325
(330)
—
6,995
Deferred income taxes
Excess income tax benefit from
(55)
—
—
—
(55)
exercise of stock options
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities, net of acquisition:
—
(28,415)
(3,953)
—
(32,368)
Accounts receivable
—
(62,536)
(25,812)
—
(88,348)
Inventories
—
4,548
(3,293)
—
1,255
Other assets
—
14,756
2,996
—
17,752
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
—
(9,621)
(1,072)
—
(10,693)
liabilities
Net cash (used in)
provided by
operating
(55,268) 162,654
29,551
—
136,937
activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
134,115 (134,318)
203
—
Intercompany accounts
Purchase of property, plant and
(4,951) (28,503)
(9,921)
(43,375)
equipment
Escros refund, net of purchase price
11,904
—
1,479
—
13,383
adjustments
—
2,000
—
—
2,000
Proceeds from sale of assets
Net cash provided
by (used in)
investing
141,068 (160,821)
(8,239)
—
(27,992)
activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings under the
95,000
—
—
—
95,000
Revolving Credit Facility
Principal payments under the Revolving
(155,000)
—
—
— (155,000)
Credit Facility
Principal payments under long-term debt
(30,794)
(1,833)
(590)
—
(33,217)
agreements and capital leases
Excess income tax benefit from exercise
55
—
—
—
55
of stock options
1,446
—
—
—
1,446
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Net cash used in
financing
(89,293)
(1,833)
(590)
—
(91,716)
activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
—
—
(1,408)
—
(1,408)
and cash equivalents

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(3,493)
49,662
$ 46,169 $

—
—
—
F-47

$

19,314

—

15,821

40,518
59,832 $

—
90,180
— $ 106,001
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NBTY, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
25.

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for fiscal 2011 and 2010 (amounts may not equal fiscal year totals due to
rounding):

December 31,
2010(2)(3)

Successor Fiscal 2011(1):
Net sales
Gross profit
Income before income taxes
Net income

$

742,162 $
232,096
(83,761)
(63,436)

December 31,
2009

Predecessor Fiscal 2010:
Net sales
Gross profit
Income before income taxes
Net income

$

751,151 $
339,703
115,929
75,586

Quarter ended
March 31,
June 30,
2011(2)
2011(2)

706,542 $
328,550
(5,101)
(20,161)

763,338
366,465
80,049
75,628

Quarter ended
March 31,
June 30,
2010
2010

705,160 $
324,492
72,136
46,656

695,856
332,501
96,136
66,183

September 30,
2011

$

746,448
347,892
48,722
37,889

September 30,
2010(2)

$

674,570
308,486
43,515
25,245

(1)

Fiscal 2011 includes additional selling, general and administrative costs relating to depreciation and amortization of property, plant and
equipment, as well as additional interest expense, both of which related to the Merger that was consummated on October 1, 2010. (See
Note 3 for additional information.)

(2)

Includes merger expenses of $45,903, $38,874, $4,991, and $614 in the quarters ending September 30, 2010, December 31, 2010,
March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively, relating to the Merger. (See Note 3 for additional information.)

(3)

Includes an increase in cost of sales of $122,104 relating to an increase in acquired inventory to its fair value as required under
purchase accounting relating to the Merger.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of NBTY, Inc.:
In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of operations, stockholders' deficit and cash flows present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc. at September 30, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from
May 11, 2010 (date of inception) to September 30, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 21, 2011
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Balance Sheet
(in thousands, except share amounts)

September 30,
2010

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Deferred income taxes

$
Total current assets

Other assets
$

Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficit
Current liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Stockholders' deficit:
Common stock, $0.01 par; one thousand shares authorized, issued and outstanding
Capital in excess of par
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' deficit
Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

$

1
3,839
3,840
3,712
7,552

14,998
14,998
—
1
(7,447)
(7,446)
7,552
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Statement of Operations
(in thousands)

May 11, 2010
(date of inception)
to September 30, 2010

$

Merger expenses
Loss before income taxes
Benefit for income taxes
Net loss

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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11,286
(11,286)
3,839
(7,447)
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Statement of Stockholders' Deficit
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Number of
Shares

Balance at inception (May 11, 2010)
Initial capitalization
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2010

Amount

Capital
in Excess
of Par

Accumulated
deficit

—
1,000

$

—
—

$

—
1

$

1,000

$

—

$

1

$

—
(7,447)
(7,447)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Total
Stockholders'
deficit

$

$

—
1
(7,447)
(7,446)
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

May 11, 2010
(date of
inception) to
September 30,
2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets
Accrued expenses
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

(3,839)
(3,712)
14,998
—

Cash flows from financing activities:
Initial capitalization
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(7,447)

1
1
1
—
1
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
1.

Background and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: The accompanying financial statements reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Alphabet Merger
Sub, Inc. ("we," "our," "us," "Merger Sub" or the "Company") as of September 30, 2010 and for the period May 11, 2010 (date of inception) to September 30,
2010.
Organization: The Company was incorporated on July 13, 2010 as a Delaware corporation and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alphabet Holding
Company, Inc. ("Holdings"). Holdings was formed by an affiliate of TC Group, L.L.C. (d/b/a The Carlyle Group). Holdings and Merger Sub were formed
exclusively for the purpose of entering into a merger agreement with NBTY, Inc. ("NBTY").
On October 1, 2010, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 15, 2010, among NBTY, Merger Sub and Holdings, Merger Sub merged
with and into NBTY with NBTY as the surviving corporation (also referred herein as the "Merger" or "Acquisition") for a net purchase price of approximately
$3,635,949. For accounting purposes, Merger Sub was determined to be the accounting acquirer.
Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Other Assets: Other assets consist of deferred financing costs associated with the Company's debt issuance on October 1, 2010, which will be
amortized over the applicable life of the debt using the effective interest rate method of amortization.
Accrued Expenses:

Accrued expenses consist of legal and professional advisory costs incurred in connection with the Merger.

Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes are provided at the currently enacted income tax rates for the difference between the financial statement and
income tax basis of assets and liabilities.
2.

Merger Expenses
Merger expenses consist of legal and professional advisory costs incurred in connection with the Acquisition.

3.

Income Taxes

Merger Sub is treated as a transitory entity and is ignored for federal and state income tax purposes. Accordingly, Merger Sub's tax deductible expenses
and related deferred tax asset were assumed by NBTY on the effective date of the Merger. The effective income tax rate of Merger Sub is 34%. The effective
tax rate is comprised of the federal statutory rate of 35% and the state tax rate, net of federal benefit, of 5% offset by non-deductible merger costs of 4%.
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Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
4.

Litgation

Sale of the Company
On July 22, 2010 and on August 10, 2010, respectively, plaintiffs filed two actions, captioned Philip Gottlieb v. NBTY, Inc., et al, ("Gottlieb"), and
Bredthauer v. NBTY, Inc., et al.,("Bredthauer"), each as a purported class action against the Company, the members of its Board of Directors, The Carlyle
Group and certain Carlyle-related entities (The Carlyle Group and the Carlyle-related entities, collectively the "Carlyle Group"), challenging the Board of
Directors' decision to sell the Company to the Carlyle Group for the price of $55 per share. The complaint, in each of these cases, alleged that this price per
share did not represent fair value for the Company and sought to enjoin the anticipated sale and to invalidate certain related transactions. The Bredthauer
lawsuit, filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Suffolk, was dismissed by Plaintiff. Plaintiff then joined in the Gottlieb lawsuit, filed
in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Nassau. On January 11, 2011, the parties entered into a stipulation of settlement providing for the
proposed settlement and dismissal with prejudice of the remaining action, which is subject to, among other things, court approval following notice to the
members of the putative class. If approved by the court, the settlement provides for, among other things, our payment of certain attorneys' fees and expenses if
awarded by the court. We believe the claims to be without merit.
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SCHEDULE II
NBTY, INC.
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Column A

Column B

Column C

Column D

Column E

Description

Balance at
beginning
of period

Additions
Charged to Charged to
costs and
other
expenses
accounts

Deductions

Balance at
end of
period

Successor:
Fiscal year ended September 30, 2011:
Inventory reserves
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Promotional program incentive allowance
Allowance for sales returns
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

$
— $ 22,484
$
— $
5,468
$ 56,968 $ 292,658
$ 9,457 $ 27,562
$ 14,618 $
1,105

$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—

$
—
$
—
$ (275,033)
$ (26,226)(b)
$
(319)

$
$
$
$
$

Predecessor:
Fiscal year ended September 30, 2010:
Inventory reserves
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Promotional program incentive allowance
Allowance for sales returns
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

—
822
—
—
—

$
—
$
(226)(a)
$ (237,818)
$ (27,453)(b)
$
(342)

$ 25,031
$ 5,575
$ 56,968
$ 9,457
$ 14,618

Predecessor:
Fiscal year ended September 30, 2009:
Inventory reserves
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Promotional program incentive allowance
Allowance for sales returns
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

$ 17,208 $
6,889
$ 9,768 $ (2,354)
$ 43,902 $ 200,839
$ 8,904 $ 31,514
$ 8,400 $
4,521

$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
354

$
—
$
(3,691)(a)
$ (195,670)
$ (28,711)(b)
$
(212)

$
$
$
$
$

(a)

Uncollectible accounts written off.

(b)

Represents actual product returns.

24,097
3,723
49,071
11,707
13,063

$
934
$
1,256
$ 245,715
$ 25,203
$
1,897

S-1

22,484
5,468
74,593
10,793
15,404

24,097
3,723
49,071
11,707
13,063

Exhibit 10.19
NBTY, INC. RETIREMENT PROFIT SHARING PLAN
(Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2011)

NBTY, Inc. Retirement Profit Sharing Plan
(amended and restated effective January 1, 2011)
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Retirement Profit Sharing Plan
ARTICLE 1
TITLE, HISTORY AND CERTAIN GOVERNING PROVISIONS
This document, entitled the "NBTY, Inc. Retirement Profit Sharing Plan" (the "Plan"), is an amendment and restatement
of the NBTY, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan, which, prior to October 4, 2010, was known as the NBTY, Inc. Associate Stock Ownership
Plan and was an employees' stock ownership plan designed to invest primarily in qualifying employer securities. The NBTY, Inc.
Associate Stock Ownership Plan prior to January 1, 2007 was part of the former NBTY, Inc. Retirement Savings and Employees'
Stock Ownership Plan (the "Prior Plan"). The Prior Plan became effective on January 3, 2005 as a result of the merger of the
NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (the "NBTY 401(k) Plan") and the Rexall Sundown, Inc. 401(k) Employee Savings Plan (the
"Rexa1l 401(k) Plan") into the NBTY, Inc. Employees' Stock Ownership Plan (the "Prior ESOP"). Effective December 31, 2006,
11:59 p.m., the portion of the Prior Plan that related to the Prior ESOP were split-off to form the NBTY, Inc. Associate Stock
Ownership Plan and the remaining portions of the Prior Plan that related to the NBTY 401(k) Plan and the Rexall 401(k) Plan were
amended and restated as the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan.
Effective October 4, 2010, the Plan became a "profit sharing plan" within the meaning of U.S. Treasury Regulation §
1.401-1(a)(2)(ií). The Company may make contributions to the Plan at the Company's sole discretion. The Plan is intended to meet the
requirements of section 404(c) of ERISA, and the Plan shall be construed and interpreted to meet such requirements. The provisions of
this amendment and restatement shall be effective January 1, 2011, except that any provision that specifies a different effective date
shall be effective as of the date specified.

The rights and benefits of any Participant (as defined in Article 2) whose employment with all Employers and Affiliates
terminates on or after January 1, 2011, and the rights and benefits of any Beneficiary of any such Participant, shall be determined
solely by reference to the terms of the Plan as amended and restated herein, as it may be amended from time to time. The rights and
benefits of any Participant whose employment with all Employers and Affiliates terminated before January 1, 2011 and who is not
reemployed by an Employer or any Affiliate after such date, and the rights and benefits of any Beneficiary of any such Participant,
shall be determined solely by reference to the terms of the Prior Plan or any relevant predecessor plan that was in effect on the date of
such Participant's termination of employment, except as otherwise required by law.
ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS
As used herein, the following words and phrases shall have the following respective meanings when capitalized:
Account. A Participant's subaccounts described in Section 7.1 and such other subaccounts that may be
2.1
established from time to time on behalf of such Participant to which contributions made on his or her behalf are credited, adjusted for
earnings and losses, and from which expenses and distributions to the Participant are debited.
2.2

Administrator. The Company, as the administrator of the Plan.

Affiliate. (a) A corporation that is a member of the same controlled group of corporations (within the meaning
2.3
of section 414(b) of the Code) as an Employer, (b) a trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control (within the
meaning of section 414(c) of the Code) with an Employer, (c) any organization (whether or not incorporated) that is a member of an
affiliated service group (within the meaning of section 414(m) of the Code) that includes an Employer, a corporation described in
clause (a) of this Section 2.3 or a trade or business described in clause (b) of this Section 2.3, or (d) any other entity that is required to
be aggregated with an Employer pursuant to U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated under section 414(o) of the Code.
2.4

Associate. An individual whose relationship with an Employer is, under common law, that of an employee.
2

2.5

Beneficiary. A person entitled under Section 8.4 to receive benefits in the event of the death of a Participant.

2.6

Board. The board of directors of the Company.

2.7

Code. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.8

Committee. The Compensation Committee of the Board.

2.9

Company. NBTY, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto.

2.10
Compensation. Remuneration paid for services performed by a Participant (including remuneration paid for
services performed by an Associate prior to becoming a Participant, but only to the extent services are performed during the payroll
period in which the Associate becomes a Participant) for an Employer in a Plan Year while the Participant is an Associate that is
wages, tips and other compensation reported on such Participant's Form W-2 in the box that indicates compensation that is taxable for
Federal income tax purposes (but determined without regard to any rules that limit remuneration included in wages based upon the
nature or location of the employment), and compensation that is not currently includible in such Participant's gross income by reason
of the application of sections 125 (cafeteria plan), 132(f)(4) (qualified transportation fringe), and 402(e)(3) (salary reduction deferrals
to a 401(k) plan) of the Code, reduced by the aggregate of the following amounts included on such Form W-2:
(i)
amounts resulting from the grant of stock awards, stock bonuses, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights,
phantom stock, stock options, stock units, stock equivalences or similar arrangements;
(ii)
amounts imputed in income as a result of, or are paid in the nature of or in relation to life insurance, short-term
disability (other than salary continuation payments), long-term disability, medical and other welfare benefits;
(iii)

separation, severance or supplemental unemployment benefits;

(iv)

reimbursements or expense allowances (including moving expenses, housing allowances), and

(v)
payments that are nonrecurring in nature (other than a payment identified by the Company as a "mystery
shopper bonus" and payments designated on the Company's payroll as "associate of the month", "associate referral",
"associate suggestion award", "operator of the month" or "ticket of the month" payments).
Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, remuneration in excess of $245,000 (for 2011) (or such other amount provided
pursuant to section 401(a)(17) of the Code) shall be disregarded. If a determination period consists of fewer than twelve (12) months,
the annual limit on Compensation referenced in the previous sentence shall be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the
number of months in the determination period, and the denominator of which is twelve (12).
3

2.11
Disability. A Participant has a Disability if he or she has been determined under Title II or XVI of the Social
Security Act to be disabled.
2.12
Diversification Account. The portion of a Participant's Legacy ESOP Account that the Participant had elected
to diversify prior to the Merger Effective Time.
2.13
Effective Date. The effective date of this amendment and restatement of the Plan, with respect to any Employer
as of January 1, 2011, shall be January 1, 2011, and, with respect to an entity that becomes an Employer after January 1, 2011, shall be
the date as of which the Company approves such entity's adoption of the Plan.
2.14
Employer. The Company or any Affiliate that, with the consent of the Company, elects to participate in the
Plan in the manner described in Section 11.1. If an Employer withdraws from participation in the Plan pursuant to Section 11.2 or
terminates its participation in the Plan pursuant to Section 14.3, it shall thereupon cease to be an Employer. An entity shall cease being
an Employer as of the date it ceases to be an Affiliate, unless the Company consents to such entity's continued participation in the
Plan.
2.15

ERISA. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

2.16

Fiscal Year. The twelve-month period ending September 30.

2.17
Highly Compensated Employee. For any Plan Year, any Associate who (i) is a 5%-owner (as determined under
section 416 (i)(1) of the Code) at any time during such Plan Year or the immediately preceding Plan Year or (ií) for the immediately
preceding Plan Year, was paid compensation in excess of $110,000 (for 2011) (as adjusted in accordance with section 414(q)(1)(B) of
the Code) from an Employer or Affiliate and was a member of the "top-paid group" (as defined in section 414(q)(3) of the Code).
Hour of Service. (1) Each hour for which an Associate is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to
2.18
compensation by an Employer for the performance of duties during the applicable computation period; (2) each hour for which an
Associate is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to compensation by an Employer (irrespective of whether the employment
relationship has terminated) for reasons other than performance of duties (such as vacation, holidays, sickness, incapacity (including
disability), jury duty, lay-off, military duty or leave of absence) during the applicable computation period (calculated and credited
pursuant to Department of Labor regulation § 2530.200b-2(b) and (c) which is incorporated herein by reference); (3) each hour for
which back pay is awarded or agreed to by an Employer without regard to mitigation of damages (credited to the Associate for the
computation period or periods to which the award or agreement pertains rather than the computation period in which the award,
agreement or payment is made). The same Hours of Service shall not be credited both under (1) or (2), as the case may be, and under
(3).
Notwithstanding (2) above, (i) no more than 501 Hours of Service are required to be credited to an Associate on account
of any single continuous period during which the Associate performs no duties (whether or not such period occurs in a single
computation period); (ii) an hour for which an Associate is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, on
4

account of a period during which no duties are performed is not required to be credited to the Associate if such payment is made or
due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of complying with applicable workers' compensation, or unemployment
compensation or disability insurance laws; and (iií) Hours of Service are not required to be credited for a payment which solely
reimburses an Associate for medical or medically related expenses incurred by the Associate.
Individuals who were employees of Wyeth performing services solely in its Solgar Vitamin and Herb operating unit at
the Wyeth Effective Time shall be credited with Hours of Service under the Plan for their hours of service with Wyeth and its
affiliates, and individuals who were employees of Wyeth at such Wyeth Effective Time but who were on an approved leave of
absence from the Solgar Vitamin and Herb operating unit shall be credited with Hours of Service under the Plan for their hours of
service with Wyeth and its affiliates. Associates who (a) were employees of Wyeth performing services in its Solgar Vitamin and
Herb operating unit prior to such Wyeth Effective Time, (b) were hired by an Employer after such Wyeth Effective Time but on or
before December 31, 2006, and (c) the Company determines have exceptional institutional knowledge of the Solgar Vitamin and Herb
operating unit such that their prior employment with Wyeth will prove valuable to the Company, shall be credited with Hours of
Service under the Plan for their hours of service with Wyeth and its affiliates.
Ineligible Individual. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, an individual who renders
2.19
services for an Employer shall not be a Participant if (i) the terms of his or her employment are subject to a collective bargaining
agreement which does not provide for the participation of such individual in the Plan; (ii) the individual renders services pursuant to
an agreement or arrangement (written or oral) (a) that such services are to be rendered as an independent contractor; (b) with an entity,
including a leasing organization within the meaning of section 414(n)(2) of the Code, that is not an Employer or Affiliate; or (c) that
contains a waiver of participation in the Plan; or (iii) he or she is not treated as an employee of an Employer on an Employer's payroll
records (notwithstanding any determination by a court or administrative agency that such individual is an employee). Furthermore, if it
comes to the Administrator's attention that any individual has provided an Employer with a social security number or other form of
identification which has not been legally issued to such individual by an appropriate government agency, such individual shall then be
considered an Ineligible Individual until such time as the individual provides the Employer with a valid, legally issued form of
identification sufficient to permit the Company to report such individual's income to all appropriate government agencies.
2.20

Investment Funds. The investment funds referenced in Section 6.2.

2.21
Legacy ESOP Account. A Participant's subaccount described in Section 7.1, adjusted for earnings and losses,
and debited by expenses and distributions to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary. Legacy ESOP Accounts are the continuation of
the Accounts as of the Merger Effective Time. As of the Merger Effective Time, the Accounts were credited with a portion of the
proceeds received by the Plan in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. The portion credited to a
Participant's Profit Sharing Account was equal to the product of (a) the number of shares of common capital stock of NBTY, Inc.
allocated to
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such Participant's Account immediately prior to the Merger Effective Time, multiplied by (b) the per share consideration paid for each
share of common capital stock of NBTY, Inc. in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
Merger Agreement. The Agreement and Plan of Merger among NBTY, Inc., Alphabet Holding Company, Inc.
2.22
and Alphabet Merger Sub, Inc. dated as of July 15,2010.
2.23

Merger Effective Time. The "Effective Time" as defined in Section 1.3 of the Merger Agreement.

2.24
1-Year Break in Service. The applicable computation period during which an Associate or former Associate
has not completed more than 500 Hours of Service. Solely for the purpose of determining whether an Associate or former Associate
has incurred a 1-Year Break in Service, Hours of Service shall be recognized for any "authorized leave of absence" and any "maternity
or paternity leave of absence." For this purpose, Hours of Service shall be credited for the computation period in which the absence
from work begins, only if credit therefore is necessary to prevent the Associate from incurring a 1-Year Break in Service, and, in any
other case, in the immediately following computation period. The Hours of Service credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of
absence" shall be those which would normally have been credited but for such absence, or, in any case in which the Administrator is
unable to determine such hours normally credited, eight (8) Hours of Service per day. The total Hours of Service required to be
credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of absence" shall not exceed the number of Hours of Service needed to prevent the
Associate from incurring a 1- Year Break in Service.
"Authorized leave of absence" means an unpaid, temporary cessation from active employment with the Employer
pursuant to an established nondiscriminatory policy, whether occasioned by illness, Qualified Military Service, or any other reason.
A "maternity or paternity leave of absence" means an absence from work for any period by reason of the Associate's
pregnancy, birth of the Associate's child, placement of a child with the Associate in connection with the adoption of such child, or any
absence for the purpose of caring for such child for a period immediately following such birth or placement.
Participant. An Associate who has satisfied the requirements of Section 3.1. An individual who is a Participant
2.25
shall remain a Participant until the individual's Account has been forfeited or completely distributed.
2.26

Plan. The NBTY, Inc. Retirement Profit Sharing Plan set forth herein, as the same may be amended from time

2.27

Plan Year. The calendar year.

to time.

2.28
Profit Sharing Account. A Participant's subaccount described in Section 7.1, adjusted for earnings and losses,
and debited by expenses and distributions to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary. Profit Sharing Accounts were established after
the Merger Effective Time for the purpose of allocations of any discretionary Employer contributions that may be
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made to the Plan thereafter, except to the extent such contributions are made to Top-Heavy Plan Accounts.
2.29
Qualified Military Service. An individual's "service in the uniformed services" (as defined in 38 U.S.C.§ 4303)
or any other service deemed to be "service in the uniformed services" for purposes of Chapter 43 of Title 38 of the United States Code
if such individual is entitled to reemployment rights under or pursuant to USERRA with respect to such service.
2.30

Recordkeeper. Fidelity Investments Institutional Operations Company, Inc.

2.31
Top-Heavy Plan Account. The subaccount established pursuant to Section 7.1 to which any contributions made
for the benefit of a Participant pursuant to Section 13.3, and earnings and losses thereon, are credited.
2.32

Trust. The trust described in Section 6.1 and established pursuant to an agreement between the Company and

the Trustee.
Trust Fund. All money and property of every kind of the Trust held by the Trustee pursuant to the terms of the
2.33
agreement governing the Trust and attributable to the Plan.
2.34
Trustee. The person or entity appointed by the Company and serving as trustee of the Trust or, if there is more
than one such trustee acting at a particular time, all of such trustees collectively.
2.35

USERRA. The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended.

2.36

Valuation Date. Each day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading.

2.37
Wyeth Effective Time. The "Effective Time" as defined in the Purchase Agreement by and between Wyeth and
NBTY, Inc. dated as of June 6, 2005.
2.38
Year of Service. The computation period of twelve (12) consecutive months, herein set forth, and during which
an Associate has completed at least 1,000 Hours of Service. For all purposes, including vesting, the computation period shall be the
Plan Year.
An Associate shall be credited for service with Nutrition Headquarters, Inc. and Nutro Laboratories, Inc.
For an Eligible Associate, years of service with Wyeth as reflected on the records of the Wyeth Savings Plan – United
States on the Wyeth Effective Time shall be recognized as Years of Service hereunder for eligibility and vesting purposes.
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For vesting purposes, each Associate who was performing services for Zila Nutraceuticals, Inc. as of October 2, 2006
shall be credited with one Year of Service for the Plan Year ending December 31, 2006.
ARTICLE 3
PARTICIPATION
Section 3.1. Eligibility. Each person who was a "Participant" in the NBTY, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan (as "Participant" was
defined therein) immediately before January 1, 2011, shall be a Participant in the Plan on January 1, 2011. Each other Associate shall
become a Participant upon the later to occur of: (i) the Associate's 21st birthday (or, in the case of an Associate hired before January 1,
2007, the date he or she attains age 201/2), and (ií) the one-year anniversary of the day the Associate first performs an Hour of
Service, provided that the Associate is not an Ineligible Individual. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any Associate
whose most recent date of hire is earlier than January 1, 2010 and who is not a Participant pursuant to the first sentence of this Section,
he or she shall become a Participant on the later to occur of (x) the Associate's 21st birthday (or, in the case of an Associate hired
before January 1, 2007, the date he or she attains age 20 1/2), and (y) January 1, 2011, provided that the Associate is not an Ineligible
Individual. An Associate shall be credited for service with Rexall Sundown, Inc. or any subsidiary thereof, but only for purposes of
determining eligibility to participate in the Plan.
Section 3.2. Transfers to Affiliates. If the employment of a Participant is transferred from an Employer to an Affiliate
that is not an Employer, the employment transfer shall not cause such Participant's participation in the Plan to terminate, and he or she
shall continue to participate in the Plan until an event occurs which would entitle such Participant to a complete distribution of his or
her Account balance had he or she continued to be employed by an Employer until the occurrence of such event. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, contributions
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shall not be allocated to a Participant's Account during any period of the Participant's employment by an Affiliate that is not an
Employer, and periods of the Participant's employment by an Affiliate that is not an Employer shall be taken into account only to the
extent set forth in Section 9.2.
ARTICLE 4
CONTRIBUTIONS
Section 4.1. Profit Sharing Contributions. Subject to the limitations of Article 5, the Company, on behalf of the
Employers, shall contribute to the Trust for a Plan Year an amount, if any, that the Board, in its sole discretion, may authorize and
direct to be contributed. The contributions shall be made in cash and shall be allocated to the Profit Sharing Accounts of Participants
(i) who have completed at least 1,000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year for which the amount is contributed and (ii) who are
employed by an Employer on the last day of such Plan Year. The amount of the contribution for a Plan Year, if any, that will be
allocated to each Participant's Profit Sharing Account shall be in the same proportion as the Participant's Compensation for the Plan
Year bears to the aggregate Compensation of all Participants eligible for an allocation for such Plan Year pursuant to this Section 4.1.
Section 4.2. Deposit of Contributions. The Company shall cause to be delivered to the Trustee the profit sharing
contributions made pursuant to Section 4.1 at the time(s) and in the manner the Company in its sole discretion determines, provided
that all such contributions for a Plan Year shall be delivered to the Trustee on or before the due date (including extensions thereof) for
filing the Federal income tax return of the Company for its Fiscal Year ending immediately after or contemporaneously with the end
of such Plan Year. Such contributions shall not be credited with any earnings or losses prior to the date the contributions are delivered
to the Trustee.
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Section 4.3.

Contributions by Participants. No Participant is permitted to make any contributions to his or her

Account.
ARTICLE 5
LIMITATIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS
Section 5.1. Maximum Annual Additions under Section 415 of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of the
Plan, the amounts allocated to the Account of each Participant for any Plan Year shall be limited so that the aggregate annual additions
for such year to such a Participant's Account and to the Participant's accounts in all other defined contribution plans (including the
NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan) maintained by any Employer or Affiliate shall not exceed the lesser of:
(a) $49,000 (for 2011) (as adjusted pursuant to section 415(d) of the Code), and
(b) 100% of his or her compensation for such Plan Year (or such other percentage of compensation set forth in section
415(c) of the Code).
The "annual additions" for a Plan Year to a Participant's Account and to his or her accounts in any other defined contribution
plan of an Employer or Affiliate is the sum for such Plan Year of:
(a) the amount of employer contributions (including elective deferrals) allocated to his or her accounts, excluding, however,
any elective deferrals that (i) are Catch-up Contributions, (ii) are excess deferrals that are distributed in accordance with U.S. Treasury
Regulation § 1.402(g)-1(e)(2) or (3) or (iíi) are made under section 414(v) of the Code,
(b) the amount of forfeitures allocated to his or her accounts,
(c) the amount allocated to any individual medical benefit account (as defined in section 415(1) of the Code) maintained on
his or her behalf, or if the Participant is a key employee within the meaning of section 419A(d)(3) of the Code, the amount attributable
to medical benefits
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allocated to any post-retirement medical benefit account established for him or her pursuant to section 419A(d)(1) of the Code, and
(d) the amount of his or her contributions, excluding rollover contributions, to any such plan.
For purposes of this Section, the term "compensation" shall have the meaning set forth in U.S. Treasury Regulation §
1.415(c)-2(d)(2), except that in the case of an Associate whose employment is transferred from an Employer to an Affiliate that is not
an Employer, such term shall exclude any compensation received by such Associate from such Affiliate, and the term "defined
contribution plan" shall have the meaning set forth in U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-1(a)(2). Effective for compensation paid
after December 31,2008, the term "compensation" for purposes of this Section 5.1 shall include any differential wage payments paid
to Associates who are called to active duty in the U.S. military service.
Section 5.2. Other Limitations on Employer Contributions. The contributions of the Employers for a Plan Year shall
not exceed the maximum amount for which a deduction is allowable to such Employers for Federal income tax purposes for the fiscal
year of such Employers that ends with such Plan Year.
Any contribution made by an Employer by reason of a good faith mistake of fact, or the portion of any contribution
made by an Employer that exceeds the maximum amount for which a deduction is allowable to such Employer for Federal income tax
purposes by reason of a good faith mistake in determining the maximum allowable deduction, shall upon the request of such Employer
be returned by the Trustee to an Employer. An Employer's request and the return of any such contribution must be made within one
year after such contribution was mistakenly made or after the deduction of such excess portion of such contribution was
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disallowed, as the case may be. The amount to be returned to an Employer pursuant to this paragraph shall be the excess of (i) the
amount contributed over (ií) the amount that would have been contributed had there not been a mistake of fact or a mistake in
determining the maximum allowable deduction. Earnings attributable to the mistaken contribution shall not be returned to an
Employer, but losses attributable thereto shall reduce the amount to be so returned. If the return to an Employer of the amount
attributable to the mistaken contribution would cause the balance of any Participant's Account as of the date such amount is to be
returned (determined as if such date coincided with the close of a Plan Year) to be reduced to less than what would have been the
balance of such Account as of such date had the mistaken amount not been contributed, the amount to be returned to an Employer
shall be limited so as to avoid such reduction.
ARTICLE 6
TRUST AND INVESTMENTS
Section 6.1. Trust. A Trust has been established by the execution of a trust agreement between the Company (acting
on behalf of the Employers) and the Trustee. All contributions under the Plan shall be paid to the Trustee. The Trustee shall hold all
monies and property that the Trustee receives and invest and reinvest the same, together with the income thereon, on behalf of the
Participants in accordance with the provisions of the Trust agreement and the investment elections of the Participants pursuant to
Section 7.3, except that amounts allocated to a Participant's Account for which no investment election has been received by the Plan
shall be invested in the age-appropriate Target Retirement Date Fidelity Freedom Fund (determined assuming the Participant will
retire at age sixty-five (65)). The Trustee shall make distributions from the Trust Fund at such time or times to such person or persons
and in such amounts as the Administrator or the Recordkeeper directs in accordance with the Plan.
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Section 6.2. Investment Funds. The Company shall cause the Trustee to establish, operate and maintain Investment
Funds for the purpose of the investment of Participants' Legacy ESOP Accounts, Profit Sharing Accounts and Top-Heavy Plan
Accounts, if any. Unless the Company determines otherwise, the Investment Funds shall be identical to the investment funds available
under the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan from time to time. The Administrator and the Recordkeeper shall establish procedures
setting forth how often changes among Investment Funds may be made and any other limitations and provisions that the Administrator
and the Recordkeeper may impose on a Participant's (or Beneficiary's) right to direct the investments of his or her Account.
Section 6.3. Valuation of Funds and Plan Accounts. The value of an Investment Fund as of any Valuation Date shall
be determined in accordance with Section 7.3 of the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (or its successor provision). The value of a
Participant's Account as of any Valuation Date shall be the sum of the values of his or her Legacy ESOP Account, Profit Sharing
Account and Top-Heavy Plan Account, if any. Each Participant shall be provided, not less frequently than annually, a statement
setting forth the balance in his or her Account.
Section 6.4. Trust Fund to Be Applied Exclusively for Participants and their Beneficiaries, Etc. Subject only to the
provisions of Article 5 and Sections 12.1 and 12.2(b) and (c), and any other provision of the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no
part of the Trust Fund shall be used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their
Beneficiaries.
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ARTICLE 7
PARTICIPANT ACCOUNTS,
INVESTMENT ELECTIONS, ETC.
Section 7.1. Participant Accounts. The Administrator shall establish and maintain, or cause to be established and
maintained, a separate Account for each Participant.
Each Account shall consist of the following subaccounts:
(i) with respect to each Participant who had an Account as of the Merger Effective Time, a Legacy ESOP
Account, to which was credited as of the Merger Effective Time (x) the share of the proceeds received by the Plan in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement that were allocable to the Participant's
Account as of the Merger Effective Time, if any, and (y) the balance, if any, of the Participant's Diversification
Account as of the Merger Effective Time, and earnings and losses thereon;
(ií) a Profit Sharing Account to which shall be credited contributions made pursuant to Section 4.1 and
forfeitures allocated pursuant to Section 7.1 and earnings and losses thereon; and
(iii) if contributions are made for the benefit of a Participant at a time when the Plan is a top-heavy plan within
the meaning of Section 13.1, a Top-Heavy Plan Account to which shall be credited such contributions and earnings
and losses thereon.
Unless the context otherwise requires, a Participant's "Account" or "Account balance" shall mean the aggregate value of
all separate subaccounts maintained on his or her behalf pursuant to the Plan and Trust agreement.
Section 7.2.

Vesting

(a) In General. A Participant shall become vested in his or her Account on the date the Participant has completed three
Years of Service. For purposes of this Section 7.2(a), a Participant will be deemed to have completed three Years of Service after he or
she completes two Years of Service and then completes 1,000 Hours of Service before any break in service that would result in the
Participant not being credited for two Years of Service.
14

(b) Accelerated Vesting. A Participant shall become vested in his or her Account on the first to occur of the following
events while the Participant is an Associate:
(i)

the Participant's death;

(ii) the Participant's Disability; or
(iii) the Participant's attainment of age 65.
(c) Merger Effective Time. A Participant who was an Associate as of the Merger Effective Time became vested in the
assets allocated to his or her Account as of the Merger Effective Time (which assets are now credited to the Participant's Legacy
ESOP Account).
(d) Certain Sales or Dispositions. In the event of the sale or disposition of a business or a sale of substantially all of the
assets of a trade or business, a Participant affected by such sale may be vested in his or her Account, irrespective of the Participant's
Years of Service, if expressly provide in the documents effecting the transaction or otherwise authorized by the Company.
Section 7.3.

Investment Elections.

(a) Investment Election. Each Participant may make an investment election that shall apply to the investment of
contributions made or allocated for_the Participant's benefit to his or her Legacy ESOP Account, Profit Sharing Account and TopHeavy Plan Account, if any, and any earnings thereon, subject to such limitations as the Committee may from time to time impose.
Such election shall specify the whole percentage of the contributions (and earnings thereon) that shall be invested in one or more of
the Investment Funds. During any period in which no investment direction is on file with the Committee, contributions made or
allocated for a Participant's benefit to his or her Account (and earnings thereon) shall be invested in the age15

appropriate Target Retirement Date Fidelity Freedom Fund (determined assuming the Participant will retire at age sixty-five (65)).
(b) Change of Investment Election. A Participant may elect to change his or her investment election as of any
Valuation Date, subject to such limitations as the Administrator may from time to time impose. Such change shall be limited to the
Investment Funds then offered under the Plan. A change in investment election made pursuant to this Section shall apply to the
existing balances of a Participant's Legacy ESOP Account, Profit Sharing Account and Top-Heavy Plan Account, if any, or to
contributions made or allocated for the benefit of the Participant (and earnings thereon) to such accounts after such change, or both.
Any change in investment elections shall specify the whole percentage of the balances of such accounts or of the contributions (and
earnings thereon) that shall be invested in one or more of the Investment Funds. A Participant's change of investment election must be
made in the manner prescribed by the Administrator. The Administrator shall prescribe rules regarding the time by which such an
election must be made in order to be effective for a particular Valuation Date.
Section 7.4 Short-Term Investments. Notwithstanding any election of any Participant, the Trustee shall have the right
to hold invested in a short-term investment fund any amounts intended for investment or reinvestment until such time as investment or
reinvestment may be made in accordance with the Plan and Trust.
Section 7.5. Allocation of Contributions. Any contribution made when the Plan is a top-heavy plan within the meaning
of Section 13.1 shall be allocated to the Top-Heavy Account of the Participant for whom such contribution is made as soon as
practicable after the Valuation Date coinciding with or next following the date on which such contribution is
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delivered to the Trustee and shall be credited to such Participant's Account as of such Valuation Date.
Section 7.6. Allocation of Forfeitures. The total amount forfeited during the Plan Year pursuant to Section 8.1(c) and
Section 8.5, reduced by the amount of such forfeitures credited to Accounts pursuant to Section 8.5, shall be applied first to reduce
expenses related to Plan administration and then shall be treated as a profit sharing contribution pursuant to Section 4.1.
Section 7.7. Correction of Error. If it comes to the attention of the Administrator that an error has been made in any of
the allocations prescribed by this Article 7, appropriate adjustment shall be made to the accounts of all Participants and Beneficiaries
that are affected by such error, except that no adjustment need be made with respect to any Participant or Beneficiary whose account
has been distributed in full prior to the discovery of such error.
Section 7.8. Transfers from Other Plans. The Trustee of the Plan shall not permit any amounts to be transferred to the
Plan from any other plan.
ARTICLE 8
WITHDRAWALS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
Section 8.1. Distribution of Account. (a) No Withdrawals or Loans. A Participant shall not be permitted to withdraw
any portion of his or her Account while he or she remains in employment with an Employer or Affiliate or to take a loan on his or her
Account at any time.
(b) Termination of Employment Under Circumstances Entitling Participant to Full Distribution of Account. If a
Participant's employment with all Employers and Affiliates terminates when he or she is vested in all or a portion of his Account in
accordance with Section
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7.1, then the Participant or his or her Beneficiary, as the case may be, shall be entitled to receive one hundred percent (100%) of the
vested portion of such Account.
(c) Other Termination of Employment. If a Participant terminates employment with his or her Employer and is not
vested in his or her Account, then such Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of his or her Account and the
balance of the Account shall be forfeited. If such former Paricipant is reemployed prior to incurrng five consecutive 1-Year Breaks in
Service, then any forfeiture shall be reinstated.
(d) Time of Distribution. The distribution of an Account shall commence no later than one year after the close of the
Plan Year in which the Participant terminates employment with his or her Employer due to death, Disability or after the attainment of
age 65 and no later than five years after the close of the Plan Year in which a Participant terminates employment for any other reason,
unless the Participant (or Beneficiary) elects otherwise; provided, however, that:
(i) if a Participant dies before the commencement of distribution of his or her Account, distributions paid or
commencing after the Participant's death shall be completed no later than December 31 of the calendar year which contains
the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death, except that (1) if the Participant's Beneficiary is the Participant's spouse,
distribution may be deferred until December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have attained age 70½
and (2) if the Participant's Beneficiary is a person other than the Participant's spouse and distributions commence on or before
December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, such distributions
may be made over a period not longer than the life expectancy of such Beneficiary;
(ii) if at the time of a Participant's death, distribution of his or her Account has commenced, the remaining portion of
the Participant's Account shall be paid at least as rapidly as under the method of distribution being used prior to the
Participant's death, as determined pursuant to U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.401(a)(9)-2;
(iíi) unless a Participant files a written election to defer distribution, distribution shall be made to a Participant by
payment in a single lump sum payment no later than 60 days after the end of the Plan Year which contains the latest of (i) the
date of the Participant's termination of employment, (ii) the tenth anniversary of the date the Participant commenced
participation in the Plan and (iii) the Participant's 65th birthday;
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provided, however, that if the Participant does not elect a distribution prior to the latest to occur of the events listed above,
the Participant shall be deemed to have elected to defer such distribution until a date no later than April 1 of the calendar year
following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½ and
(iv) with respect to a Participant who continues in employment after attaining age 70½, distribution of the Participant's
vested Account shall commence no later than the Participant's required beginning date. For purposes of this paragraph, the
term "required beginning date" shall mean (A) with respect to a Participant who is a 5%-owner (within the meaning of
section 416(i) of the Code), April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½
and (B) with respect to any other Participant, April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant
terminates employment with all Employers and Affiliates. Distributions made under this paragraph shall be made in
accordance with Section 8.1(e). A Participant is treated as a 5%-owner for purposes of this Section if such Participant is a
5%-owner as defined in section 416(i) of the Code (determined in accordance with section 416 of the Code but without
regard to whether the Plan is a top-heavy plan) at any time during the Plan Year in which such owner attains age 66½ or any
subsequent year. Once distributions have begun to a 5%-owner under this Section, they must continue to be distributed, even
if he or she ceases to be a 5%-owner.
Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to the contrary, all distributions will be made in accordance with section
401(a)(9) of the Code and Treasury regulations promulgated of thereunder, including the minimum distribution incidental death
benefit requirement thereof.
(e) Form and Method of Distribution. Any distribution from an Account to which a Participant (or in the event of the
Participant's death, his or her Beneficiary) becomes entitled shall be made in the form of a lump sum in cash or in the form of cash in
annual installments over a period not to exceed 15 years. A Participant (or Beneficiary) may change his or her election as to the form
of distribution at any time before the distribution is made or commences.
(f) Order of Distribution. Any distribution shall be charged against a Participant's subaccounts in the order determined
by the Administrator or Recordkeeper.
Section 8.2. Payment of Small Account Balances. Notwithstanding any provision of Section 8.1 to the contrary and
subject to Section 8.3, if the aggregate value of a
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Participant's Account at any time following his or her termination of employment does not exceed $1,000, then such amount shall be
distributed in a lump sum payment to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary, as the case may be. The distributions of such amounts
shall be made at the time determined by the Administrator and the Recordkeeper.
Section 8.3. Direct Rollover Option. In the case of a distribution that is an "eligible rollover distribution," a
Participant, a Beneficiary who is a surviving spouse of a Participant, or a spouse or former spouse of a Participant who is an alternate
payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code, may elect that all or any portion of such
distribution to which he or she is entitled shall be directly transferred from the Plan to (i) an individual retirement account or annuity
described in section 408(a) or (b) or 408A of the Code, or (ií) if the terms of which permit the acceptance of eligible rollover
distributions, to another retirement plan qualified under section 401(a) of the Code, to a qualified annuity plan described in section
403(a) of the Code, to an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the Code or to an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the
Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision
of a state and which agrees to account separately for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan. In the case of a distribution
that is an eligible rollover distribution, a Beneficiary who is not the Participant's spouse or former spouse and who is a "designated
beneficiary" pursuant to Section 8.4 may elect that all or any portion of a distribution to which he or she is entitled shall be directly
transferred from the Plan to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) or 408A of the Code that
was established for the purpose of receiving such distribution. For purposes of this Section 8.3, the term "eligible rollover distribution"
shall mean any distribution to an Associate of all or any portion of the
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balance to the credit of the Associate in a qualified trust, except that such term shall not include (i) any distribution which is one of a
series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made (a) for the life (or life expectancy) of the
Associate or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the Associate and the Associate's designated beneficiary, or (b) for a
specified period of 10 years or more; (ií) any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the
Code; and (iií) any distribution which is made upon hardship of the Associate.
Section 8.4. Designation of Beneficiary. (a) In General. Each Participant shall have the right to designate one or more persons
(including a legal entity, such as a trust) (designations may be made contingently or successively) to be his or her Beneficiary to
receive a distribution to be made under this Article upon the death of the Participant or, in the case of a Participant who dies after his
or her termination of employment but before the distribution of the entire amount to which he or she is entitled under the Plan, any
undistributed balance to which he or she would have been entitled. No designation of a Beneficiary, other than a Participant's spouse,
shall be effective if the Participant was married through the one-year period ending on the date of his or her death unless the
designation at the time it was made was consented to in writing (or by such other method permitted by the Internal Revenue Service)
by the individual who was then the Participant's spouse, acknowledging the effect of such consent and witnessed by a notary public or
a Plan representative, or it is established to the satisfaction of the Administrator or Recordkeeper that such consent could not be
obtained because such spouse could not be located or because of the existence of other circumstances as the Secretary of the Treasury
may prescribe as excusing the requirement of such consent. Subject to the immediately preceding sentence, a Participant may from
time to time, without the consent of any Beneficiary,
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change or cancel any such designation. Such designation and each change thereof shall be made in the manner prescribed by the
Administrator and shall be field with the Administrator or Recordkeeper. If (i) no person has been designated by a Participant to be his
or her Beneficiary under the Plan or (ií) a designation is not effective for the reason described in the second sentence of this
Section 8.4(a), then the Participant's Beneficiary shall be (1) the deceased's surviving spouse, if any, (2) if there is no surviving
spouse, the person designated by the Participant to receive a benefit upon his or her death under the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan,
or if no person is so designated under the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan, the person most recently designated to receive a benefit
upon the Participant's death under any predecessor plan as reflected in the records of an Employer or the Recordkeeper, (3) if there is
no surviving spouse and no persons are so designated, then living descendants, if any, of the deceased, per stirpes, or (4) if there is no
surviving spouse, if no persons are so designated and there are no living descendants, the executor or administrator of the estate of the
deceased. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable beneficiary designation form or the instructions thereto, if a Beneficiary
predeceases the Participant, then any undistributed balance of the Account of the deceased shall be distributed by the Trustee in the
order prescribed by the immediately preceding sentence.
(b) Successor Beneficiaries. A Beneficiary may, in the manner prescribed by the Administrator or Recordkeeper, designate a
person (a "successor beneficiary") to receive any undistributed balance upon the death of the Beneficiary to which such Beneficiary
would have been entitle to receive. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable form pursuant to which a Participant designates a
Beneficiary or the instructions thereto, if the Beneficiary dies after the Participant and before distribution of the entire amount of the
benefit under the Plan in which the
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Beneficiary has an interest, then any remaining amount shall be distributed, as soon as practicable after the death of such Beneficiary,
in the form of a lump sum payment to the successor beneficiary, or, if there is no such successor beneficiary, to the executor or
administrator of the estate of such deceased Beneficiary.
Section 8.5. Missing Persons. If following the date on which a Participant's Account may be distributed without the
Participant's consent pursuant to Section 8.1(c) or 8.2, the Administrator or Recordkeeper in the exercise of reasonable diligence has
been unable to locate the person or persons entitled to the Participant's Account (after sending a registered letter, return receipt
requested, to the last known address, and after utilizing certified mail, checking records of related employee benefit plans maintained
by the Company, contacting such designated beneficiaries, and using a letter forwarding service (of the Internal Revenue Service or
Social Security Administration) and any further effort deemed prudent by the Administrator or Recordkeeper to ascertain the
whereabouts of such Participant or Beneficiary), then the Participant's Account may be forfeited; provided, however, that to the extent
required by law the Plan shall reinstate and pay to such person or persons the amount so forfeited upon a claim for such amount made
by such person or persons. The amount to be so reinstated shall be obtained from the total amount that shall have been forfeited
pursuant to this Section and Section 8.1(c) during the Plan Year in which the claim for such forfeited benefit is made and shall not
include any earnings or losses from the date of the forfeiture. If the amount to be reinstated exceeds the amount of the forfeitures
under this Section and Section 8.1(c), then each Employer shall make a contribution in an amount equal to such Employer's pro-rata
share of such excess. Any such contribution shall be made regardless of whether the limitations set forth in Article 5 will be exceeded
by such contribution. An Employer's pro rata share shall be determined by
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multiplying the amount of such forfeitures by a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of Associates employed by
such Employer who made a claim for such forfeited benefits and the denominator of which is the number of all Associates who made
a claim for such forfeited benefits. To the extent the forfeitures under this Section exceed any claims for forfeited benefits made
pursuant to this Section and Section 9.1(b), such excess shall be applied in accordance with Section 7.6. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, all amounts forfeited under this Section on March 8, 2011 shall be allocated to the Profit Sharing Accounts of Participants
who were Associates on December 31, 2010 and worked 1,000 Hours of Service during 2010.
Section 8.6. Distributions to Minor and Disabled Individuals. Any distribution that is payable to an individual who is a minor
or to an individual who has been legally determined to be unable to manage his or her affairs by reason of illness or mental
incompetency may be made to, or for the benefit of, any such individual at such time consistent with the provisions of the Plan and in
such of the following ways as the legal representative of such individual shall direct: (a) directly to any such minor individual if, in the
opinion of such legal representative, such minor is able to manage his or her affairs, (b) to such legal representative, (c) to a custodian
under a Uniform Gifts to Minors Act for any such minor individual, or (d) as otherwise directed by such legal representative. Neither
the Administrator nor the Trustee shall be required to oversee the application by any third party other than the legal representative of
an individual of any distribution made to or for the benefit of such individual pursuant to this Section.
ARTICLE 9
SPECIAL PARTICIPATION AND DISTRIBUTION RULES
Section 9.1. Reemployment. (a) Participation. If an Associate whose employment with the Employers terminated before the
Associate satisfied the service
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requirement set forth in Section 3.1 is reemployed by an Employer, then the Associate's prior service shall be disregarded unless the
period between the date the Associate's employment terminated and the date he or she is reemployed is not greater than thirty (30)
days. If an individual who was a Participant terminated employment with his or her Employer and is reemployed by an Employer,
then the individual shall again become a Participant as of his or her reemployment date. If a Participant whose employment with the
Employers is terminated is receiving installment payments pursuant to Section 8.1(e), such payments shall be suspended upon such
Participant's reemployment unless he or she has attained age 591/2 on or before the date of such reemployment.
(b) Restoration of Forfeitures. If a Participant who terminated employment with the Employers is reemployed prior to
incurring five consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service, and, at or after the Participant's termination of employment, his or her Account
was forfeited pursuant to Section 8.1(c), then an amount equal to the forfeited amount shall be credited to the Participant's Account as
soon as administratively practicable after he or she is reemployed. Any amount to be restored pursuant to this subsection shall be
obtained from the total amounts that have been forfeited pursuant to Sections 8.1(c) and 8.5, as applicable, during the Plan Year in
which such Participant is reemployed from the Accounts of Participants employed by the same Employer as the reemployed
Participant, as the case may be. If the aggregate amount to be so restored to the Accounts of Participants who are Associates of a
particular Employer exceeds the amount of such applicable forfeitures, such Employer shall make a contribution in an amount equal to
the excess. Any such contribution shall be made regardless of whether the limitations set forth in Article 5 will be exceeded by such
contribution.
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(c) Service. If an individual who was previously employed by an Employer or an Affiliate is re-employed by an Employer or
an Affiliate, any service attributable to his or her prior period of employment shall be reinstated as of the date of his or her
participation or reparticipation, as the case may be, to the extent such service was recognized at the time of his or her prior termination
of employment.
Section 9.2. Employment by Affiliates. If an individual is employed by an Affiliate that is not an Employer, then any period
of employment with such Affiliate shall be taken into account under the Plan solely for the purposes of (i) measuring such individual's
Hours of Service and Years of Service and (ii) determining when such individual has terminated his or her employment for purposes
of the Plan, to the same extent it would have been had such period of employment been as an Associate.
Section 9.3. Qualified Military Service. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits
and service credit with respect to Qualified Military Service shall be provided in accordance with section 414(u) of the Code. The
Beneficiaries of a Participant who dies on or after January 1, 2007 while performing Qualified Military Service shall be entitled to
receive the Participant's entire Account.
ARTICLE 10
ADMINISTRATION
Section 10.1. The Administrator. (a) The Administrator shall be the "administrator" of the Plan within the meaning of such
term as used in ERISA and shall be responsible for the administration of the Plan.
(b) No individual employed by the Administrator who is a Participant shall take part in any action of the Administrator or any
matter involving solely his or her rights under the Plan.
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(c) The Administrator shall have the duty and authority to interpret and construe, in its sole discretion, the terms of the Plan
in all respects, including, but not limited to, all questions of eligibility, the status and rights of Participants, distributees and other
persons under the Plan, and the manner, time and amount of payment of any distribution under the Plan. All determinations and
actions of the Administrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all affected parties, except that the Administrator may revoke or
modify a determination or action that it determines to have been in error. Benefits will be paid under the Plan only if the Administrator
decides in its sole discretion that the applicant is entitled to the benefits.
(d) The Administrator shall direct the Trustee to make payments of amounts to be distributed from the Trust under Article 8.
(e) The Administrator may adopt such rules, regulations, and procedures as it deems necessary for the conduct of its affairs
and the administration of the Plan, provided that any such rules, regulations, and procedures shall be consistent with the provisions of
the Plan and ERISA, and such rules, regulations, and procedures shall be binding upon all Participants and Beneficiaries.
(f) The Administrator shall discharge its duties as administrator with respect to the Plan (i) solely in the interest of the
Participants and Beneficiaries, (ii) for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to the Participants and Beneficiaries and of
defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Plan and (iii) with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances
then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise
of a like character and with like aims. The Employers hereby jointly and severally indemnifies and holds harmless the Trustee from
the effects and consequences of its acts, omissions and conduct in its official capacity, except to the
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extent that such effects and consequences result from its own gross negligence, willful misconduct or criminal acts.
Section 10.2. Named Fiduciary. The Company shall be a "named fiduciary" of the Plan within the meaning of such term as
used in ERISA solely with respect to its powers specifically set forth herein.
Section 10.3. Allocation and Delegation of Responsibilities. The Administrator, the Company, and any Employer may
allocate their responsibilities and may delegate to any person, partnership, corporation or a committee to carry out any of their
responsibilities with respect to the Plan. Any such allocation or designation shall be in writing and shall be kept with the records of the
Plan.
Section 10.4. Professional and Other Services. Each of the Administrator, the Company, and the Employers may employ
counsel (who may be counsel for an Employer), specialists, advisers, and agents (including non-fiduciaries) to advise it and its agents
or delegates and may arrange for clerical and other services as the Administrator, the Company or the Employer and its agents may
require in carrying out its duties hereunder. The Trustee may compensate such agents or advisers from the assets of the Plan as
fiduciary expenses (but not including any business (settlor) expenses of an Employer) to the extent not paid by any Employer.
Section 10.5. Claims Procedure. Any Participant or distributee (or his or her duly authorized representative) who believes that
he or she is entitled to benefits in an amount greater than those which he or she has been notified he or she is entitled to receive, is
receiving or has received may file a claim with the Administrator. Such a claim shall be in writing and state the nature of the claim,
the facts supporting the claim, the amount claimed and the address of the
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claimant. No claim may be filed by any Participant or distributee more than two years after the person filing the claim knew, or had
reason to know, of the circumstances giving rise to the claim. The Administrator shall review the claim and, within 90 days after
receipt of the claim, give written notice to the claimant of its decision with respect to the claim. If special circumstances require an
extension of time, the claimant shall be so advised in writing or by electronic means within the initial 90-day period and in no event
shall such an extension exceed 90 days. The notice of the decision of the Administrator with respect to the claim shall be written in a
manner calculated to be understood by the claimant and, if the claim is wholly or partially denied, shall set forth the specific reasons
for the denial, specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based, a description of any additional material
or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary,
and an explanation of the claim review procedure under the Plan and the time limits applicable to such procedure (including a
statement of the claimant's right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA following the final denial of a claim). Such
notice shall also include (a) a statement that, as required by Section 12.3 of the Plan, any legal or equitable action may be commenced
under section 502 of ERISA later than one year after the claimant receives a final decision from the Administrator in response to the
claimant's request for review of the adverse benefit determination and (b) a statement that, as required by Section 12.9 of the Plan, any
legal or equitable action brought under section 502 of ERISA or any other action involving the Plan brought under any other state law
shall be litigated in the federal courts located in the Eastern District of New York and no other federal or state court.
The claimant (or his or her duly authorized representative) may request a hearing of the denial by filing with the
Administrator a written request for such hearing within 60 days
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after notice of the denial has been received by the claimant. Within the same 60-day period, the claimant may submit to the
Administrator written comments, documents, records and other information relating to the claim. Upon request and free of charge, the
claimant also may have reasonable access to, and copies of, documents, records and other information relevant to the claim. If a
request for review is so filed, then the Administrator shall then conduct a hearing within the same 60-day period, at which the claimant
may be represented by an attorney or any other representative of such claimant's choosing and expense and at which the claimant shall
have an opportunity to submit written and oral evidence and arguments in support of the claim. At the hearing (or prior thereto upon
five (5) business days' written notice to the Administrator) the claimant or the claimant's representative shall have an opportunity to
review all documents in the possession of the Administrator which are pertinent to the claim at issue and its disallowance. Either the
claimant or the Administrator may cause a court reporter to attend the hearing and record the proceedings. In such event, a complete
written transcript of the proceedings shall be furnished to both parties by the court reporter. The full expense of any such court
reporter and such transcripts shall be borne by the party who requests or requested the court reporter to attend the hearing. A final,
written decision as to the allowance of the claim shall be made by the Administrator within sixty (60) days of receipt of the appeal
request unless special circumstances require an extension of time provided that the delay and the special circumstances are
communicated in writing to the claimant within the 60-day period. If the appeal of the claim is wholly or partially denied, the notice of
the Administrator's final decision shall include specific reasons for the denial, specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on
which the denial is based and a statement that the claimant is entitled, upon request and free of charge, to reasonable access to, and
copies of, all relevant documents, records and information. The notice shall be
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written in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant and shall notify the claimant of his or her right to bring a civil action
under section 502(a) of ERISA. The claimant must file a civil action with respect to the denied claim not later than one hundred eighty
(180) days following the date of the Administrator's final determination.
In making determinations regarding claims for benefits, the Administrator shall consider all of the relevant facts and
circumstances, including, without limitation, governing plan documents, consistent application of Plan provisions with respect to
similarly situated claimants and any comments, documents, records and other information with respect to the claim submitted by the
claimant (the "Claimant's Submissions"). The Claimant's Submissions shall be considered by the Administrator without regard to
whether the Claimant's Submissions were submitted or considered by the Administrator in the initial benefit determination.
Section 10.6. Notices to Participants, Etc. All notices, reports and statements given, made, delivered or transmitted to a
Participant or distributee or any other person entitled to or claiming benefits under the Plan shall be deemed to have been duly given,
made, delivered or transmitted when provided via such written or other means as may be permitted by applicable regulations
promulgated by the U.S. Treasury Department. A Participant, distributee or other person may record any change of his or her address
by written notice filed with his or her Employer.
Section 10.7. Notices to Administrator or Employers. Written directions and notices and other written or electronic
communications from Participants, distributees or other persons entitled to or claiming benefits under the Plan to the Administrator or
the Employers shall be deemed to have been duly given, made, delivered or transmitted when given, made,
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delivered or transmitted in the manner and to the location prescribed by the Administrator or the Employers for the giving of such
directions, notices and other communications.
Section 10.8. Records. The Administrator shall keep a record of all of its proceedings with respect to the Plan and shall keep
or cause to be kept all books of account, records and other data as may be necessary or advisable in its judgment for the administration
of the Plan.
Section 10.9. Reports of Trustee and Accounting to Participants. The Administrator shall keep on file, in such form as it shall
deem convenient and proper, all reports concerning the Trust Fund received by it from the Trustee, and, as soon as practicable after
the close of each Plan Year, each Participant and Beneficiary shall be provided a written benefit statement indicating the balance
credited to any Account for such individual as of the close of such Plan Year. Any Participant or Beneficiary claiming that an error has
been made with respect to such balance shall notify the Administrator in writing within ninety (90) days following the delivery of such
benefit statement. If no notice of error timely is provided, the benefit statement shall be presumed to be correct.
ARTICLE 11
PARTICIPATION BY EMPLOYERS
Section 11.1. Adoption of Plan. With the consent of the Company, any entity may become an Employer under the Plan by
(a) taking such action as shall be necessary to adopt the Plan and (b) executing and delivering such instruments and taking such other
action as may be necessary or desirable to put the Plan and Trust into effect with respect to such entity, as prescribed by the
Administrator. The powers and control of the Company, as provided in the Plan and the trust agreement, shall not be diminished by
reason of participation of any such adopting entity in the Plan.
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Section 11.2. Withdrawal from Participation. An Employer may withdraw from participation in the Plan at any time by filing
with the Company a duly certified copy of a written instrument duly adopted by an Employer to that effect and giving notice of its
intended withdrawal to the Company, the Employers and the Trustee prior to the effective date of withdrawal.
Section 11.3. Company, Administrator and Recordkeeper as Agents for Employers. Each entity which becomes an Employer
pursuant to Section 11.1 or Section 11.4 by so doing shall be deemed to have appointed the Company, the Administrator and the
Recordkeeper as its agents to exercise on its behalf all of the powers and authorities conferred upon the Company, the Administrator
and the Recordkeeper by the terms of the Plan. The authority of the Company, the Administrator and the Recordkeeper to act as such
agent shall continue unless and until the portion of the Trust Fund held for the benefit of Associates of the particular Employer and
their Beneficiaries is set aside in a separate Trust Fund as provided in Section 14.2.
Section 11.4. Continuance by a Successor. In the event that an Employer other than the Company is reorganized by way of
merger, consolidation, transfer of assets or otherwise, so that another entity other than an Employer succeeds to all or substantially all
of such Employer's business, such successor entity may, with the consent of the Company, be substituted for such Employer under the
Plan by adopting the Plan. Contributions by such Employer automatically shall be suspended from the effective date of any such
reorganization until the date upon which the substitution of such successor entity for an Employer under the Plan becomes effective.
If, within 90 days following the effective date of any such reorganization, such successor entity shall not have elected to adopt the
Plan, the Company fails
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to consent to such adoption, or an Employer adopts a plan of complete liquidation other than in connection with a reorganization, the
Plan automatically shall be terminated with respect to employees of such Employer as of the close of business on the 90th day
following the effective date of such reorganization or as of the close of business on the date of adoption of such plan of complete
liquidation, as the case may be, and the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to distribute the portion of the Trust Fund applicable to
such Employer in the manner provided in Section 14.3.
If such successor entity is substituted for an Employer as described above, then, for all purposes of the Plan, employment of
each Associate with such Employer, including service with and compensation paid by such Employer, shall be considered to be
employment with such successor entity.
ARTICLE 12
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 12.1. Expenses. All costs and expenses of administering the Plan and the Trust, including the expenses of Employer
and the Administrator, the fees of counsel and of any agents for an Employer, investment advisory and record keeping fees, the fees
and expenses of the Trustee, the fees of counsel for the Trustee and other administrative expenses, shall be paid out of the Trust Fund
unless paid by an Employer. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, having regard to the nature of a particular expense, shall
determine the portion of such expense that is to be borne by each Employer. An Employer may seek reimbursement of any expense
paid by such Employer that the Administrator determines is properly payable from the Trust Fund. Until paid, expenses shall
constitute a liability of the Plan.
Section 12.2. Legal Fees. Any award of legal fees in connection with an action involving the Plan shall be calculated
pursuant to a method that results in the lowest amount of
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fees being paid, which amount shall be no more than the amount that is reasonable. In no event shall legal fees be awarded for work
related to (a) administrative proceedings under the Plan, (b) unsuccessful claims brought by a Participant, Beneficiary or any other
person, or (c) actions that are not brought under ERISA. In calculating any award of legal fees, there shall be no enhancement for the
risk of contingency, nonpayment or any other risk nor shall there be applied a contingency multiplier or any other multiplier. In any
action brought by a Participant, Beneficiary or any other person against the Plan, the Administrator, any Plan fiduciary, any Plan
administrator, the Company, its affiliates or their respective officers, directors, employees, or agents (the "Plan Parties"), legal fees of
the Plan Parties in connection with such action shall be paid by the Participant, Beneficiary or other person bringing the action, unless
the court specifically finds that there was a reasonable basis for the action.
Section 12.3. Statute of Limitations for Actions under the Plan. Except for actions to which the statute of limitations
prescribed by Section 413 of ERISA applies, (a) no legal or equitable action relating to a claim for benefits under Section 502 of
ERISA may be commenced later than one year after the claimant receives a final decision from the Administrator in response to the
claimant's request for review of the adverse benefit determination (or, if later, one year after the effective date of this provision) and
(b) no other legal or equitable action involving the Plan may be commenced later than two years from the time the person bringing an
action knew, or had reason to know, of the circumstances giving rise to the action (or, if later, two years after the effective date of this
provision). This provision shall not bar the Plan or its fiduciaries from recovering overpayments of benefits or other amounts
incorrectly paid to any person under the Plan at any time or bringing any legal or equitable action against any party.
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Section 12.4. Non-Assignability.
(a) In General. No right or interest of any Participant or Beneficiary in the Plan shall be assignable or transferable in whole
or in part, either directly or by operation of law or otherwise, including, but not by way of limitation, execution, levy, garnishment,
attachment, pledge or bankruptcy, but excluding devolution by death or mental incompetency, and any attempt to do so shall be void,
and no right or interest of any Participant or Beneficiary in the Plan shall be liable for, or subject to, any obligation or liability of such
Participant or Beneficiary, including claims for alimony or the support of any spouse, except as provided below.
(b) Exception for Qualified Domestic Relations Orders. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if a
Participant's Account under the Plan, or any portion thereof, is the subject of one or more qualified domestic relations orders (as
defined in section 414(P) of the Code), such Account or portion of either shall be paid to the individual, at the time and in the manner
specified in any such order. The Administrator shall adopt rules and procedures, in accordance with section 414(p) of the Code,
relating to its (i) review of any domestic relations order for purposes of determining whether the order is a qualified domestic relations
order and (ii) administration of a qualified domestic relations order. A domestic relations order shall not fail to constitute a qualified
domestic relations order solely because such order provides for distribution to an alternate payee of the benefit assigned to the
alternate payee under the Plan prior to the applicable Participant's earliest retirement age (as defined in section 414(p) of the Code)
under the Plan.
(c) Other Exception. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if a Participant is ordered or required to pay
an amount to the Plan pursuant to (i) a judgment in a
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criminal action, (ii) a civil judgment in connection with a violation (or alleged violation) of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or
(iii) a settlement agreement between the Secretary of Labor and the Participant or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and the
Participant in connection with a violation (or alleged violation) of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, the Participant's Account
may, to the extent permitted by law, be offset by such amount.
Section 12.5. Employment Non-Contractual. The Plan confers no right upon an Associate to continue in employment.
Section 12.6. Merger or Consolidation with Another Plan. A merger or consolidation with, or transfer of assets or liabilities
to, any other plan shall not be effected unless the terms of such merger, consolidation or transfer are such that each Participant,
distributee, Beneficiary or other person entitled to receive benefits from the Plan would, if the Plan were to terminate immediately
after the merger, consolidation or transfer, receive a benefit equal to or greater than the benefit such person would be entitled to
receive if the Plan were to terminate immediately before the merger, consolidation, or transfer.
Section 12.7. Gender and Plurals. Wherever used in the Plan, words in the masculine gender shall include the masculine or
feminine gender, and, unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the plural, and words in the plural shall
include the singular.
Section 12.8. Applicable Law. The Plan and all rights hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of New York to the extent such laws have not been preempted by applicable Federal law.
Section 12.9. Forum for Legal Actions under the Plan. Any legal action involving the Plan that is brought by any Participant,
any Beneficiary or any other person shall
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be litigated in the Federal courts located in the Eastern District of New York and no other Federal or state court.
Section 12.10. Severability. If any provision of the Plan is held illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect
the remaining provisions of the Plan and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been
included in the Plan.
Section 12.11. No Guarantee. None of the Company, the Employers, the Administrator or the Trustee in any way guarantees
the Trust from loss or depreciation nor the payment of any benefit that may be or become due to any person from the Trust Fund.
Nothing in the Plan shall be deemed to give any Participant, distributee or Beneficiary an interest in any specific part of the Trust Fund
or any other interest except the right to receive benefits from the Trust Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and the trust
agreement.
Section 12.12. Plan Voluntary. Although it is intended that the Plan shall be continued and that contributions shall be made as
herein provided, the Plan is entirely voluntary on the part of the Employers and the continuance of the Plan and the contributions
hereunder are not and shall not be regarded as contractual obligations of the Employers.
ARTICLE 13
TOP-HEAVY PLAN REQUIREMENTS
Section 13.1. General Rule. If the Plan is or becomes top-heavy in any Plan Year, the provisions of this Article 13 will
supersede any conflicting provision in the Plan.
Section 13.2. Definitions.
(a) Key Employee. Key Employee shall mean any Associate or former Associate (or any Beneficiary of such Associate)
who at any time during the Plan Year that includes the Determination Date was (i) an officer of an Employer having annual
compensation greater than $160,000 (for 2011) (as adjusted under section 416(i)(1) of the Code for Plan Years beginning
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after December 31, 2002), (ii) a five percent (5%) owner of an Employer, or (iií) a one percent (1%) owner of an Employer having
annual compensation of more than $150,000.
(b) Top-Heavy Plan: For any Plan Year, the Plan is top-heavy if any of the following conditions exist:
(i) If, as of the Determination Date, the Top-Heavy Ratio for the Plan exceeds 60 percent and the Plan is not part of any
Required Aggregation Group or Permissive Aggregation Group.
(ii) If the Plan is a part of a Required Aggregation Group but not part of a Permissive Aggregation Group and the TopHeavy Ratio for the Required Aggregation Group exceeds 60 percent.
(iií) If the Plan is a part of a Permissive Aggregation Group and the Top-Heavy Ratio for the Permissive Aggregation Group
exceeds 60 percent.
(c) Top-Heavy Ratio: The aggregate of the account balances of Key Employees under the Plan compared to the aggregate
of the account balances of all Associates who are Participants. Effective January 1, 2002, the aggregate of the account balances of all
Associates shall be increased by the distributions made with respect to the Associate under the Plan and any plan aggregated with the
Plan under section 416(g)(2) of the Code during the 1-year period ending on the Determination Date. The preceding sentence shall
also apply to distributions under a terminated plan which, had it not been terminated, would have been aggregated with the Plan under
section 416(g)(2)(A) of the Code. In the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death, or
disability, this provision shall be applied by substituting "5-year period" for "I-year period." Effective January 1, 2002, the accrued
benefits and accounts of any individual who has not performed services for an Employer during the 1-year period ending on the
Determination Date shall not be taken into account.
(d) Permissive Aggregation Group: The Required Aggregation Group, plus any other plan or plans of the Employer which,
when considered as a group with the Required
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Aggregation Group, would continue to satisfy the requirements of sections 401(a)(4) and 410 of the Code.
(e) Required Aggregation Group: (i) Each qualified plan of the Employer in which at least one (1) Key Employee
participates and (ii) any other qualified plan of the Employer that enables a plan described in Section 13.2(d) to meet the requirements
of section 401(a)(4) or 410 of the Code.
(f) Determination Date: For any Plan Year after the first Plan Year, the last day of the preceding Plan Year. For the first
Plan Year of the Plan, the last day of such Plan Year.
(g) Compensation: Compensation shall have the meaning set forth in U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.415(c)-2.
Section 13.3. Minimum Allocation. The sum of contributions and forfeitures (as referred to in U.S. Treasury Regulation §
1.416-1, M-10) allocated under Section 7.6 on behalf of any Participant who is not a Key Employee shall not be less than three percent
(3%) of such Participant's compensation. The minimum allocation (to be known as the "Employer Top-Heavy Contribution") is
determined without regard to any Social Security contribution. The Employer Top-Heavy Contribution shall be made even though,
under other Plan provisions, the Participant would not otherwise be entitled to receive an allocation, or would have received a lesser
allocation for the year because of (i) the Participant's failure to complete 1,000 Hours of Service or (ii) the Participant's compensation
for such year is less than a stated amount.
The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any Participant who was not employed by an Employer on the last day of the
Plan Year. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, with respect to any Participant who is not a Key Employee and who is a
participant in the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan, the NBTY, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan shall be the plan
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designated to satisfy the minimum allocation requirement. To the extent any minimum allocation is made under the NBTY, Inc. 401
(k) Savings Plan, a minimum allocation shall not be made under the Plan.
Section 13.4. Minimum Vesting for Top-Heavy Years. Any portion of an Account that a Participant is not entitled to receive
pursuant to this Section shall be charged to the relevant account and forfeited as of the earlier of (i) the date the Participant receives a
distribution of his or her vested account and (ii) the date the Participant incurs five consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service.
ARTICLE 14
AMENDMENT, ESTABLISHMENT OF
SEPARATE PLAN, AND PLAN TERMINATION
Section 14.1. Amendment. The Committee may, at any time and from time to time, amend or modify the Plan. Any such
amendment or modification shall become effective as of such date provided therein upon its execution, including retroactively to the
extent permitted by law, and may apply to Participants in the Plan at the time thereof as well as to future Participants.
Section 14.2. Establishment of Separate Plan. If an Employer terminates its participation in the Plan pursuant to Section 14.3,
then the Administrator shall determine the portion of each of the funds of the Trust Fund that is applicable to the Participants
employed by such Employer and their Beneficiaries and direct the Trustee to segregate such portion in a separate trust. Such separate
trust thereafter shall be held and administered as a part of the separate plan of such Employer.
Section 14.3. Termination. The Board at any time may terminate the Plan or any portion of the Plan by delivery to the
Administrator of written notice of such termination. An
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Employer at any time may terminate its participation in the Plan by resolution of its board of directors. In the event of any such
termination, or in the event of the partial termination of the Plan with respect to a group of Participants (or any combination thereof),
the Accounts of the group with respect to whom the Plan is terminated shall become fully vested and thereafter shall not be subject to
forfeiture. Unallocated amounts, including Forfeitures, shall be allocated to the applicable Accounts. The Administrator shall direct
the Trustee to distribute the vested Accounts to such group.
A complete discontinuance of contributions by an Employer to the Plan shall be deemed a termination of such Employer's
participation in the Plan for purposes of this Section 14.3.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employee Benefits Committee of the Compensation Committee of NBTY, Inc. has
caused this amendment to be adopted the Company this 3 day of May, 2011.
By: /s/ Harvey Kamil
Harvey Kamil
By: /s/ Irene Fisher
Irene Fisher
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Exhibit 10.27
NBTY, INC.
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PAY PLAN
Section 1

Purpose

The Company established the Plan to make available severance benefits to a select group of key management employees if
and when employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries in the United States is terminated under the circumstances and subject
to the conditions described below. The Plan is intended to be a welfare benefit plan as defined by section 3(1) of ERISA. The terms
of the Plan may not be modified or amended, except as described below.
Section 2

Definitions

Capitalized terms used in the Plan and not elsewhere defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in this Section:
(a)
"Base Salary" shall mean one-twelfth of the Participant's stated annual rate of base salary, excluding any employer
contributions towards employee benefits, bonuses, equity compensation or other incentive pay, determined as of the date immediately
prior to the date of such Participant's Termination of Employment.
(b)

"Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

(c)
"Cause" shall mean (i) a Participant's willful misconduct with regard to the Company; provided that no act or
failure to act on Participant's part will be considered "willful" (x) unless done, or omitted to be done, by Participant not in good faith
or without reasonable belief that his or her action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company or (y) if it is
done, or omitted to be done, in reliance on the informed advice of the Company's outside counsel or independent accountants or at the
express direction of the Board; (ii) a Participant being indicted for, convicted of, or pleading nolo contendere to, a felony or intentional
crime involving material dishonesty other than, in any case, any indictment, conviction or pleading based entirely on vicarious liability
or traffic violations; (iii) a Participant's conduct involving the use of illegal drugs; (iv) a Participant's failure to attempt in good faith
(other than when absent because of physical or mental incapacity) to follow a lawful directive of the Board or Participant's supervisor
within ten (10) days after written or electronic notice of such failure (to the extent that, in the reasonable judgment of the Board or
such Participant's supervisor, such failure can be cured by Participant); (v) a Participant's material violation of either (x) the
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Company's or any of its affiliates' Code of Business Conduct (including the corporate policies referenced therein) which would
constitute grounds for immediate termination of employment or (y) any statutory or common law duty of loyalty to the Company or
any of its affiliates; or (vi) a Participant's breach of any restrictive covenant under any agreement between the Participant and the
Company or any Subsidiary relating to disclosure of confidential information, solicitation of employees or customers, or competition,
and such breach continues beyond ten (10) days after written or electronic demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Participant by the Company (to the extent that, in the reasonable judgment of the Board or such Participant's supervisor, such breach
can be cured by Participant), so long as the breach (which shall be deemed to refer to all breaches in this paragraph) is (A) material
and (B) results in a significant adverse impact on the Company.
(d)

"Code" shall mean the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(e)

"Company" shall mean NBTY, Inc.

(f)
"Disability" shall have occurred when a Participant has been unable to perform his or her material duties because of
a physical or mental incapacity for a period of at least 180 days in any 365 day period, as determined by a physician selected by the
Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Participant or the Participant's legal representative, with such agreement as to
acceptability not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Disability termination shall be deemed to
occur earlier if, as a result of physical or mental incapacity, Executive experiences a "separation from service" within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code.
(g)
(h)
to Section 3.

"ERISA" shall mean the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
"Participant" shall mean any employee of the Company or a Subsidiary designated as an eligible employee pursuant

(i)
"Plan" shall mean the NBTY, Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan, as set forth herein, and as the same may from
time to time be amended.
(j)

"Plan Committee" shall mean the committee designated to administer the Plan pursuant to Section 7.

(k)
"Severance Period" for a Participant shall mean 12 months unless the Plan Committee notifies in writing the
Participant that a greater period shall apply.
(l)
Company.

"Subsidiary" shall mean an entity that is, either directly or through one or more intermediaries, controlled by the

(m)
"Termination of Employment" shall mean a Participant's "separation from service," within the meaning of section
409A of the Code, from the Company and its
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Subsidiaries due to a termination of employment by the Company or a Subsidiary other than on account of Cause, Disability or death.
Section 3

Eligibility

Only those employees of the Company or any Subsidiary who are on the Company's or a Subsidiary's U.S. payroll and who
have been selected by the Plan Committee and notified in writing of such selection shall participate in the Plan.
Section 4

Severance Payments

Cash Severance. In the event of a Participant's Termination of Employment, the Company or a Subsidiary
(a)
employer, as applicable, shall pay the Participant his or her Base Salary for each month during the Severance Period consistent with
the Company's normal payroll practices applicable to the Participant immediately prior to his or her Termination of Employment.
Payment shall begin on the first regularly scheduled payroll date occurring on or after the sixtieth (60th) day following the
Termination of Employment date, and the first payment shall include the first two months of the severance payments.
(b)
Prior Year's Bonus. In the event of a Participant's Termination of Employment after the end of a fiscal year but
prior to the date annual bonus are to be paid for such year, the Company shall pay the Participant the annual cash bonus to which the
Participant would have been entitled, if any, had he or she remained employed by the Company or a Subsidiary until the date bonuses
for such fiscal year would have been paid. Any bonus paid pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be paid at the same time as when
bonuses are normally paid to participants in the Company's annual bonus plan (but in any event no later than March 15th immediately
following the fiscal year in which such bonus was earned).
Section 5

Conditions

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no benefits shall be paid or provided under the Plan, unless (i) the
Participant timely executes a release of claims in favor of the Company and its Subsidiaries in substantially the form attached hereto
as Appendix A and (ii) such release becomes irrevocable pursuant to the terms of such release prior to the fifty-ninth (59th) day
following the Participant's Termination of Employment. In addition, a Participant shall not be entitled to receive or continue to
receive any benefits under the Plan if such Participant has breached any restrictive covenant under any agreement between the
Participant and the Company or any Subsidiary relating to non-competition, disclosure of confidential information, solicitation of
employees or customers. In the event of such a breach, the Participant shall repay to the Company, within ten (10) business days of
the Company's written demand, all amounts previously paid to him or her under the Plan.
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Section 6

Administration

(a)
Plan Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board, unless the Board
shall appoint a different committee to administer the Plan. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, the Board may perform any
function of the Plan Committee under the Plan, and to the extent authority is specifically reserved to the Board under the terms of the
Plan, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, or applicable law, such authority shall be exercised by the Board and
not by the Plan Committee.
(b)
Powers and Duties of Plan Committee. In addition to the powers and duties specified elsewhere in the Plan
(including, but not limited to, Section 8(g)), the Plan Committee shall have full authority and discretion to:
(i)
adopt, amend, suspend, and rescind such rules and regulations and appoint such agents as the Plan
Committee may deem necessary or advisable to administer the Plan;
(ii)
correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan and to construe and
interpret the Plan or other instrument hereunder;
(iii)
make determinations relating to eligibility for and entitlements to benefits under the Plan, and to make all
factual findings related thereto; and
(iv)
make all other decisions and determinations as may be required under the terms of the Plan or as the Plan
Committee may deem necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.
Delegation by Plan Committee. Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law or any applicable stock exchange
(c)
rules, the Plan Committee may delegate to any individual or individuals selected by the Plan Committee, who may or may not be
members of the Board, all or any part of the Plan Committee's responsibilities and powers set forth in the Plan, in which case every
reference herein made to the Plan Committee shall be deemed to mean or include the appointed individual(s) as to matters within their
scope of authority. Any such delegation may be revoked by the Plan Committee at any time. Except as notified in writing to the
contrary by the Plan Committee, in the event of such delegation, the Plan Committee's delegates shall have all of the powers vested in
the Plan Committee necessary to fulfill the functions delegated.
Section 7

Claims Procedure

(a)
Generally. This Section 7 describes the Plan's procedures pursuant to which an individual can make a claim for
benefits under the Plan and appeal a denied claim for benefits. A request for benefits is a "claim" subject to these procedures only if it
is filed by an individual or his or her authorized representative in accordance with rules
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and procedures established by the Plan Committee. All claims must be filed with the Employee Benefits Committee of the Board (the
"Employee Benefits Committee") in writing (to the attention of "Employee Benefits Committee" and addressed to the General
Counsel of the Company at its corporate headquarters). An individual may designate an authorized representative to file a claim under
the Plan on his or her behalf so long as the individual provides written notice of such designation to the Employee Benefits Committee
identifying such authorized representative.
(b)
Time Periods for Responding to Initial Claims. The Employee Benefits Committee shall respond to an initial claim
for benefits under the Plan within 90 days after receipt of the claim. If the Employee Benefits Committee determines that an extension
is necessary due to special circumstances, the Employee Benefits Committee shall notify the individual within the initial 90-day
period that the Employee Benefits Committee needs up to an additional 90 days to review his or her claim.
Notice and Information Contained in Notice Denying Initial Claim. If the Employee Benefits Committee denies an
(c)
individual's claim (in whole or in part), the Employee Benefits Committee shall provide the individual with written notice of the
denial. Such notice shall (i) include the specific reason or reasons for the denial, (ii) refer to the specific provisions in the Plan upon
which the denial is based, (iii) provide a description of any additional material or information necessary for the individual to perfect
his or her claim and an explanation as to why such information is necessary, and (iv) provide a description of the Plan's appeals
procedures and the time limits applicable for such procedures (such description to include a statement that the individual is eligible to
bring a civil action in U.S. Federal court under section 502(a) of ERISA to appeal any adverse decision on appeal.
(d)
Appealing a Denied Claim for Benefits. If an individual's initial claim for benefits is denied, the individual may
appeal the denial by filing a written request to the attention of Plan Committee and addressed to the General Counsel of the Company
at its corporate headquarters, within 60 days after the date of the notice denying his or her initial claim for benefits. If the individual
decides to appeal a denied claim for benefits, the individual shall be able to submit written comments, documents, records, and other
information relating to his or her claim for benefits (regardless of whether such information was considered in his or her initial claim
for benefits) for review and consideration. Such individual shall also be entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge,
reasonable access to and copies of, all documents, records and other information that is relevant (within the meaning of ERISA) to his
or her appeal.
Time Periods for Responding to Appealed Claims. If an individual appeals a denied claim for benefits under the
(e)
Plan, the Plan Committee shall respond to the individual within 60 days after receipt of the appeal. If the Plan Committee determines
that an extension is necessary due to special circumstances, the Plan Committee shall notify the individual within the initial 60-day
period that the Plan Committee needs up to an additional 60 days to review his or her appeal and such
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notification shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the Plan Committee expects
to render the determination on appeal.
Notice and Information Contained in Notice Denying Appeal. If the Plan Committee denies an individual's appeal
(f)
(in whole or in part), the Plan Committee shall provide the individual with written notice of the denial. Such notice shall (i) include
the specific reason or reasons for the denial, (ii) refer to the specific provisions in the Plan upon which the denial is based, (iii) provide
a statement that the individual is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of, all
documents, records and other information that is relevant (within the meaning of ERISA) to his or her claim and/or appeal for
benefits, and (iv) include a statement that the individual is entitled to bring a civil action in U.S. Federal court under section 502(a) of
ERISA to pursue his or her claim for benefits.
Plan Interpretation and Benefit Determination. The Plan shall be administered by the Plan Committee, which has
(g)
complete authority, in its sole and absolute discretion, to construe the terms of the Plan (and any related or underlying documents or
policies), and to determine the eligibility for, and amount of, benefits due under the Plan to Participants and their beneficiaries. All
such interpretations and determinations of the Plan Committee shall be final and binding upon all parties and persons affected thereby.
Section 8

Successor to the Company

The Company may require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganization or
otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company expressly to assume the Plan and agree to perform the
obligations of the Company hereunder in the same manner and to the same extent the Company would be required to perform if no
such succession had taken place.
Section 9

Amendment; Termination; Removal from Participation

The Compensation Committee of the Board retains the right to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part for
any reason, so long as such action does not materially and adversely affect the rights of any Participant who has already been notified
in writing of the Participant's selection to participate in the Plan.
Section 10

General Provisions

(a)
No Mitigation. A Participant shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in
the Plan by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor shall the amount of any payment or benefit provided for herein be reduced by
any compensation earned by other employment or otherwise.
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(b)
Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in the Plan shall prevent or limit the Participant's continuing or future
participation in or rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan provided by the Company and for which the Participant may
qualify. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any individual selected for participation in the Plan in accordance with
Section 3 shall not be eligible to participate in any other Company or Subsidiary sponsored severance plan, policy, arrangement or
agreement, unless determined otherwise by the Company.
(c)
Nonalienation of Benefits. None of the payments, benefits or rights of any Participant shall be subject to any claim
of any Participant's creditors, and, in particular, to the fullest extent permitted by law, all such payments, benefits and rights shall be
free from attachment, garnishment, trustee's process, or any other legal or equitable process available to any creditor of such
Participant. No Participant shall have the right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of the benefits or
payments which he or she may expect to receive, contingently or otherwise, under the Plan.
No Contract of Employment. Neither the establishment of the Plan, nor any modification thereof, nor the creation
(d)
of any fund, trust or account, nor the payment of any benefits shall be construed as giving any Participant the right to be retained in the
service of the Company or any Subsidiary, and all Participants shall remain subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan had
never been adopted.
(e)
Death. In the event of a Participant's death following his or her Termination of Employment and after having
become entitled to benefits under the Plan, any amounts not yet paid pursuant to Section 4(a) shall be paid in accordance with
Section 4 to the person(s) or trust(s) which have been designated by the Participant in his or her most recent written beneficiary
designation filed with the Company's Director of Human Resources (the "Designated Beneficiary). If, upon a Participant's death,
there is no Designated Beneficiary or surviving Designated Beneficiary, then the term Designated Beneficiary means the person(s) or
trust(s) entitled by will or the laws of descent and distribution to receive such amounts.
Tax Withholding. The Company and each Subsidiary shall have the right to withhold from any payment to be
(f)
made pursuant to the Plan such amount the Company or such Subsidiary deems is required to be withheld under applicable laws.
(g)
Severability of Provisions. If any provision of the Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or
unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provision had not
been included.
(h)
Unfunded Plan. The Plan shall not be funded. No Participant shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of
the Company or any Subsidiary which may be applied by the Company to the payment of benefits under the Plan.
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(i)
Controlling Law. The Plan shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the state of New York, except
to the extent preempted by United States Federal law.
(j)
Section 409A. The Plan is intended to comply with or be exempt from the requirements of section 409A of the
Codeand shall be interpreted and construed consistently with such intent; provided, however, that in no event shall the Company or
any Subsidiary or any of its directors, officers, employees or advisors be responsible for any tax, interest or related tax penalties that
may arise as a result of section 409A of the Code. For purposes of section 409A of the Code, the right to a series of installment
payments under the Plan shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan,
if a Participant is a "specified employee," as defined in section 409A of the Code as of the date of the Participant's Termination of
Employment, then to the extent any amount payable to the Participant (i) constitutes the payment of nonqualified deferred
compensation within the meaning of section 409A of the Code, (ii) is payable upon the Participant's Termination of Employment and
(iii) under the terms of the Plan would be payable prior to the six-month anniversary of the Participant's Termination of Employment,
such payment shall be delayed until the earlier to occur of (a) the first business day following the six-month anniversary of the
Termination of Employment and (b) the date of the Participant's death. In no event may a Participant, directly or indirectly, designate
the calendar year of payment.
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Appendix A
Form of Release
This Agreement and Release ("Agreement") is made by and between NBTY, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with any
successor thereto, the "Company"), and
(the "Employee") (collectively, referred to as the "Parties" or individually
referred to as a "Party"). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in the Severance
Plan (as defined below).
WHEREAS, the Employee has been designated as a Participant in the NBTY, Inc. Executive Severance Plan (the "Severance
Plan"); and
WHEREAS, in connection with Employee's Termination of Employment effective
, 20 (the "Date of
Termination"), the Parties wish to resolve any and all disputes, claims, complaints, grievances, charges, actions, petitions, and
demands that Employee may have against the Company and any of the Releasees as defined below, including, but not limited to, any
and all claims arising out of or in any way related to Employee's employment with or separation from the Company or its subsidiaries
or affiliates.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the severance payments described in Section 4 of the Severance Plan, which,
pursuant to the Severance Plan, are conditioned on Employee's execution and non-revocation of this Agreement, and in consideration
of the mutual promises made herein, the Company and Employee hereby agree as follows:
Severance Payments. The Company agrees to provide Employee with the severance payments described in
1.
Section 4 of the Severance Plan, payable at the times set forth in, and subject to the terms and conditions of, the Severance Plan. In
addition, to the extent not already paid and subject to Section 10(b) of the Severance Plan, the Company shall pay or provide to
Employee : (i) the portion of Employee's Base Salary earned through the Date of Termination, but not yet paid to Employee; (ii) any
accrued vacation owed to Employee under the Company's vacation policy; (iii) any expenses owed to Employee pursuant to the
Company's expense reimbursement policy; and (iv) any amount accrued and arising from Employee's participation in, or benefits
accrued under any employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, which amounts shall be payable in accordance with the terms
and conditions of such employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements. Employee agrees that Employee shall comply with the
terms of any agreement Employee has entered into with the Company or any of its affiliates relating to restrictions as to disclosure of
confidential information, solicitation of employees or customers or competition.
2.
Release of Claims. Employee agrees that the foregoing consideration represents settlement in full of all
outstanding obligations owed to Employee by the Company, any of their direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates (including,
without limitation, Alphabet Holding Company, Inc. and its affiliated entities), and, in their capacities related to the foregoing, any of
their current and former officers, directors,
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equity holders, managers, employees, agents, investors, attorneys, shareholders, administrators, affiliates, benefit plans, plan
administrators, insurers, trustees, divisions, and subsidiaries and predecessor and successor corporations and assigns (collectively, the
"Releasees"). Employee, on Employee's own behalf and on behalf of any of Employee's affiliated companies or entities and any of
their respective heirs, family members, executors, agents, and assigns, hereby and forever releases the Releasees from, and agrees not
to sue concerning, or in any manner to institute, prosecute, or pursue, any claim, complaint, charge, duty, obligation, or cause of action
relating to any matters of any kind, whether presently known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, that Employee may possess
against any of the Releasees arising from any omissions, acts, facts, or damages that have occurred up until and including the Effective
Date of this Agreement (as defined below), including, without limitation:
(a)
any and all claims relating to or arising from Employee's employment or service relationship with the
Company or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries or affiliates and the termination of that relationship;
(b)
any and all claims relating to, or arising from, Employee's right to purchase, or actual purchase of any
shares of stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its affiliates, including, without limitation, any claims for fraud,
misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of duty under applicable state corporate law, and securities fraud under any state or
federal law;
(c)
any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment; termination in violation of public policy;
discrimination; harassment; retaliation; breach of contract, both express and implied; breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing,
both express and implied; promissory estoppel; negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; fraud; negligent or intentional
misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage; unfair business practices;
defamation; libel; slander; negligence; personal injury; assault; battery; invasion of privacy; false imprisonment; conversion; and
disability benefits;
(d)
any and all claims for violation of any federal, state, or municipal statute, including, but not limited to,
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; the Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; the Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990; the Equal Pay Act; the Fair Labor Standards Act; the Fair Credit Reporting Act; the Age Discrimination in Employment
Act of 1967; the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974; the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Family and Medical Leave Act; the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; the New York City
Human Rights Law;
(e)

any and all claims for violation of the federal or any state constitution;

(f)

any and all claims arising out of any other laws and regulations relating to employment or employment

discrimination;
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(g)
any claim for any loss, cost, damage, or expense arising out of any dispute over the non-withholding or
other tax treatment of any of the proceeds received by Employee as a result of this Agreement; and
(h)

any and all claims for attorneys' fees and costs.

Employee agrees that the release set forth in this section shall be and remain in effect in all respects as a complete general release as to
the matters released. This release does not release claims to payments that arise under this Agreement or that cannot be released as a
matter of law, including, but not limited to, Employee's right to file a charge with or participate in a charge by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission, or any other local, state, or federal administrative body or government agency that is authorized to enforce
or administer laws related to employment, against the Company (with the understanding that Employee's release of claims herein bars
Employee from recovering such monetary relief from the Company or any Releasee), claims for unemployment compensation or any
state disability insurance benefits pursuant to the terms of applicable state law, claims to continued participation in certain of the
Company's group benefit plans pursuant to the terms and conditions of COBRA, claims to any benefit entitlements vested as the date
of separation of Employee's employment, rights with regard to any vested equity (including under any stockholders agreement
governing such equity and any side letter relating thereto), and any rights to indemnity, advancement of legal fees and coverage under
the Company's directors and officers insurance policies.
Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEA. Employee understands and acknowledges that Employee is
3.
waiving and releasing any rights Employee may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 ("ADEA"), and that
this waiver and release is knowing and voluntary. Employee understands and agrees that this waiver and release does not apply to any
rights or claims that may arise under the ADEA after the Effective Date of this Agreement. Employee understands and acknowledges
that the consideration given for this waiver and release is in addition to anything of value to which Employee was already entitled.
Employee further understands and acknowledges that Employee has been advised by this writing that: (a) Employee should consult
with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (b) Employee has at least 21 days within which to consider this Agreement;
(c) Employee has 7 days following Employee's execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement; (d) this Agreement shall not be
effective until after the revocation period has expired; and (e) nothing in this Agreement prevents or precludes Employee from
challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition
precedent, penalties, or costs for doing so, unless specifically authorized by federal law. In the event Employee signs this Agreement
and returns it to the Company in less than the 21-day period identified above, Employee hereby acknowledges that Employee has
freely and voluntarily chosen to waive the time period allotted for considering this Agreement.
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4.
California Civil Code Section 1542. If Employee resides in California, Employee acknowledges that he/she has
been advised to consult with legal counsel and is familiar with the provisions of California Civil Code Section 1542, a statute that
otherwise prohibits the release of unknown claims, which provides:
A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR
SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM
OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.
Employee, being aware of said code section, agrees to expressly waive any rights he/she may have thereunder, as well as under any
statute or common law principles of similar effect.
5.
Severability. In the event that any provision or any portion of any provision hereof or any surviving agreement
made a part hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator to be illegal, unenforceable, or void, this
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision or portion of provision.
No Oral Modification. This Agreement may only be amended in a writing signed by Employee and a duly
6.
authorized officer of the Company.
7.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be subject to the provisions of Section 10(i) of the Severance Plan.

8.
Effective Date. If Employee has attained or is over the age of 40 as of the Date of Termination of employment,
then the Employee has seven days after Employee signs this Agreement to revoke it and this Agreement will become effective on the
eighth day after Employee signed this Agreement, so long as it has been signed by the Parties and has not been revoked by the
Employee before that date (the "Effective Date"). If the Employee has not attained the age of 40 as of the Date of Termination, then
the "Effective Date" shall be the date on which Employee signs this Agreement.
Voluntary Execution of Agreement. Employee understands and agrees that Employee executed this Agreement
9.
voluntarily, without any duress or undue influence on the part or behalf of the Company or any third party, with the full intent of
releasing all of Employee's claims against the Company and any of the other Releasees. Employee acknowledges that Employee:
(a) has read this Agreement; (b) has not relied upon any representations or statements made by the Company that are not specifically
set forth in this Agreement; (c) has been represented in the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement by legal counsel
of Employee's own choice or has elected not to retain legal counsel; (d) understands the terms and consequences of this Agreement
and of the releases it contains; and (e) is fully aware of the legal and binding effect of this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.
Dated:

COMPANY (or any successor thereto)
By:
Name:
Title:

Dated:

EMPLOYEE
By:
Name:
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Exhibit 12.1
NBTY INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Dollars in thousands)

2011
Successor

2010

Fiscal year ended September 30,
2009
2008
Predecessor

2007

EARNINGS AVAILABLE TO COVER FIXED
CHARGES:
Income before provision for income taxes
Less:
Interest capitalized
Add:
Fixed charges deducted from earnings (see
below)
Earnings available to cover fixed charges

$

39,909

$

—

327,715

$

—

228,968

$

—

231,040

$

(1,404)

303,976
(912)

$

244,097
284,006

$

74,106
401,821

$

77,010
305,978

$

56,275
285,911

$

51,432
354,496

$

195,537

$

30,195

$

34,882

$

18,639

$

16,749

$

48,560
244,097

$

43,911
74,106

$

42,128
77,010

$

37,636
56,275

$

34,683
51,432

FIXED CHARGES:
Interest expensed and capitalized and
amortized premiums, discounts and
capitalized expenses related to
indebtedness
Appropriate portion (1/3) of rentals
representing interest
Fixed charges
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

1.16

5.42

3.97

5.08

6.89

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of
NBTY, Inc. (Delaware)
De Tuinen B.V. (Netherlands)
Holland & Barrett Retail Limited (United Kingdom)
Julian Graves Ltd.
NBTY Acquisition, LLC (Delaware) d/b/a
Leiner Health Products
NBTY Europe Limited (United Kingdom)
Puritan's Pride, Inc. (New York)
Rexall Sundown, Inc. (Florida)
Solgar, Inc. (Delaware) d/b/a Solgar Vitamin and Herb
Solgar UK Limited
United States Nutrition, Inc. (Delaware), d/b/a US Nutrition
Vita Health Products Inc.
Vitamin World, Inc. (Delaware)

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Jeffrey Nagel, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NBTY, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: November 23, 2011

Signature:
/s/ JEFFREY NAGEL

Jeffrey Nagel
Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Michael Collins, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NBTY, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: November 23, 2011

Signature:
/s/ MICHAEL COLLINS

Michael Collins
Principal Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NBTY, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended September 30, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Jeffrey Nagel, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ JEFFREY NAGEL
Jeffrey Nagel
Chief Executive Officer
November 23, 2011
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OF 2002
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NBTY, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended September 30, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael Collins, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ MICHAEL COLLINS
Michael Collins
Chief Financial Officer
November 23, 2011
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